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We, at Jordan Kuwait Bank, Management 
and Staff, are pleased to highlight the 
Bank's growth and expansion of the Branch 
network over the past four decades, the 
developments that the Bank has witnessed 
in the area of Information Technology and 
the Bank’s distinction in providing banking 
services through advanced means.

We take this opportunity to extend, within 
the report, our profound praise, appreciation 
and gratitude to a number of our loyal and 
longstanding customers who continue to 
deal with us to this day for their confidence 
in us and to a number of the Bank's 
employees whom have continued to serve 
at the Bank for more than 30 years for their 
ongoing loyalty and laudable efforts to 
realize the Bank’s goals and achievements.

In line with our institutional slogan "More than just a bank" 
and our keenness to issue the Bank’s Annual Report every 
year with a new theme to enrich its content, Jordan Kuwait 
Bank’s Management are pleased to have the Bank’s 40th 
Anniversary as the theme for the 2016 Annual report.
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Public Ltd. Company
Established 25/10/1976

Commercial Register Number 108
Paid-up Capital JD 100 million

(USD 141 million)

Member of "Kipco" Group - Kuwait

    Our Vision...

“ To be one of the pioneer Arab banks through offering 
distinguished comprehensive banking solutions, in line with 
the latest developments in banking industry and e-business 
in the world.”

    Our Mission...

“ We are a Jordanian banking institution which offers global 
services assured with high quality and professionalism by 
taking full advantage of  the Bank’s advanced technological 
capabilities  and its staff efficiency to render qualified services to 
customers. JKB seeks to diversify its customer base to include 
various Jordanian & Arab economic sectors, in order to achieve 
a rewarding yield to shareholders, in addition to enhance the 
national economy development, and society welfare.”
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Jordan Kuwait Bank was incorporated 
on 25/10/1976 and commenced its 
banking activities at its first Branch in 
Jabal Amman in August 1977, and 
during 1978 three additional branches 
were opened.  The efforts of the Bank's 
management continued to expand and 
spread its branch network; reaching 
fourteen branches by the end of its first 
decade in operation. 
The year 1995 witnessed the Bank's 
first expansion abroad with the 
inauguration of its Nablus Branch in 
Palestine, bringing the number of JKB 
branches during that year to twenty two.
In mid-1997 the Bank embarked on a 
new and significant era represented by 
the expansion of the Bank's customer 
base of high network individuals, large 
corporates and strategic institutions 
and for whom the Main Branch was 
opened to provide specialized and 
appropriate banking services.
As a result of the success realized by 
the Bank’s management in attracting 
more customers from various sectors 
and segments of the community, the 
Bank continued with the expansion 
plan of the branch network to reach fifty 
branches at the end of 2010 and 
included the Bank's first Branch in 
Cyprus, to provide services to the 
Bank's corporate and retail customers 
who have financial interests in Europe, 
and the Bank's second Branch in 
Palestine in the City of Ramallah. 
Noting that in 2003 the Bank opened its 
first Branch at "Mecca Mall" which 
represented a pioneering step for the 
Bank to provide services to customers 

and the general public during morning 
and evening working hours at 
commercial malls. This was followed by 
the opening of "City Mall" Branch, 
"Galleria Mall" Branch and "Taj Mall" 
Branch bringing the number of 
Branches at Malls by the end of 2013 to 
four.  In the Bank’s efforts to be close to 
its customers, 2014 witnessed the 
opening of three additional branches 
including "Samarah Mall" Branch in the 
Dead Sea area which is the only bank 
that exists in the area.
During 2016, the Bank opened five new 
branches, thus increasing the number 
of the branches to sixty one including 
the Mobile Branch “Jawal” which is 
considered a pioneer step towards 
providing comprehensive banking 
services throughout the Kingdom’s 
governorates materializing the concept 
of financial inclusion.  The Bank's flag 
ship Branch at "Abdali Mall", which was 
opened in May, was the culmination of 
the Bank's aspirations and pursuit of 
distinction, whereby it was equipped 
with state of the art technology in the 
banking industry and unprecedented 
electronic services in the Jordanian 
market and which are provided in a 
unique and modern atmosphere.
The interest of the Bank's Management 
is to strengthen the Bank's presence in 
all areas and to increase its market 
share through offering the best services 
to the Bank's customers and general 
public stemming from our belief that our 
customers are the reason for our 
existence and the most significant 
constituent for our success.
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To The Shareholders,
I am pleased to present to you, in my name and on behalf 
of my colleagues, members of the Board of Directors, the 
annual report on the the Bank’s results and achievements, 
and the consolidated financial statements for the year ending 
on 31/12/2016.
In 2016, the world economy was exposed to numerous 
changes and pressures, the most prominent of which was 
the fluctuation in oil prices until they settled around $55 
per barrel upon the agreement of exporting countries 
to reduce production; the US Elections results resonate 
inclinations towards economic protectionism with the fear 
of destabilizing the existing economic blocs that would 
undermine the globalization principles which is now facing 
increased opposition. Brexit heavily impacted the world 
economy; raising concerns on the future of the European 
Union and European Common Market. The increase of the 
USD interest rate during the last month of the year came in 
response to certain signs of economic recuperation and a 
step towards ceasing the “Quantitative Easing” (QE) policy 
which was pursued post the financial crisis for the purpose of 
invigorating the economy and motivating growth.
Almost a decade has passed since the global financial crisis, 
yet the global banking and financial system still suffers from 
the ramifications thereof. In many countries the faltering debts 
are quite huge; the value of assets is continuously declining 
and debts for the purposes of consumer spending are rising, 
thus putting their economies under pressure and hindering 
growth opportunities.
Overall, the global economy is still vague and subject 
to predictions awaiting clear direction of the new US 
Administration and its domestic and foreign policies and their 
influence over the economy, politics and international trade.

The National Economy in 2016
The year 2016 was tough by all economic measures, 
where the regional conditions surrounding Jordan have 
not improved, perhaps deteriorated further. The Syrian and 
Iraqi Borders remained closed for security reasons, which 
adversely affected exports and transit trade, while the Syrian 
refugees issue kept taxing the country’s limited resources as 
only a portion of the foreign assistance and grants committed 
by the London Donors Conference materialized.
Notwithstanding the aforementioned, the economic status 
remained generally tenacious and exhibited certain positive 
signs, perhaps the most significant of which include: a 
generally stable situation; realization of a positive economic 
growth albeit at a modest rate of 2%; steadiness of a number 
of strong fundamentals, such as the exchange rate of the 
Jordanian Dinar, adequacy of foreign currency reserves, 
narrowed deficit in the current account of the balance of 
payments, improvement of local revenues thus slightly 
reducing the budget deficit; stability of the total public debt 
as a ratio of the Gross Domestic Product (GDP) at current 
prices and last but not least, the existence of a robust and 
effective financial and banking system.
On the other hand, certain economic indicators recorded 
significant decline represented in the rising of general debt to 
around 95% of GDP, slowdown in economic growth, declining 

profits of the shareholding companies listed in Amman 
Stock Exchange, declining national exports, the decline in 
the foreign currency and gold reserves at the Central Bank, 
the rise in the unemployment rate, the continuous state of 
economic shrinkage (negative inflation) by the cost of living 
index, over and above, the decline in tourism revenues and 
expatriates’ remittances, with the share prices at Amman 
Stock Exchange remaining at a stand-still.
What was instrumental in confronting such strenuous 
circumstances were the continuous flow of foreign assistance 
and grants, the international oil prices remaining at a low 
level, and ultimately the implementation of the economic 
reform programme overseen by IMF and the Government’s 
commitment to the agreed upon measures with the Fund 
which satisfy the donors and creditors.

The Bank’s Performance in 2016
During 2016, the Bank achieved good results relative to 
the economic conditions prevailing locally and the security 
conditions in the region. During the year, our efforts were 
focused on improving the credit portfolio quality together with 
realizing an acceptable growth. In order to diversify lending, 
and reduce concentration in the corporate facilities and large 
projects, and distribute risk, the Bank continued targeting the 
retail and small-sized enterprises market where an increase 
of around 20% in this portfolio was realized compared with 
last year. We shall continue on such course; extensively 
monitoring the growth of lending for the local consumer 
spending, while the ratio of the debt burden remaining within 
the acceptable limits.
In 2016, the Bank showed notable activity in financing 
renewable energy projects through providing tailored credit 
offerings that suit the financing needs of these vital projects.
Regarding the financial results, the Bank’s Total Assets 
amounted to JD 2,740 million at the end of 2016 and the 
direct credit facilities (net) increased reaching JD 1,447 
million, thus realizing a growth of 5.4% over the end of 2015, 
while customers’ deposits amounted to JD 1,703 million at 
the end of the year.
As a result of the Bank’s main activities, total income for 2016 
reached JD 120.7 million and profits before tax amounted to  
JD 43.5 million, while the net profit after tax amounted to JD 
30 million. The total shareholders’ equity increased by 2.4% 
to reach JD 465.2 million.
Despite that the main source of income, being the net interest 
and commissions, remained at the same level of 2015, the 
decline in the profit for the year is due to obvious and specific 
reasons, namely the size of non-performing assets retained by 
the Bank against debts, which are as far as we are concerned, 
idle and non-productive assets and for which provisions 
are required. Profits for the year were also affected by the 
decrease in revenues from the investment portfolio, expenses 
associated with the increase in the number of branches, 
staff members and the enhancement of the regulatory 
departments’ staff, in addition to the depreciation of systems, 
software and hardware required for the management of 
information technology and to accommodate the rapid 
updates, specifically in regards to securing and safeguarding 
various electronic applications and online transactions.

Message from the ChairmanJordan Kuwait Bank was incorporated 
on 25/10/1976 and commenced its 
banking activities at its first Branch in 
Jabal Amman in August 1977, and 
during 1978 three additional branches 
were opened.  The efforts of the Bank's 
management continued to expand and 
spread its branch network; reaching 
fourteen branches by the end of its first 
decade in operation. 
The year 1995 witnessed the Bank's 
first expansion abroad with the 
inauguration of its Nablus Branch in 
Palestine, bringing the number of JKB 
branches during that year to twenty two.
In mid-1997 the Bank embarked on a 
new and significant era represented by 
the expansion of the Bank's customer 
base of high network individuals, large 
corporates and strategic institutions 
and for whom the Main Branch was 
opened to provide specialized and 
appropriate banking services.
As a result of the success realized by 
the Bank’s management in attracting 
more customers from various sectors 
and segments of the community, the 
Bank continued with the expansion 
plan of the branch network to reach fifty 
branches at the end of 2010 and 
included the Bank's first Branch in 
Cyprus, to provide services to the 
Bank's corporate and retail customers 
who have financial interests in Europe, 
and the Bank's second Branch in 
Palestine in the City of Ramallah. 
Noting that in 2003 the Bank opened its 
first Branch at "Mecca Mall" which 
represented a pioneering step for the 
Bank to provide services to customers 

and the general public during morning 
and evening working hours at 
commercial malls. This was followed by 
the opening of "City Mall" Branch, 
"Galleria Mall" Branch and "Taj Mall" 
Branch bringing the number of 
Branches at Malls by the end of 2013 to 
four.  In the Bank’s efforts to be close to 
its customers, 2014 witnessed the 
opening of three additional branches 
including "Samarah Mall" Branch in the 
Dead Sea area which is the only bank 
that exists in the area.
During 2016, the Bank opened five new 
branches, thus increasing the number 
of the branches to sixty one including 
the Mobile Branch “Jawal” which is 
considered a pioneer step towards 
providing comprehensive banking 
services throughout the Kingdom’s 
governorates materializing the concept 
of financial inclusion.  The Bank's flag 
ship Branch at "Abdali Mall", which was 
opened in May, was the culmination of 
the Bank's aspirations and pursuit of 
distinction, whereby it was equipped 
with state of the art technology in the 
banking industry and unprecedented 
electronic services in the Jordanian 
market and which are provided in a 
unique and modern atmosphere.
The interest of the Bank's Management 
is to strengthen the Bank's presence in 
all areas and to increase its market 
share through offering the best services 
to the Bank's customers and general 
public stemming from our belief that our 
customers are the reason for our 
existence and the most significant 
constituent for our success.
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 As for the non-performing assets portfolio, we affirm that the 
management has explored every avenue to deal with it and 
have achieved relatively acceptable results, but the obstacles 
associated with the local real estate market have limited the 
opportunities of realizing the aspired results. Concerning 
the non-performing loans that affected the Bank’s financial 
position, they require exceptional efforts, patience and 
flexibility. These non-performing loans are tied to accounts 
of complex conditions and large companies or projects that 
we were proud of their dealings with us and which were 
deemed feasible and solvent at the time the credit facilities 
were granted. We are confident that most of the provisions 
for such accounts shall be redeemed sooner or later. Good 
results were realized through our efforts in following-up and 
addressing a number of weak accounts. Our concern is to 
safeguard the Bank’s interests, and alongside, support the 
borrowers to continue with their business and meet their 
obligations whenever possible.
The Bank’s performance and results place it within the well 
capitalized banks with high financial soundness as per Basel 
III accords where the capital adequacy ratio reached 19% 
and the Leverage Ratio 16.98% compared with 14% and 6% 
respectively as per the instructions of the Central Bank of 
Jordan. This high level of the capital adequacy ratio assists 
in meeting Basel regulatory requirements such as the Internal 
Capital Adequacy Assessment Process (ICAAP), successfully 
passing stress testing and deeming the Bank within Domestic 
Systemically Important Banks (D-SIBs). It also assists in 
meeting the requirements of IFRS 9 which shall be put in 
force at the beginning of 2018, hence, sustaining the level of 
annual cash dividends and supporting the Bank’s business 
opportunities.
Based on the Bank’s financial results, the Board of Directors 
recommends to the General Assembly the distribution of JD 
20 million as cash dividends to the shareholders which is 
equivalent to 20% of the Bank’s capital.

2017 Prospects
The current regional situation is the worst that the region has 
witnessed by far, affecting strongly on the local conditions in 
general and the economy in particular. It is true that there is 
a precise diagnosis of the economic issues, but the solutions 
were insufficient to activate and gauge the growth drivers, 
namely: government expenditure, consumer spending and 
investment. The volume of government expenditure is quite 
limited and is financed by foreign assistance and loans, while 
consumer spending as a growth driver depends on the average 
income which, accompanied by an unprecedented high rate 
of un-employment, are insufficient to stimulate the economy. 
All of which, have created a state of uncertainty which 
discourages investments; the national and foreign investment 
is declining, industrial production due to unrestrained imports 
has decreased, and no public shareholding company has 
been incorporated since 2008.
The emergence  of extraordinary developments which would 
improve the general situation in 2017 is unforeseen, however, 
there are areas for improvement; most likely the average 
economic growth will slightly rise to about 2.5%; the deficit 
in the current account of the balance of payments will remain 
at less than 10% of GDP; the negative inflation by the cost 

of living index shall turn to a positive inflation of around 3%; 
as well as a growth in the national exports particularly in the 
mining industry. 
As we look forward to the year 2017, we are optimistic of 
the fiscal reform measures adopted by the Government to 
prevent the country from reaching a dead end and fall into an 
impasse that would be difficult to overcome without suffering 
damages and consequences that transcend the effect of the 
adopted measures. While we acknowledge the difficulty and 
weight of the measures on a wide portion of the citizens, we 
do not underestimate their contribution towards increasing 
local revenues, assisting in reducing the budget deficit, 
keeping the Jordanian Dinar rate of exchange at its present 
level, and maintaining the Central Bank’s reserves of foreign 
currencies.
Furthermore, we laud the Government’s commendable 
directives during 2016 and at the beginning of 2017 which are 
hoped to have a direct influence on revitalizing the national 
economy, where a number of initiatives were launched that 
aim at encouraging investment and reducing un-employment. 
These initiatives, and in cooperation with the Central Bank of 
Jordan, include the establishment of companies from banks 
to invest in medium-sized enterprises which would support 
and expand the business of such companies, as well as 
participate in the Saudi Jordanian Investment Fund Company 
which aims to invest in major vital projects in the Kingdom. 
Such initiatives, should they be governed in a manner that 
secures credibility and efficient management, should set 
a model to be emulated for other projects that contribute 
towards encouraging investment, support the economy 
and growth, and position the public and private sectors 
partnership on the right track.
As for us at Jordan Kuwait Bank, our concern and efforts, 
regardless of the conditions, shall focus on maintaining our 
position, progress and growth. We shall act, as our mandate 
has always been, to realize the best accomplishments that 
are commensurate with the name, reputation and history of 
the Bank.
We have always been successful as a country and as a Bank, 
yet the circumstances dictate, without compromising our 
known optimism, that we deal with current conditions and 
their ramifications, which we hope shall not last for long, 
wisely and cautiously.
In conclusion, and on the occasion of the end of the current 
membership term, I am pleased to extend my profound 
gratitude and praise to my colleagues, the members of the 
Board, and appreciate their dedication, cooperation and 
concern for the Bank’s interests. I extend my gratitude to our 
shareholders and customers for their ongoing confidence and 
loyalty. Special thanks are due to His Excellency the Governor 
of the Central Bank of Jordan, his deputies and all the bank’s 
departments for their role in enhancing the integrity and 
strength of the banking sector and supporting the national 
economy. I further extend my gratitude to His Excellency the 
Chairman and members of the Jordan Securities Commission 
for their efforts towards instilling the transparency principles 
and protecting investors’ interests. Moreover, I extend my 
utmost appreciation to all officials and employees at the Bank 
and its subsidiaries and value their efforts and dedication. 

Abdel Karim Kabariti
Chairman

https://www.google.jo/url?sa=t&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=web&cd=1&cad=rja&uact=8&sqi=2&ved=0ahUKEwjrsMnk1ezSAhWsCsAKHYF_AVIQFggYMAA&url=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.bis.org%2Fpubl%2Fbcbs224.pdf&usg=AFQjCNGpFMpkIiMjChKdtNg6mQOu9y1PyA&sig2=AXPxKfVUd04njgopipvrQA&bvm=bv.150475504,d.d24
https://www.google.jo/url?sa=t&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=web&cd=1&cad=rja&uact=8&sqi=2&ved=0ahUKEwjrsMnk1ezSAhWsCsAKHYF_AVIQFggYMAA&url=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.bis.org%2Fpubl%2Fbcbs224.pdf&usg=AFQjCNGpFMpkIiMjChKdtNg6mQOu9y1PyA&sig2=AXPxKfVUd04njgopipvrQA&bvm=bv.150475504,d.d24
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Throughout the past four decades, the Bank has worked to 
provide a range of banking products and services which 
would support and enhance its competitive position, 
banking leadership and provide the best services and 
financial solutions.  The Bank directs its resources and 
capabilities to ensure its continuous development and 
progress year after year.
In November 1985, Jordan Kuwait Bank was one of the first 
banks in Jordan to provide Automated Teller Machines 
(ATMs); naming it the "Auto Bank".  In 1991 all the Bank’s 
branches were connected to the central computer whereby 
all withdrawal and deposit transactions are done across a 
private network through the central computer.  In 2000, 
Jordan Kuwait Bank was the first Bank in Jordan to provide 
internet banking services (NetBanker) and in 2001 opened 
the first "Cyber Branch" in Sweifiyeh, and began providing 
banking services via electronic channels such as the 
"Phone Bank" and “SMS” banking all the while maintaining 
the confidentiality and security of the customers' data. 
Additionally, and as an initiative deemed to be the only one 
of its kind in the Jordanian Banking Sector, the Bank 
provided ATM's specifically for persons with visual 
impairments and disabilities using a technology that 
enables them to deal with their accounts freely without the 
assistance of others. 
Stemming from the Bank's endeavor to keep pace with the 
technological developments, the Bank has continued to 
develop and expand its IT infrastructure including the 

internal and external telecommunications networks and the 
business continuity plan requirements. 
2014 was a notable year, during which the Bank 
implemented a new banking system that covers the entire 
Bank's needs with its Core Banking System and many 
functions that enable the Bank to effectively serve 
customers together with being easily integrated with 
management and information systems.  The Bank also 
launched the Contact Center to meet the customers' 
banking needs around the clock.
Towards the end of 2015, the Bank launched the first 
Interactive Teller Machine (ITM) in Jordan at the Abdali 
Boulevard. The ITM uses an innovative video-based 
interactive technology managed by a remote teller who 
interacts with the customer by audio and video in real time 
to complete their various banking transactions and services.    
In keeping pace with the rapid information technology 
revolution and in line with the e-banking development, 
Jordan Kuwait Bank has benefited from the development in 
the electronic communications networks to provide banking 
services through smart phones and devices; allowing 
customers to manage their accounts and carry out their 
banking transactions at anytime and anywhere with the 
highest level of confidentiality and security. Over and above, 
the Bank provides the electronic bill payment service 
(e-FAWATEERcom) and money transfers via the national 
mobile payments switch “JoMoPay” using mobile devices.



14 ANNUAL REPORT JORDAN KUWAIT BANK - 2016

The Bank’s Management, and since the early 
years of the Bank's incorporation, has paid 
great attention to staff training and skills 
development. The building blocks for the 
Training Center were laid down in 1981, and 
ever since its establishment has been active in 
providing specialized banking courses that aim 
at developing employees' skills and keeping 
them abreast with the latest developments in 
the banking industry. The Bank's training 
activities evolved over the years to include a 
“simulation branch” where newly employed 
fresh graduates would receive their training in 
an interactive environment that resembles an 
actual branch so as to qualify and prepare them 
to carry out their functions, backed by the 
necessary knowledge and skills, to provide the 
highest level of services to the various 
customer segments.

Today, the Training Center offers a host of 
advanced specialized programs including 
training for branch employees and credit 
officers, Risk and Anti Money Laundering and 
other banking, administrative and behavioral 
skills programs for all functional areas and staff 
levels at the Bank. 

The number of those who benefited from the 
training programs provided by the Training 
Center grew from 70% of the employees back 
in the eighties to 300% in 2016; indicating the 
Bank's commitment in investing in training and 
human resources development. The greatest 
testimony of such fruitful investment is the 
Bank's achievements over the past years to be 
at the forefront of the progressing banks in 
Jordan.
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Corporate Governance Framework
Jordan Kuwait Bank believes that the existence of good 
corporate governance leads to good management of the 
Bank, and helps to achieve the Bank’s strategic objectives and 
safely manage its operations in a manner that safeguards the 
depositors’ interests, and ensures the responsibility towards 
shareholders and other stakeholders, while fully complying 
with the legislations and instructions of the regulatory 
authorities and the Bank’s internal policies. Accordingly, and 
based on the amended Corporate Governance instructions 
for banks No. 63/2016 issued by the Central Bank of Jordan 
(CBJ), the Corporate Governance Manual was amended, the 
arrangements and procedures needed to achieve compliance 
with these instructions were completed, Board of Directors’ 
Committees and their controls were formed, and was 
approved officially by the Board of Directors.
Jordan Kuwait Bank’s Board of Directors affirms its 
commitment and that of the Bank’s executive management 
and all the employees in implementing the governance 
instructions. The Bank’s adoption of this manual aims to 
realize the corporate governance principles of fair treatment 
for all stakeholders; transparency and disclosure of JKB’s 
actual financial and administrative standing; and the relational 
accountability between the Board of Directors and the 
executive management, between the Board and shareholders 
as well as between the Board and various stakeholders. To 
achieve greater level of disclosure and transparency, the 
Corporate Governance Manual is annexed to this report and 
is published on the Bank’s website www.jkb.com.
The Bank’s organization and administrative procedures are 
based on the following principles: 

• A board of directors is in place that is effective and 
responsible.

• A clear strategic direction for business development 
within clear framework for risk management. 

• Sound accounting and information disclosure principles. 
• Sound decision making mechanisms. 
• Performance evaluation linked to the strategy. 
• Human resources development.

Board of Directors and Board Committees

Board of Directors (BoD)
The formation of the Board of Directors is governed by the 
Jordanian Companies Law and the CBJ’s Banks Law and 
Corporate Governance instructions. The current Board of 
Directors was elected by the General Assembly on April 7, 
2013 for tenure of four years. The Board of Directors elected 
H.E. Mr. Abdel Karim Kabariti as Chairman and Mr. Faisal 
Hamad Al-Ayyar as Vice-chairman. 
The main role of the Board of Directors lies in its responsibility 
of ensuring the soundness of the Bank’s operations including 
its financial standing, and fulfilling its obligations towards 
all stakeholders. The Board sets the Bank’s strategic 
objectives that meet the interests of the Bank, shareholders, 

and customers, and has oversight responsibility over the 
executive management. It is also accountable for ensuring 
the effectiveness of internal monitoring and control systems 
and the extent to which the Bank is abiding by the strategic 
plans and that written policies covering all of the Bank’s 
activities are endorsed and in place. 
The Board of Directors is also responsible for the credibility 
and accuracy of the Bank’s financial reports and the 
information contained in the Annual Report and ensuring the 
application of appropriate risks policies as well as compliance 
with all laws in force. 

Board Committees
In the aim of organizing the Board of Directors’ work and 
to increase its efficiency and effectiveness, the Board of 
Directors forms different committees from its members that 
are delegated with authorities and responsibilities to be in 
line with the Bank’s strategies and goals. The committees’ 
compositions, duties and responsibilities have been detailed 
in the Corporate Governance Manual.

1. Board Corporate Governance Committee (BCGC)
The committee oversees the development of the Corporate 
Governance Manual, updating it, and monitors its 
implementation. It ensures that the Bank’s organizational 
structure meets the corporate governance requirements. It 
also adopts general policies, and raises them to the Board 
of Directors for approval and supervises their implementation 
and ensures commitment to the adopted JKB Code of Ethics 
at the level of BoD and all administrative levels in the Bank.

Board Corporate Governance Committee Members
Dr. Marwan J. Muasher, Committee Chair
Mr. Abdel Karim A. Kabariti
Mr. Hani K. Hunaidi
Dr. Safwan S. Toqan

2. Board Risk and Compliance Committee (BRCC)
The committee’s role is to review the Risk and Compliance 
Management’s framework and strategy; create suitable work 
environment that helps in identifying and managing risks with 
significant impact; and stay abreast with the developments 
that affect the Bank’s operations. The committee reviews 
reports submitted by the Risk Management and Compliance 
Departments and submits relevant recommendations to the 
Board of Directors, illustrating the Bank’s commitment to the 
acceptable risk appetite level and its compliance with the 
regulations and instructions issued by relevant regulators.

Board Risk and Compliance Committee Members
Mr. Tariq M. Abdul Salam, Committee Chair
Mr. Mansour A. Louzi 
Mr. Mohammad A. AlMadi
Dr. Safwan S. Toqan

The Board of Directors’ Statement on Corporate 
Governance, Risk Management and Compliance for 2016

The Bank’s Management, and since the early 
years of the Bank's incorporation, has paid 
great attention to staff training and skills 
development. The building blocks for the 
Training Center were laid down in 1981, and 
ever since its establishment has been active in 
providing specialized banking courses that aim 
at developing employees' skills and keeping 
them abreast with the latest developments in 
the banking industry. The Bank's training 
activities evolved over the years to include a 
“simulation branch” where newly employed 
fresh graduates would receive their training in 
an interactive environment that resembles an 
actual branch so as to qualify and prepare them 
to carry out their functions, backed by the 
necessary knowledge and skills, to provide the 
highest level of services to the various 
customer segments.

Today, the Training Center offers a host of 
advanced specialized programs including 
training for branch employees and credit 
officers, Risk and Anti Money Laundering and 
other banking, administrative and behavioral 
skills programs for all functional areas and staff 
levels at the Bank. 

The number of those who benefited from the 
training programs provided by the Training 
Center grew from 70% of the employees back 
in the eighties to 300% in 2016; indicating the 
Bank's commitment in investing in training and 
human resources development. The greatest 
testimony of such fruitful investment is the 
Bank's achievements over the past years to be 
at the forefront of the progressing banks in 
Jordan.

http://www.jkb.com
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3. Board Audit Committee (BAC)
The committee shall review and ratify the internal audit plan 
which includes audit scope and frequency. Review internal 
audit reports and the reports and observations of regulatory 
bodies and the external auditor and ensure that the executive 
management takes the corrective measures. The committee 
also reviews the Bank’s financial statements prior to 
submission to the Board of Directors and ensures that the 
Bank has properly observed and complied with international 
accounting and audit standards.

Board Audit Committee Members
Mr. Hani K. Hunaidi, Committee Chair
Mr. Mohammad A. AlMadi
Dr. Safwan S. Toqan

4. Board Nominations & Remuneration Committee (BNRC)
The Committee shall identify eligible persons for board 
membership and determine members’ “independency”, 
provide recommendations to the Board for the appointment 
of qualified executive management members, implement 
a formal performance assessment policy for the Board of 
Directors and executive management and ensure that the 
Bank has a remuneration policy in place.

Board Nominations & Remuneration Committee Members
Dr. Safwan S. Toqan, Committee Chair
Mr. Masaud M. Hayat
Dr. Marwan J. Muasher
Mr. Hani K. Hunaidi 
Mr. Majed F. Burjak

5. Board Credit Committee (BCC)

The Committee’s Role includes:
1. Grant, modify, renew and restructure of credit facilities 

that exceed the authorities of the Management Credit 
Committee, headed by the General Manager, within 
the limits set by the Board of Directors. The Board of 
Directors shall take the decisions in matters exceeding 
the Committee’s authorities.

2. The Committee’s authority is limited to taking the 
right decision regarding the facilities that have been 
recommended for approval by the Management Credit 
Committee.

The Board of Directors may delegate to the Management 
Credit Committee some or all of this Committee’s authorities; 
in respect of modifying the terms or restructuring of facilities.

Board Credit & Management Committee Members
Mr. Abdel Karim A. Kabariti, Committee Chair
Mr. Farouk A. Al-Aref
Dr. Yousef M. Goussous 
Mr. Mansour A. Louzi 
Mr. Majed F. Burjak

6. Board Management and Investment Committee (BMIC)
The Committee reviews and takes appropriate decisions on:
First: Management issues:
1- Administrative expenses, procurement contracts, bids, 

supplies, donations, and generally all commitments and 
contracts in excess of the powers entrusted to the senior 
executive management as identified within the Authority 
matrix and powers endorsed by the Board of Directors, 
and take the managerial and financial decisions in their 
regard.

2- Approve requests/offers for the sale of Bank owned 
properties beyond the limits entrusted to the Senior 
Executive Management as stipulated in the approved 
Authority matrix. 

3- Approve Bank owned real estates’ pricing annually or 
when required.

Second: Investment issues: 
Take decisions with regards to proposals and requests 
submitted by the Management Investment Committee on 
matters beyond its authority as stipulated in the approved 
authority matrix annexed to the approved investment policy. 
This includes the following: 

- Bank investments in Jordanian Dinar in money market and 
capital market instruments. 

- The Bank’s investments in foreign currencies in money 
market, capital market tools and currency exchange 
operations.

The Board of Directors shall decide on any of the items listed 
above if they exceed the authority of the Committee.
Board Management and Investment Committee Members
Mr. Abdel Karim A. Kabariti, Committee Chair
Mr. Farouk A. Al-Aref
Dr. Yousef M. Goussous 
Mr. Mansour A. Louzi 
Mr. Majed F. Burjak

7. Board Information Technology Governance Committee 
(BITGC)

The Committee is responsible for approving the Information 
Technology strategic objectives and appropriate 
organizational structures, including Steering Committees at 
Executive Management Level,  to ensure  the achievement of 
the Bank’s strategic objectives, and realizing the best value-
added of IT projects and investments resources while  utilizing 
the tools and standards to monitor and ascertain the extent of 
achievement. The Committee shall oversee and be apprised 
of the progress of IT operations, resources and projects to 
ensure its adequacy and its effective contribution in achieving 
the Bank’s business requirements. The Committee was 
formed on December 7, 2016.
Board Information Technology Governance Committee 
Members
Mr. Majed F. Burjak, Committee Chair
Mr. Mansour A. Louzi
Dr. Marwan J. Muasher
Mr. Hani K. Hunaidi
Mr. Mohammad A. AlMadi
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Board and Committee Meetings during 2016
The following table shows the number of Board meetings and 
Board committees’ meetings, and the number of meetings 

attended by each member during the year 2016, noting that 
Board of Director Members attended the General Assembly 
of Shareholders that was held on 25/4/2016.

Total number of meetings
held during the year 2016

BO
D

BC
G

C

BR
CC

BA
C

BN
RC

BC
C

BM
IC

Changes to the Board of Directors /
Committees’ membership during 20166 1 3 6 3 49 1

Board members Number of meetings attended 

H.E. Abdel Karim A. Kabariti / Chairman 6 1 49 1 Chairman of the Management & Investment Committee, member of 
Corporate Gov. Committee from 7/12/2016.

Mr. Faisal H. Al Ayyar / Vice Chairman 4

Social Security Corp. Rep.

Dr. Safwan S. Toqan 2 3
Member of the Board of Directors and member of the Audit 
Committee from 1/1/2016 until 4/9/2016, Member of the Corporate 
Gov. Committee until 25/4/2016.

Mr. Mohammad A. AlMadi 3 2
Member of the Board of Directors and member of the Audit 
Committee from 5/9/2016, member of the Risk and Compliance 
Committee from 7/12/2016. 

Mr. Masoud Jawhar Hayat. 2 2

Mr. Tariq M. Abdul Salam 4 2 2 2 Chairman of Audit Committee and member of the Nomination and 
Remunerations Committee until 25/4/2016.

Mr. Farouk A. Al-Aref 5 49 1 Member of the Management & Investment Committee from 
7/12/2016.

Dr. Yousef M. Goussous 6 49 1 Member of the Management & Investment Committee from 
7/12/2016.

Mr. Mansour A. Louzi 6 1 3 2 3 49 1
Member of the Audit Committee until 25/4/2016.  Member of the 
Nomination and Remunerations Committee until 7/12/2016. Member 
of the Management & Investment Committee from 7/12/2016.

Mr. Bijan Khosrowshahi 4 1 Member of the Risk and Compliance Committee until 25/4/2016.

Dr. Marwan J. Muasher 3
Member of the Board of Directors (independent), Member of the 
Corporate Gov. Committee from 25/4/2016 and its Chairman as 
of 7/12/2016. Member of the Nomination and Remunerations 
Committee from 7/12/2016.

Mr. Marwan M. Awad 1 Member of the Board of Directors (independent) from 25/4 until 
25/10/2016.

Mr. Hani K. Hunaidi 4 1 4 1
Member of the Board of Directors (independent), Chairman of the 
Audit Committee and Member of the Nomination and Remunerations 
Committee from 25/4/2016. Member of the Corporate Gov. 
Committee from 7/12/2016.

Mr. Majed F. Burjak 5 2 3 3 1

Member of the Board of Directors (independent), Member of the 
Risk and Compliance Committee from 25/4/2016. Member of the 
Audit Committee from 25/4 to 7/12/2016. Member of the Nomination 
and Remunerations Committee, Member of the Credit Committee, 
Member of the Management and Investment Committee from 
7/12/2016.

Dr. Safwan S. Toqan 2 1
Member of the Board of Directors (independent), Member of the 
Audit Committee,  Member of the Risk and Compliance Committee, 
Chairman of the  Nomination and Remunerations Committee  
Member of the Corporate Gov. Committee from  7/12/2016.
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Board Members’ Remuneration
Every Board member receives the sum of JD5,000 
(USD7,052) per year as Board membership allowance, in 
addition to allowances in lieu of travel, transportation and 
Board committees’ membership. 

Remuneration and Rewards Policy
JKB has a comprehensive remuneration and rewards policy 
that closely integrates with the approved performance 
evaluation policies. Staff annual raises and rewards are based 
on achievement which meets the Bank’s interests and its 
sustainable progress in all areas. The policy also assures the 
independence of control units in such a way that staff salaries 
and rewards are not determined by the Bank’s profit levels.
The remuneration and rewards policy sets the basis for 
annual salary raises, effect of promotion on salary, types and 
conditions of allowances paid to employees, and the structure 
of the salary scale and its review process, for the purposes of 
maintaining a competitive and fair work environment.
The salaries, transportation allowance and other expenses 
paid to the Bank’s executives during the year 2016 were 
declared in the disclosure statement as required by article (4) 
of the disclosure regulations issued by the Jordan Securities 
Commission, and in the notes to the consolidated financial 
statements included in this report. 

Control Environment 

Internal Controls 

JKB’s Board of Directors and executive management are 
responsible for developing and maintaining the existence of 
internal control systems and procedures that are capable of 
ensuring the achievement of the following:

• Accuracy and integrity of financial and operational 
statements issued by the Bank.

• Effectiveness and efficiency of the Bank’s operational 
activities. 

• Effectiveness of measures and procedures set to 
safeguard the Bank’s assets and properties. 

• Compatibility with policies pertinent to internal operational 
procedures as well as laws, legislations and regulations in 
force.

The Bank believes in the importance of an effective internal 
monitoring and control system given that it is one of the key 
elements of sound management and the basis for safeguarding 
the safety and quality of the Bank’s transactions. Hence 
the Bank has adopted a number of internal monitoring and 
control systems which their development, implementation, 
follow-up and update are the responsibility of the executive 
management. JKB’s management continuously monitors and 
assesses the efficiency and effectiveness of these systems 
and their ability to achieve desired objectives. It also oversees 
their continuous development and enhancement.
In this context, the Board of Directors adopted an internal 
monitoring and control policy that covered all aspects 
pertinent to internal control systems in terms of definition, 

components, implementation and the responsibility of the 
Board of Directors and the Executive Management towards 
them.

Internal Audit
The philosophy of Internal Audit (IA) was based on its 
task to provide independent and objective assurance and 
consulting services to the Bank. IA objectives were designed 
to add value and improve the Bank’s operations and help 
the management to accomplish its objectives by applying a 
systematic and disciplined approach to assess and improve 
the effectiveness of risk management, internal controls, and 
governance. 
The Internal Audit Department is administratively subordinated 
to the Board Audit Committee (BAC). It reports to the BAC on 
the results of audit engagements.
The Internal Audit Charter was established according to 
best international standards for the professional practice of 
internal auditing and it defined the following:

• IA activity is independent and has no executive tasks.
• IA activity has direct authorized / unrestricted access 

to the Bank’s and subsidiaries’ records, personnel 
and physical properties relevant to the performance of 
engagements assigned to it. 

• IA activity shall be provided with appropriate and 
sufficient number of competent resources (academically 
& professionally qualified staff) in addition to training 
courses both locally and abroad.

• IA activity provides reasonable assurance regarding the 
efficiency and effectiveness of the Bank’s Internal Control 
Systems (ICS) and its ability to achieve the following 
objectives:
-    Reliability and integrity of financial and operational 

information. 
- Efficiency of operations.
- Compliance with laws and regulations in force.
- Safeguarding of the Bank’s assets and properties.
- Business continuity under all circumstances.
-  Improve and develop ICS, risk management, and 

governance processes. 
- Improve and develop operations (processes) and 

products to achieve the Bank’s objectives.
A code of business conduct for Internal Audit staff members 
was prepared according to best international practice. The 
code emphasizes the principles of integrity, objectivity, 
confidentiality and efficiency that an auditor must have.
The scope of IA activity covers all the Bank’s auditable business 
centers, activities and operations, including branches abroad 
and subsidiaries, and any outsourced activities if necessary, in 
a way that enables the management to assess the adequacy 
and effectiveness of ICS, risk management and governance 
processes, and achieve all engagements and responsibilities 
assigned to it. The IA also performs many other tasks the 
most significant of which are: 

• Conduct accepted periodical engagements (assurance 
reviews) as per approved risk based audit plan prioritization 
on the approved internal audit strategic plan by BAC. 

http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Effectiveness
http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Enterprise_risk_management
http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Internal_control
http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Corporate_governance
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• Conduct any special review or consulting engagements 
based on the directives of the Chairman, BAC, the executive 
management or the monitoring bodies, according to best 
international standards for the professional practice of 
internal auditing.

The quality assurance concept was introduced to provide all 
stakeholders with reasonable assurance about audit function 
in term of conformance with the common international 
standards at both local and international levels.

Risk Management Function
Various risks to which the Bank is exposed are managed by 
an independent risk management department that reports 
directly to the Head of Risk Management and Compliance 
Group, and presents its periodic reports to the Board’s Risk 
and Compliance Committee.
The Risk Management Function at the Bank is based on three 
main pillars as follows:

• Full understanding and awareness by the Board of 
Directors, top executive management, and the Bank 
employees of the types of potential risks in the Bank’s 
operations.

• Availability of appropriate strategy, policies, and 
procedures to manage risk, which reveal the magnitude of 
risk that the Bank can address, in a manner that ensures 
financial strength.

• Availability of systems that help in managing various 
forms of risk that the Bank may face. 

The Risk Management Department’s objectives are as 
follows:

• Achieve financial strength, which reflects positively on the 
Bank’s credit rating.

• Transparently highlight risks and ensure their clarity and 
understanding.

• Set recommendations to identify the size and type of 
acceptable main risks by the Board of Directors, assuring 
that current risks are compatible with those that have 
been planned for.

• The Bank’s compatibility with the Basel accords and all 
legislations that govern and regulate risk management in 
banks. 

The process of identifying, evaluating, and managing risks 
is considered a joint responsibility, starting with each of the 
Bank’s units which are considered the first line of defense. 
The Risk Management Department evaluates and monitors 
risks and recommends ways of mitigating them, submitting 
the necessary reports to the Board Risk and Compliance 
Committee whereby it is considered the second line of 
defense, followed by the role of internal audit which is 
considered the third line of defense.
In turn, the Risk Management Department is responsible for 
its abovementioned role within a documented organizational 
structure approved by the Board Risk and Compliance 
Committee regarding credit, market, and operational risk, 

information security, business continuity, and liquidity 
(within the assets and liabilities framework) and conformity 
to the Basel accords. Furthermore, the Risk Management 
Department is represented in different committees that 
manage the Bank’s operations for issues related to the risk 
management. 
The functions of the Risk Management Department are 
summarized as follows: 

• Review the risk management framework at the Bank prior 
to Board approval.

• Implement the risk management strategy in addition to 
developing policies and procedures for managing all 
types of risk.

• Develop methodologies to identify, measure, and control 
all types of risks.

• Submit reports to the Board through the Risk Management 
and Compliance Committee, with a copy to the top 
management, including information about the actual 
risk profile for all the Bank’s activities, compared to the 
risk appetite document, and follow up on addressing 
deviations.

• Verify the integration of risk measurement mechanisms 
with management information systems in use.

• Study and analyze all types of risk faced by the Bank.
• Submit recommendations to the Board Risk Management 

and Compliance Committee about the Bank’s exposure 
to risk, recording exceptional cases against the risk 
management policy.

• Provide the necessary information regarding the Bank’s 
risks for disclosure purposes.

• The Risk Management Department conducts awareness 
programs to the Bank employees about risk management 
concept.

• Assess the Bank’s capital adequacy, along with the Bank’s 
risks and stress testing, as part of the internal capital 
adequacy assessment process, and submitting it to the 
Board Risk and Compliance Committee, to be approved 
by the Board of Directors.

Compliance Control Function 
The Bank may be subject to legal sanctions or material losses 
or reputational risk due to non-compliance with all applicable 
laws and regulations, instructions and code of conduct, 
standards and sound banking practices issued by local and 
international regulatory authorities. 
The Bank acknowledges the importance of compliance 
control, hence adopted the following: 

1. BoD approved compliance policy to monitor the Bank’s 
compliance with the laws, regulations, and instructions 
issued by the regulatory authorities, best practices and 
industry standards through programs and procedures 
based on the risk based approach principle.
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2. The Board of Directors takes the necessary measures to 
enhance the values of integrity and sound professional 
conduct within the Bank in a manner that complies with 
the applied laws, regulations, instructions and standards, 
and constitutes a primary goal to be achieved. 

3. Compliance function is managed through an independent 
department, which submits periodical reports to the 
Board Risk and Compliance Committee. The Compliance 
Department’s scope of work covers all of the Bank’s 
departments and branches in Jordan and abroad as well 
as its subsidiaries.

4. Monitoring non-compliance risks through a database 
containing all the laws and regulations issued by domestic 
and international regulatory authorities that is updated 
with the latest regulatory and legislative developments. 

With regards to combating money laundering operations and 
financing terrorism, the Bank follows approved policies and 
procedures that comply with the instructions issued by the 
regulatory authorities and the best international practices 
in this regard so as to reduce the risks of such operations 
through identifying procedures for dealing with financial 
operations, taking due diligence in knowing the customers, 
making sure of their personal identification, legal status and 
the beneficiary of such transactions through adopting the 
following principles:

• Update the Anti Money Laundering policy to keep up with 
the latest regulatory and legislative developments. 

• Adopt the risk based rating approach to classify the 
clients.

• Use an automated system to combat money laundering 
and financing terrorism. 

• Participate in providing adequate training for the Bank’s 
employees enabling them to deal with any suspicious 
transactions. 

Code of Conduct
The Bank adopted a code of conduct that was endorsed by 
the Board of Directors. JKB employees across the various 
administrative levels as well as the Board of Directors have 
pledged to commit to it.
The Code defined the ethics, values and principles of the 
Bank employees in four main areas which are: integrity, 
compliance with laws, transparency and loyalty to the Bank.

Whistle Blowing Policy 
JKB maintains a policy and procedures pertinent to whistle 
blowing. The policy aims to promote a culture of openness and 
to demonstrate the shared responsibility of preserving work 
ethics. Procedures that deal with this policy were distributed 
among all Bank employees to follow. The procedures clarify 
accountability lines for reporting issues related to unusual 
and/or suspected behavior that must be reported. Monitoring 
of Whistle Blowing Policy Implementation is carried out by 
the Board Risk and Compliance Committee. 

Customer Complaints Processing Unit
In compliance with the Central Bank of Jordan’s instructions 
to deal with customers fairly and transparently, the Customer 
Complaints Processing Unit within the Compliance 
Department receives and deals directly with customer 
complaints submitted through all available channels, including 
telephone calls, email messages, traditional mail, and 
complaints boxes at the branches. All complaints received 
are addressed and responded to in writing. Instructions 
are also sent to employees regarding these complaints, 
clarifying work procedures to some staff members wherever 
required. The Customer Complaints Processing Unit submits 
periodical reports to the Bank’s top management, including 
a description of complaints received and how they were 
handled and solved. The unit also submits periodical reports 
to CBJ. 

Relation with Shareholders
The Bank develops positive relations, based on transparency, 
with all its shareholders. In this regard, the Bank spares no 
effort to encourage all shareholders, particularly minority 
shareholders, to attend the General Assembly meetings and 
cast their votes. The Bank has a wide shareholder base of 
13,682 as of 31/12/2016. The main source of information 
for shareholders is the Annual Report which includes the 
Chairman’s report, the audited consolidated financial 
statements, the corporate governance manual, and Bank’s 
achievements for the previous year and the business plan 
for the following year. Additionally, the reviewed (un-audited) 
quarterly and semi-annual financial statements are disclosed. 
The complete financial statements and the Board of Directors’ 
report are filed at the Jordan Securities Commission (JSC) 
and the Amman Stock Exchange, with a copy submitted to 
the Companies Controller. These reports are published on 
JKB’s website (www.jkb.com) which also provides extensive 
information about JKB services, products, news and press 
releases. The Bank is committed to disclose any material 
information, should it occur, in accordance with the JSC 
instructions.

http://www.jkb.com
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Shares / Ownership Classification as of 31/12/2016

Number of Shares Held
Shareholders Shares

No. % No. %

Up to 500 10,513 76,84 2,026,022 2,026

501 – 1,000 1,672 12,22 1,182,366 1,182

1,001 – 5,000 1,108 8,10 2,264,247 2,264

5,001 – 10,000 169 1,24 1,244,287 1,244

10,001- 100,000 188 1,37 5,432,157 5,432

100,001 - 500,000 24 0,18 5,397,737 5,398

500,001and more 8 0,06 82,453,184 82,453

Total 13,682 100 100,000,000 100

Changes in JKB Share Price (JD) vs ASE Index During 2016Jordan Kuwait Bank
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fortunate students and organizing an 
annual internship program to train and 
qualify university students.  Furthermore, 
we support various sports activities for 
clubs, schools, universities and persons 
with disabilities.  We sponsor literary and 
works of art by supporting festivals, 
artistic, cultural and theatrical groups to 
encourage the local cultural and artistic 
scene.  Moreover, we support scientific 
research and other activities organized by 
NGOs and government institutions, such 
as economic forums and specialized 
seminars and exhibitions.

We, at Jordan Kuwait Bank, strive to 
provide continuous support to the various 
segments of the local community in key 
areas such as health, education, youth, 
sports and the environment over and 
above development projects and other 
matters of public concern.

We are committed to our institutional 
slogan " More than just a Bank " which 
represents reinforcing our social role in 
building and strengthening our relations 
with the local community and contributing 
towards realizing economic and social 
development as a partner with other 
national institutions and complementing 
the State's role in this regard.  As we 
celebrate the 40th anniversary since the 
Bank’s incorporation, we at Jordan Kuwait 
Bank have continued over the past four 
decades with our mission and role in 
serving the community through our 
on-going support to various charitable 
societies operating in poor and needy 
areas; supporting families and enabling 
women in rural areas throughout the 
Kingdom.  We spare no effort in 
supporting the education sector and 
rehabilitating the youth; covering the 
university tuition fees for a number of less 
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Following is a brief about the achievements of the Bank’s 
departments in 2016:

The Banking Group

Corporate Credit Facilities
During 2016, the Credit Facilities achieved good results, 
where the required growth was realized in the direct net credit 
facilities; rising by 5.4% to reach JD 1,447 million at the end 
of 2016 compared with JD 1,372 million in 2015. The Bank 
continued with supporting the growth of economic sectors 
and its corporate customers operating in the productive 
sectors despite the pressures of the surrounding regional 
conditions that the majority of activities are exposed to. 
The Credit Facilities took advantage of all opportunities and 
initiatives which would maintain the Bank’s market share 
within the acceptable risk level.
The Board of Directors and the Executive Management 
continuously review and update the strategic plan of the 
credit facilities to make it more flexible in order to be abreast 
of global developments and the conditions in the region that 
would assure improving the Bank’s competitive edge and 
be effectively involved in stimulating the national economy 
through focusing on the essential sectors and activities that 
support growth.  As one of the significant examples, the 
Bank participated in financing the renewable energy sector, 
making Jordan Kuwait Bank the leader in investment in this 
sector by modifying the credit conditions to suit the financing 
needs of such vital projects at par with development-focused 
international banks.
The medium-sized enterprises sector had a good portion 
of financing in 2016, where reasonable growth rates were 
realized along with the continuous development of the 
suitable marketing programs to attract new customers and 
raise the Bank’s share in this sector, particularly in light of 
signing cooperation agreements with international institutions 
to collateralize the risks associated with such loans in Jordan 
and Palestine.
In terms of indirect credit facilities, the Bank maintained 
good ratios of revenues therefrom; where the issuance and 
financing of letters of credit and bills for collection constituted 
a major part together with maintaining the Bank’s share in the 
banking guarantees activity.
During 2016, the Bank was able to maintain the stability of the 
income realized from interests and commissions and worked 
towards balancing the debit and credit interests in a manner 
that maintains the required operational income despite the 
fierce competition in the local market.  On the other hand, 
the Bank continued with allocating the required provisions to 
hedge against any circumstances that might face customers 
or any adverse indication that might be manifested in any 
accounts.  Such allocations are in favor of shareholders once 
the conditions improve and the activity increases in the global 
and local markets, the signs of which have recently appeared 
represented in changes in the global money markets and the 
markets operating in the region, the drop in oil prices and 
higher interest rates globally with forecasts for more hikes 
during 2017.

As for non-performing loans, the Bank’s Management works 
diligently to address such loans and enhance the collection 
process, whereby the ratio of non-performing loans shall 
remain within the internationally acceptable levels.
In light of the challenges prevailing in the region, the Bank 
strives to realize more growth in various activities, provide 
support to its customers and pay keen attention to their 
interest; which is the fundamental principle for the Bank’s 
success and distinction.

Retail and Consumer Products 
Retail and Consumer Products continued to record positive 
results where it realized a growth rate of 19% covering all 
products during 2016.  Despite such a growth, the rate of 
overdue payments and NPLs remained within the minimum 
levels.
The Management of the Retail and Consumer Products 
developed new products and financing solutions for small-
sized enterprises; increased the loans covered under the 
Jordan Loan Guarantee Corporation and the Overseas 
Private Investment Corporation (OPIC) and utilized the 
facilities and benefits provided by the Central Bank of Jordan 
for this segment.
During 2016, a product to finance the purchase of properties 
in Cyprus was launched. The product particularly targets high 
net worth customers and investors through the Bank’s Branch 
in Cyprus in coordination with the Private Banking Unit.
With regards to the Private Banking Unit, it realized its 
objectives within the strategic plan in place, represented in 
maintaining the growth rates in various sectors, where  all 
types of the investment portfolios grew by 15% and the 
portfolios’ management income grew by 12%, in addition to 
expanding the Unit’s customer base.  The Unit continued with 
its ongoing work and coordination with a number of global 
financial institutions to provide comprehensive economic 
studies and analyses that assist in setting-up various 
investment solutions with good returns and acceptable risks.
In order to expand the Bank’s business in the field of cards 
and payment services, the Bank continued during 2016 
with implementing its strategy of developing and improving 
the cards products. The credit and debit cards were 
restructured and new products were launched including the 
World MasterCard Credit Card and the Titanium MasterCard 
Credit and Debit Cards and enhancing each category with 
commensurate benefits and features. Consequently, the 
Bank’s cards portfolio recorded a growth exceeding 50%.
In the area of improving the customer’s experience and 
e-services offered, 11 new ATMs were installed during the 
year and the smart cash deposit service was activated on 
all the operating ATMs, together with operating the Digital 
Signage System at a number of Branches.  Furthermore, 
the business and services of the Contact Center have been 
expanded.
At the level of the Branches administration, during 2016 the 
Department increased the branches’ geographical distribution 
in realization of the Bank’s strategy that aims at providing 
banking services to the majority of the community’s segments.  

 JKB Activities and Achievements in 2016
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Seven new branches were opened in 2016 namely: Abdali 
Mall Branch, Tabarbour Branch, Northern Hashimi Branch, 
Zahran Branch and the Mobile Branch “Jawal”, which came 
as a quantum leap in providing all banking services to the 
public wherever they are located,  with focus on areas where 
the Bank has no bricks and mortar branches. The Bank also 
opened its Bethlehem Branch and Jenin Branch in Palestine; 
with that the number of the Bank’s operating branches in 
Palestine reached 4 branches.  Moreover, 2016 witnessed 
relocating several branches to better locations namely, 
Petra University Branch, Al-Mougablain Branch, Yarmouk 
University Branch, Irbid Branch and Wadi Saqra Branch.
Furthermore, the Bancassurance Unit at the Bank increased 
the number of licensed staff members to undertake general 
insurance and life insurance activities and provide the 
best quality and efficient services to existing and potential 
customers. Currently, there are 172 licensed employees at 
both the Head Office and Branches and all bancassurance 
activities recorded a growth of 176% over 2015.
In the area of “Western Union” Transfers, the Unit achieved a 
growth rate of 20% in the number of transfers performed and 
commissions earned therefrom during the past year, despite 
the decline of Western Union transfers witnessed in the 
MENA Region.  Additionally, improvements were introduced 
to the system to provide better service and higher efficiency 
to increase protection and eliminate withholding of transfers, 
as well as introducing new services such as D2B, a service 
for crediting outbound transfers directly to the customers’ 
accounts abroad in certain countries.

Treasury, Investment and International Relations
During 2016, the Treasury, Investment and International 
Relations Department continued to maintain and attain 
outstanding achievements thanks to the guidance of 
specialized administrative committees and its well 
knowledgeable and experienced staff members. The 
department was able to record high growth rates in all areas 
despite the weakness of the general economic activity, the 
high risk level associated with the local and foreign investment 
activities, as well as the fierce competition amongst local 
banks.
During 2016, the Department was able to achieve good results 
in managing assets and liabilities, whereby it pursued various 
and balanced investment policies that greatly contributed in 
the gained profits through enhancing the type and quality of 
the assets and the returns associated therewith. Furthermore, 
such policies which are consistent with the directives of the 
Assets and Liabilities Committee (ALCO) in addition to the 
Bank’s strategy, contributed towards diversifying the sources 
of funds in local and foreign currencies to be consistent with 
the assets’ type, in addition to reducing the associated risk, 
such as market risks, credit risks, and operational risks and 
maintaining adequate liquidity ratio to protect, safeguard, 
and face any circumstances or future developments.
2016 witnessed a variation in interest rates on major foreign 
currencies; the US Dollar interest rate remained at its lowest 

levels and started to rise during the 4th Quarter of the Year. 
While other foreign currencies, such as the Euro, Swiss 
Franc, and Japanese Yen maintained their negative interest 
rates. As for the Jordanian Dinar, the interest rate remained 
stable at its lowest levels until the Central Bank of Jordan 
followed in the path of the US Federal Reserve by raising it 
by 25bps in the 4th quarter of the year. Despite the instability 
of interest rates locally and globally, the Treasury, Investment 
and International Relations Department managed its money 
market portfolio with distinction through diversifying the 
sources of fund both locally and internationally. 
The Department also managed the Bank’s local and foreign 
bonds portfolio efficiently; achieving high growth ratios and 
significant revenues notwithstanding the declining interest 
rates locally and internationally and the lower credit ratings of 
many countries and financial institutions. The Bank’s portfolio 
quality was the primary focus, whereby selecting bonds with 
good returns, acceptable risks, and high liquidity. Moreover, 
the Bank had a significant role in supporting and developing 
the local capital market instruments during 2016 through 
active participation in the government’s and local companies’ 
bond issuance.
In 2016, the Department recorded growth in commissions 
from the FX differences, despite currencies fluctuations and 
the market competition in that regard. The Department took 
advantage of its relationship with correspondent banks in 
addition to the use of techniques to close FX positions at 
competitive rates for customers.
The Department also continued during the year in managing 
the local and foreign securities portfolio successfully; realizing 
considerable revenues whether through dividends or share 
prices revaluations. The Department further continued with 
providing various investment and advisory services to its 
customers of public and private shareholding companies, 
such as investment trustee services for joint local investment 
funds, payment and registration agency service, trustee 
and financial advisory services which contributed towards 
maximizing the Department’s revenue from commissions and 
fees related to such services.
Furthermore, the Department continued with consolidating 
and sustaining business relations with the correspondent 
banks network through visits and meetings with their officials 
and that aimed to explore mutual cooperation and attract their 
business activities directed to Jordan. The Department kept 
on providing its support services to the Bank’s departments 
and branches to ensure smooth processing of letter of 
credit, guarantees, out-going and in-coming collection 
bills, in addition to maximizing the profit sharing with the 
correspondent banks by appropriately directing banking 
transfers. Such efforts contributed towards enhancing the 
Bank’s revenues and improving the quality of the service 
provided to customers. The Department participated in 
specialized international conferences attended by many 
foreign and Arab banks, thus enhancing the cooperation 
among them.
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Risk Management and Compliance Group
The Risk Management and Compliance Group’s Departments 
perform the duties assigned to them within the assigned work 
plans and procedures as follows:

Risk Management Department
The Risk Management Department carries out its functions 
within the framework of the Risk Management Strategy 
emanating from the Bank’s general strategy which is 
approved by the Board of Directors and the work plans in 
place in a manner that is compatible with the instructions 
issued by the local regulatory authorities and the authorities 
governing the Bank’s branches abroad, the Basel accords, 
and the best international practices in risk management. The 
Department’s most significant accomplishments include:

Information Security and Business Continuity 
The Bank concluded the implementation of the requirements 
of the PCI DSS version 3 and thereof obtained the compliance 
certification.  This came as a result of the extensive efforts 
of the Risk Management, Information Technology and Cards 
Operations Departments, where the Risk Management 
Department managed and monitored the implementation of 
the project to comply with security standards for safeguarding 
the Bank’s Cardholders’ Data in line with the Central Bank of 
Jordan’s instructions pertaining to fairness and transparency.  
The Department also completed the requirements to be in 
compliance with the new version of the standard in the year 
2017.
In line with the on-going developments in the Bank’s business 
and the new products and systems associated therewith, 
the Department carried out a number of risk assessment 
operations for the new and old products and systems and 
followed-up on the implementation of its recommendations in 
this regard.  The Department also examined the vulnerabilities 
and carried out internal and external penetration tests and 
followed-up on the rectification of gaps that appeared during 
which.  The Department also re-assessed the needs of all 
departments to use the information systems resources and 
set-up clear procedures for their use at the Bank.
Within managing business continuity, the Department 
assessed the Bank’s risks and reviewed the Business Impact 
Analysis and accordingly modified the Bank’s Business 
Continuity Plan and sub-plans for the departments.  Moreover, 
an evacuation drill of the Bank’s Head Quarters was carried 
out as well as a number of tests for business continuity at the 
Bank to ascertain their effectiveness.
The Department monitors instructions issued by the Central 
Bank of Jordan as well as the international institutions that 
relate to information security, and participates in various 
committees at the level of the Association of Banks in Jordan.

Operational Risk 
Within the framework of managing the Bank’s operational 
risks, through identification, assessment, control and any 
attempt to mitigate such risks using the Care Web System, 

the Department continued to hold new workshops with 
the organizational centers in the Bank in order to carry out 
control and risk self-assessment of the potential risks in 
their operations and the measures required to control them.  
During the workshops the Key Risk Indicators are improved 
and monitored.  It further reinforces the historical database 
of losses and submits recommendations required to avoid 
recurrence of such incidents.
Within the duties required from the Bank’s Authorities Review 
Committee, the Department participated in developing 
and reviewing the Authorities Manual at the level of all 
organizational centers on the new banking system and other 
systems in order to ascertain that it has a clear segregation 
of functions, responsibilities and authorities.  The Department 
participates in many committees which are concerned with 
improving the control environment at the Bank and gives its 
opinion with regards to the policies, procedures, forms and 
new products presented to it and clarifies any potential risks 
therein and the adequacy of the controls in their regard.

Market Risks
Within the framework of identifying, measuring and controlling 
market risks at the Bank, the Department’s periodic control 
and analysis reports are prepared daily, monthly and 
quarterly, including various required disclosures together 
with improvements thereon, and adding new control reports 
through which the limits contained within various policies are 
controlled and which are reviewed and modified every year 
to be consistent with the developments in the global and 
regional financial markets as well as the surrounding political 
and economic conditions. These policies are: Investment 
Policy, Assets and Liabilities Management Policy, Liquidity 
Risk Management, Liquidity Contingency Plan, Interest Rates 
Risk Management Policy and Market Risks Policy, in addition 
to preparing routine reports required by the Bank’s parent 
company, KIPCO.
The Department considered the requests and investment 
opportunities in which the Bank intends to employ its funds 
before making the decision.  Furthermore, it carried out a 
number of other studies whether concerning new Basel 
accords on market risks or any other control instructions.

Basel
The Department complied with the instructions of the Central 
Bank of Jordan in respect of Basel III accords in terms of 
calculating the capital adequacy ratio and supervised the 
compliance with Basel II accords for the Bank’s branches 
operating in Palestine.  It also continued calculating the 
liquidity coverage ratio, and hence being ready for any 
instructions that might be issued by the Central Bank of 
Jordan in that regard.  It has prepared various studies such 
as, the new instructions of the Central Bank of Jordan on 
stress tests, Basel III Instructions and continued preparing 
many financial analyses including comparative studies for the 
banking sector.
The Department reviewed the policies in place and made 
continuous improvements on the Department’s operations 
including: risk appetite policy, stress tests policy and the 



27 2016 - ANNUAL REPORT JORDAN KUWAIT BANK

Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Policy (ICAAP) 
and introduced the necessary amendments.  As part of 
satisfying the requirements of the second pillar of Basel 
II accords, the Department performed the internal capital 
adequacy assessment as well as the stress tests according 
to the instructions of the regulatory authorities in Jordan 
and Palestine and prepared the Recovery Plan as per the 
instructions of the Central Bank of Cyprus.  The Department 
calculates the capital adequacy ratios as per the requirements 
of the Central Bank of Jordan and makes the necessary 
analyses and estimates in their regard.

Credit Risks
In accordance with the Bank’s credit policy and in compliance 
with various Basel accords, and specifically in the granting 
credit process, the Department acts as an independent entity 
that studies and reviews the credit applications.  The Bank 
continued, and with the cooperation of the Risk Management 
Department and the Credit Facilities Departments, to 
implement the internal credit rating system (Moody’s) to 
cover a significant portion of the Bank’s credit portfolio.  
Furthermore, the Department and in coordination with the 
Retail Credit Department, developed and completed the Retail 
Score Cards system in line with the Bank’s strategy to expand 
in the retail sector and strengthen the Risk Management in it.
The Department supervised the Bank’s compliance with the 
necessary technical and information requirements to launch 
the Credit Bureau through CRIF Jordan; provide them with 
the required data on the Bank’s customers on a monthly 
basis and facilitate the inquiries from the Bank’s various 
departments on credit applicants.
The Department, alongside a specialized task force from 
different departments at the Bank, set up a plan to comply 
with the International Financial Reporting Standard (IFRS 
9) requirements and to study the quantitative impact of 
implementing such Standard in cooperation with an expert 
house, Moody’s.  The Department also worked with a 
specialized task force in implementing the Profitability and 
Cost Accounting System.
Furthermore, the Department continued with preparing the 
control and analytical reports on the Bank’s credit portfolio 
and improving on them, whether for the purpose of using it 
within the Bank or to be sent to the parent company, KIPCO.

Credit Administration and Control 
In compliance with Basel Committee’s accords, which assert 
the need to segregate the process of credit control and its 
execution from selling and marketing credit, the Department 
calculates provisions for facilities to confront any decrease 
in their value together with preparing reports on the credit 
concentrations and their control. The Department also 
performs credit management and documentation duties.  
In addition to that, work was undertaken during the year 
on a number of projects that aim at improving the services 
provided and support the control environment through 

issuing a number of necessary control reports.
The Department concluded reviewing and auditing the 
customers’ collateral on the system; reviewing and adjusting 
the banking risks data related to the Bank’s customers and 
the implementation of new forms.

Credit Follow-up and Adjustment Department
Since the beginning of 2016, the Department’s functions and 
duties were modified to be consistent with the instructions 
of the Central Bank of Jordan.  It undertook the functions 
of following up on and adjusting non-performing loans in 
excess of 89 days instead of 45 days.  As a result of extensive 
follow-up and negotiations with debtors and guarantors, the 
Department succeeded in re-scheduling non-performing 
loans outside of the court whereby high recovery ratios were 
realized in cash collections amounting to JD 6.8 million.  It also 
removed non-performing loans or those that have been fully 
settled from the accounts which fall within the Department’s 
duties and which amounted to approximately JD 5.8 million.

Compliance Control Department
The Compliance Control Department’s role is the provision of 
support and advice to the Branches pertaining to customers’ 
due diligence through providing its opinion on the extent 
of adequacy of the supporting documents and conducting 
the necessary inquiries about customers through the 
international lists to ensure non-dealing with customers who 
are on the prohibition lists.  The Department applies the due 
diligence procedures through monitoring high risk accounts 
and irregular operations by conducting studies on the status 
of such accounts and documenting the transactions thereof 
in full coordination with the concerned Branches.
In order to enhance the Department’s capabilities and enable 
it to perform its functions properly, a new system, SIRON 
AML, for monitoring money laundering operations was 
purchased. SIRON AML is one of the best systems available 
for such purpose due to its capabilities; being easily operated 
in addition to the comprehensiveness of the information 
resources that it deals with in terms of analyzing the 
customers’ status; their financial transactions; online interface 
with other systems; reliance on a decentralized approach in 
controlling banking operations; and joint follow-up between 
the Compliance Control Department and business centers.
The Compliance Control Department has a fundamental role 
in spreading awareness within the Bank’s Departments and 
its Subsidiaries in respect to the importance of compliance 
with the regulations; combating money laundering operations 
and enhancing cooperation with such centers to ensure 
collaboration while performing the relevant operations.  
The Department held training courses and seminars for the 
managers and employees of all centers of the Bank to re-
affirm the importance of such matters.
During the year, the Customer Complaints Processing Unit 
received 75 complaints related to various issues: (4 on 
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e-services, 4 on interest rates, commissions and fees, 33 on 
professional conduct, 3 on credit cards and transfers and 31 
on contracts terms and conditions).  All lodged complaints 
were dealt with and responded to within the determined 
period, noting that 51 of the complaints received were found 
non-legitimate and resulting from the customers’ lack of 
knowledge on the procedures and instructions related to 
the subject of the complaint or due to the absence of actual 
violations by the Bank.  Certain business procedures were 
explained and clarified to the employees and were instructed 
to abide by the approved business code of conduct.

Internal Audit
The Internal Audit Department performed the annual audit 
plan that was approved and adopted by the Board of 
Directors’ Audit Committee (BAC).
The Department seeks to perform the duties assigned to it 
through its risk-based audit plan to achieve its objectives 
represented in ensuring the efficiency and effectiveness of 
risk management; the internal control system and corporate 
governance and to provide reasonable assurance on 
achieving the Bank’s objectives stated within the approved 
strategy.
Moreover, the Department seeks to provide various 
advisory services to the different business centers without 
compromising the Department’s business independence.  
Within this framework, the Department visited most of the 
Bank’s business centers (departments, branches in Jordan 
and abroad, subsidiaries in addition to certain activities 
that were audited for the first time); and provided the Board 
Audit Committee with the results of such visits, in addition 
to following-up on the issues raised within the regulatory 
authorities and external and internal audit reports, as well as 
conducting several ad hoc tasks.
Over and above the routine visits to Branches, surprise 
visits to all the Branches were carried out during this year.  
Moreover, the Department continued with reviewing many 
aspects of the Bank’s business, regularly providing the 
Management with reports related to the most significant 
activities and subjecting them to review and audit.
The Department continuously provides the necessary 
advisory services to the business centers, particularly relating 
to policies and operating procedures related to the internal 
control systems and governance, as well as workshops and 
committees.
In 2016, the Department continued coordination with 
KIPCO Group through participating in the routine meetings 
of the Internal Audit Officers of the Group to ensure the 
continuity of coordination and cooperation and review the 
latest developments related to the audit methodologies and 
procedures. 
Audit work programs and the Branches’ working papers 
were updated.  Work papers were also prepared for various 
departments and activities in line with international standards, 
best practices and work ethics, whereby the Department 
updated and developed the Internal Audit Charter and BAC 
Charter.

An Internal Audit Methodology was developed covering the 
Department’s operations in conformity with the International 
Standards on Auditing and best practices in line with the 
control environment at the Bank.
In line with the internal audit standards related to quality 
assurance, external quality assurance review was carried out 
over the internal audit operations through an external auditing 
firm, whereby Jordan Kuwait Bank is one of the first banks to 
do so, where in addition to this, the Internal Audit Department 
performs internal assessment of quality assurance on the 
internal audit operations by reviewing the work papers of 
every task by the audit managers, as well as the feedback from 
the employees of the Internal Audit Department and various 
business centers, together with the routine reports sent to 
the Internal Audit Committee. As for coordination with KIPCO 
Group, it is worth mentioning that group training of auditors 
from all the Group’s banks and companies are conducted to 
review operations and quality assurance assessment, after 
which the audit departments within the Group would carry 
out cross checking activities.
In respect to human resources, the Audit Department 
enhanced its staff members; whereby appointing four new 
auditors during 2016. Many employees underwent several 
internal and local training courses some of which related to 
professional certification.

Information Technology
In keeping pace with information technology during the 
last decade, and in line with the development of e-banking, 
Jordan Kuwait Bank provided state of the art e-banking 
services channels, taking advantage of the development in 
the electronic communication networks including the JKB 
Mobile application, which provides the Bank’s customers 
with round the clock banking services at any time and place 
using smart phones and devices operating on Android and 
iOS systems.  The Bank also made sure that its e-banking 
services (online banking and smart phone applications) are 
provided through Omni Channels; which are characterized 
by using the same user name and password to access both 
systems as well as granting the customer the same authorities 
and financial limits for transactions performed through either 
system, thus providing convenient and easy to use systems 
with the highest levels of protection and security.
The new e-services which were activated during 2016 
include the presentation and collection of bills electronically 
“eFAWATEERcom”; integrating with the national mobile 
payment gateway “JoMoPay”, the  ACH system provided 
through the Central Bank of Jordan, in addition to an array of 
banking services through the Self-service Banking Platform.  
Moreover, infra-structure services for FinTech companies 
were provided, including settlement services for companies 
operating in this area such as Aya, Dinarak and Zain.
During 2016, the Information Technology Department 
participated in the implementation of the Bank’s business 
development projects; providing the necessary technical and 
operational support required.  Some of the most important 
projects which the Department contributed towards their 
implementation were: the Profitability and Cost Accounting 
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System, the new Anti-Money Laundering System (SIRON 
AML); FATCA Project; CRIF Credit Inquiry System and 
integrating it with Know Your Customer System (KYC); Cards 
Fraud Management System, the new Debit and Credit Cards 
Products in its various categories and features such as 
PayPass; and the e-Statements System whereby taking into 
account the security factors and banking confidentiality.
To keep pace with the technological advancements, many 
infra-structure enhancement projects were developed and 
implemented. The infra-structure of the Bank’s internal and 
external network was upgraded, together with completing 
all the aspects of the business continuity plan and storage 
environment for the main and alternative data center sites for 
Jordan and Palestine.

Financial Department
The Financial Department continued expanding the control 
over the Bank’s operations according to the best practices in 
this field. The department provides various reports to support 
management in decision making process and monitoring 
the Bank’s performance. In addition, all reports are prepared 
and issued to other related parties and regulatory bodies on 
timely basis.
The financial department contributed in the improvement 
process of all operations in the bank, this included the 
development of new banking services, expansion of 
branches and other committees concerning the contracting 
and procurement activities.
During the 4th quarter of 2016, the financial department 
launched the Costing and Profitability System which enriched 
the information available on customer, product, sector and 
departmental level. This tool will enhance the effectiveness 
and efficiency of decision-making process.
On the other hand, 2017 Budget was finalized with the 
participation of the Bank’s various departments. It came 
as a translation of the Executive Management’s vision for 
the coming year taking into consideration all surrounding 
conditions resulted from the current political and economic 
situations. The Long Range Plan for the years 2017 – 2021 
was updated as per the Kuwait Projects Company Holding 
(KIPCO) requirements as to be incorporated in the Group Plan.

Legal Department
During 2016, the Legal Department collected about JD 1.09 
million of the written-off debts and other debts outside the 
financial position and has also collected around JD 1.8 
million of the existing debts through legal actions.  The 
Legal Department provided over 5,400 consultations to the 
Bank’s departments and branches during 2016.  Moreover, 
the Legal Department actively participated in banking-related 
legal courses at the Judicial Institute of Jordan, Association 
of Banks in Jordan and within the Bank.  The Department 
continued to perform its role in mitigating legal risks and 
increasing legal awareness among staff members through 
studies, reports and circulars.

Human Resources Department
During 2016, the Human Resources Department continued 
with building on what was achieved during previous years in 
terms of developing its business and the relevant systems and 
policies in accordance with the best international practices, 
in realization of the Bank’s strategic directions for business 
development and enhancement of the support structure to 
meet its future aspirations and to maintain distinction and 
sustained growth through effective management of the 
human resources systems and policies.

The extensive efforts to develop the employees’ technical, 
specialized and behavioral skills resulted in the growth of 
the number of those benefiting from training courses by 
52% accompanied by just a 15% growth in the number of 
courses, which indicates the effectiveness of the programs 
held.  For the purpose of developing selling skills, customer 
service and leadership skills for the Branches’ Officials, a 
specialized program was held in which 106 employees of 
Branch Managers and their assistants benefited therefrom. 
The Human Resources Department continued with the job 
development programs for new employees which would 
increase their efficiency and qualify them for banking jobs, 
where 181 employees benefited from such program during 
the year; and of whom 82 successfully completed the 
program.  32 employees benefited from the comprehensive 
banking credit program upon completion of which, some 
were transferred to occupy banking jobs at the Bank’s Head 
Office.  Moreover, 97 employees successfully completed 
courses for improving proficiency in the English Language.

In response to the Bank’s direction to develop the skills of the 
Control Departments’ employees, 162 employees from the 
Risk Management, Compliance Department and the Internal 
Audit Department attended 63 specialized training courses 
throughout the year. Focus was particularly put on the anti-
money laundering programs; where a comprehensive training 
program was held in cooperation with the international 
ACAMS Institution, with the participation of 176 employees  
in 3 high level program categories, one of which for senior 
executives, another for employees of the Risk Management 
and Compliance Control Department and the Internal Audit  
Department and the third for the employees of Corporate 
Credit Facilities, Treasury and Investment, SME’s Retail 
Facilities, Credit Administration and Control, Private Banking, 
Cards Operations and Commercial Services Departments.

The Human Resources Department has been keen on 
adopting the Effective Manpower Control practice to cover 
the needs emerging from developments in banking services 
and to enhance the control functions where internal transfers 
of employees increased by 28% accompanied with new 
appointments less 20% than 2015.  Consequently, the 
number of the Bank’s employees increased by 7%.

The fair wages management resulted in a reduction in 
job turnover by 20% to reach 9% only at the end of 2016 
compared with 11% during the previous year.
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Marketing and Public Relations Department
During the year, the Department continued to implement its work 
plan represented in enhancing the Bank’s image; strengthen 
the effective communication channels with the customers 
and general public; convey a positive image surrounding 
the Bank’s activities, services and accomplishments through 
various media and communications means and promote the 
Bank’s role in enabling the local community in implementation 
of its social responsibility policy.
The major achievements of the Marketing and Public 
Relations Department during 2016 included the launch of 
marketing campaigns promoting its MasterCard products and 
which resulted in usage growth by 50% compared with 2015 
in addition to launching two campaigns promoting “Western 
Union” Services; during which the number of outbound and 
inbound transfers grew by 26.8% during the 1st campaign 
and 30.8% during the 2nd campaign compared with the 
same period of last year. 
The Department oversaw the launch of the Bank’s website 
for Palestine’s Branches in accordance with the Palestinian 
Monetary Authority’s requirements.  It has also supervised the 
production of the Bank’s publications and pamphlets, press 
releases and managed the Bank’s website.  On the level of 
enhancing communications with its customers, the Bank’s 
presence on the social media platforms were activated, 
witnessing a growth in the number of followers on the Bank’s 
pages on Facebook; Twitter, Instagram and LinkedIn by 
128%, 136%, 219% and 41% respectively compared with 
2015.
The Quality Management Unit and  through its routine visits 
to the Branches, focused on assessing and ascertaining their 
compliance with the standards of service quality provided to 
customers as well as submitting the  relevant monthly reports. 

Social Responsibility
During the year, the Bank continued enhancing its effective 
role in the area of social responsibility; where serving the local 
community and contributing towards improving the quality of 
life of individuals come in line with the Bank’s mission, vision 
and objectives in this area.  The Bank supports many activities, 
initiatives and projects related to the development of the local 
community, protection of the environment, national economy, 
sports, culture and education.
In 2016, the Bank continued with its financial support to 
many charitable organizations, humanitarian entities and 
development and rehabilitation projects in less fortunate rural 
areas.  The Bank also continued to provide annual monetary 
support and sponsorship for two SOS homes as well as 
sponsoring many activities of the Jordanian Hashemite Fund 
for Human Development and the Goodwill Campaign.

The Bank continued supporting the University Education 
Program managed by the Amman Fund for the Future of 
Orphans in addition to providing financial aid to a number of 
outstanding students to cover their tuition fees at Jordanian 
Universities.  
For the ninth consecutive year and in cooperation with the 
Human Resources Department, the Bank participated in 
the national program “Darb” that provides internships for 
university students.  This program is implemented by King 
Abdullah II Fund for Development in cooperation with LoYAC 
(Jordan), and aims at enabling the youth to obtain better job 
opportunities.
The Bank also supports environmental initiatives that aim 
at preserving our forests and reservations, and participates 
in the Annual National Clean-up Campaign organized by 
the Jordanian Environment Society. During 2016, the Bank 
provided support to the Plumbing and Energy Cooperative 
Society which aims at breaking the taboo of what is called 
“culture of shame” and particularly the role of women and 
engaging them in jobs that are monopolized by men.  The 
“female run” Society was tasked with the maintenance and 
cleaning of water tanks for various charitable organizations 
selected by the Bank.
Supporting health services and initiatives are among the 
Bank’s priorities within its social responsibility initiatives.  
During 2016, the Bank organized two blood drives in 
collaboration with the National Blood Bank.  Moreover, a large 
number of the Bank’s employees participate in the Friends 
of King Hussein Cancer Center Program whereby monthly 
donating to the Center from their salaries and for the third 
consecutive year participated in the Center’s “Goal for Life” 
tournament.
The Bank further provided support to the “Operation Smile” 
Jordan to cover the cost of surgical procedures for a number 
of less fortunate children.
Within the area of supporting the cultural and artistic scene, 
the Bank sponsored a number of literary, theatrical and 
artistic works and festivals as well as support local authors 
by purchasing their literatures.
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MAJOR FINANCIAL INDICATORS AND RATIOS 2016 & 2015

 2016 2015

Major Operating Results

Net interest and commission 102,132 102,210

Gross income 120,652 127,900

Income before taxes 43,492 56,467

Income for the year-Bank Shareholders 29,747 38,558

Earnings per share-Bank Shareholders 0.297 0.386

 

Major Balance Sheet Items

Total assets 2,739,985 2,844,732

Direct Credit facilities – net 1,446,911 1,372,787

Customers deposits and cash margins 1,791,361 1,987,808

Total equity-Bank shareholders 459,693 448,579

 Off-Balance Sheet Items 495,512 448,306

Major Financial Ratios 2016 2015

Return on average assets 1.07% 1.45%

Return on average Owners' equity 6.53% 8.84%

Capital adequacy ratio 19.01% 18.23%

Financial leverage ratio 16.98% 15.97%
  
  
Efficiency Indicators

Gen. & Admin. expenses / Net interest and commission 52.83% 45.80%

Gen. & Admin. expenses / Gross earnings 44.72% 36.60%

Assets Quality Indicators

Non – performing loans / Gross credit facilities 8.59% 8.67%

Non – performing loans Coverage 60.54% 46.33%

Amounts in thousands JD



Isam Jamil Abu Salma
37 Years of Service 

Wafa' Yacoub El Musharbash
35 Years of Service 

Ahmad Mashhour Salem Al Kouz
33 Years of Service

Alia Abdul-Karim Awad 
32 Years of Service 

Ibrahim Saleh Ibrahim Al Hanash
36 Years of Service 

We would like to seize the opportunity of our 40th anniversary to pay tribute and appreciation to 
the Bank’s staff for their efforts, perseverance, faithfulness and tireless role towards realizing 
the Bank's objectives and success.  On this occasion, we are pleased to shed light on some of 
our staff members who have been working for the Bank for more than 30 years

My career at Jordan Kuwait Bank started with my appointment as a 
clerk at Zarqa Branch on 1/2/1978. The Bank always recommended 
me to attend training courses exhibiting its attention to raising the 
knowledge and skills set of its employees in its effort to improve work 
performance and achieve the best results; which contributed towards 
enriching my banking experience and progressing in my job over the 
years until I was appointed the Zarqa Branch Manager in 2014.

There is no doubt that I have earned a lot of knowledge, diverse 
information and administrative skills through my years of service at 
this distinguished financial institution.  I have always been pleased to 
have good relations with my colleagues and management in an 
atmosphere of understanding and collaboration.  I take this 
opportunity to express my gratitude and appreciation to the Bank’s 
Senior Management, particularly the Chairman, Mr. Abdel Karim 
Kabariti, wishing this outstanding institution and its staff further 
prosperity and success.

In life, people are proud of their relations with others particularly if 
they are built on love, cooperation and understanding, and upon 
which as far as I am concerned,   my relations with my colleagues at 
Jordan Kuwait Bank, my second home, were based.  It is fair to say 
that all my colleagues were trustful, honest and faithful; selflessly 
providing assistance and guidance.  Over the years of my working at 
the Bank, the Management has fostered such positive spirit between 
employees, and from whom I have learnt that success and respect 
are valued and how dedication and faithfulness in the work place 
should be.

I extend my appreciation to my friends at Jordan Kuwait Bank and 
wish the Bank which I hold near and dear to my heart continued 
progress and prosperity.

A message of admiration, appreciation, loyalty and faithfulness to this 
distinct banking institution which I pride myself for being one of its 
staff members, for Its achievements and progress which have 
motivated me to realize my ambitions and success in life.  I am proud 
with the good relations that have been built on mutual trust and 
respect among all staff members during my 33 years of service. 
Wishing the Bank ongoing progress, prosperity and further success. 

My work occupies a major portion of my life.  Jordan Kuwait Bank 
and I share a journey of success that began on 1/10/1984 and that is 
characterized by respect, and faithfulness.  I see Jordan Kuwait Bank 
as a financial and banking institution and an economic monument 
distinguished with its success, truthful in its relations with its 
employees and customers and efficient in training and developing 
employees to advance in their banking career.

I am proud and honored to work for Jordan Kuwait Bank. 

I grow nostalgic as I remember the many good days that have passed 
since joining the Bank in 1981. Since then I have witnessed the 
continuous expansion of this institution which had only twelve 
branches and offices at that time. I was an ambitious employee; 
eager to learn and gain experience and knowledge, seeking to 
advance my career within this institution which I am honored to be 
one of its members.  Days go by and my sense of belonging deepens 
as I feel the security and development, all the while learning from the 
Bank Management’s prudence in facing the surmounting challenges 
and realizing the set goals.

Today, as I serve this great institution in my capacity as the Regional 
Head in Palestine, I feel proud of our Bank’s achievements; becoming 
one of the cornerstones of the national economy and for its 
contributions towards the development of the banking sector and its 
role in social responsibility.
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Mr. “Moh’d Yaser” M. Al-Asmar

Mr. Tawfiq A. Mukahal

Mr. Shaher E. Suleiman

Mr. William J. Dababneh

Mrs. Hiyam S. Habash

Mr. Haethum S. Buttikhi

Mr. Abdel Kareem M. Friehat

Mr. Zuhdi B. Al-Jayousi

Mr. Ibrahim E. Kashet

Mr. Ibraheem S. Al-Hanash 

Mr. Moh’d J. Azem Hammad

Mr. Sa’ed M. Tu’meh

Mr. Abdallah I. Mismar

Mr. Daoud A. Issa

Mr. Ibrahim F. Bisha

Dr. Makram A. Qutob

General Manager

Deputy General Manager, Head of Banking Group

Head of Risk Management & Compliance Group

Head of Treasury & Investment

Head of Finance

Head of Retail & Private Banking

Head of Operations & Information Technology

Head of Corporate Credit

Head of Legal Affairs

Regional Head – Palestine Branches

Head of Risk Dept.

Head of Compliance Dept.

Head of Administrative Affairs Dept.

Head of Human Resources Dept.

Co-Head, Treasury, Investment & Intl. Relations

Co-Head, Corporate Credit

In addition to Mr. Ibraheem F. Taani, Head of Internal Audit Dept., who reports to the Board Audit 
Committee and to the General Manager. 
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EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT
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2017 Business Plan

Building on the Bank’s achievements in 2016 and in line with its strategic plan, the 2017 business 
plan can be summarized as follows: 

1. Continue to update the Bank’s electronic channels and provide an array of new services that align with the 
Central Bank of Jordan’s aspirations for financial inclusion and its pursuit to develop electronic payment and 
fund transfer services through mobile devices and cards. In addition to working on precautionary measures that 
ensure the soundness of the Bank’s technological infrastructure, safeguarding operations, sites and systems 
against any possible cyber risks in addition to the implementation of the requirements of the IT Governance 
with the COBIT 5 framework.

2. Attract more customer deposits in its different types to maintain appropriate liquidity ratios to continue credit 
activities and achieve the targeted growth. 

3. Expand the services of the Private Banking Department, finalize and equip its new location and establish a 
branch specifically for the Private Banking customers.

4. Expand the support and financing towards renewable energy projects and strengthen the Bank’s role in this 
vital sector, while continuing along with the local and global trend to support and offer financing programs 
tailored towards SMEs which is regarded as an important sector and contributes in stimulating the national 
economy. 

5. Continue to execute the Bank’s employees’ skills development plan, concentrating on specialized training 
programs both locally and abroad and specifically in the areas of risk management, compliance, AML, internal 
audit and information technology. 

6. Continue to strengthen the Bank’s role in supporting the local community and national development initiatives 
according to the Bank’s social responsibility and sustainable development strategy.

7. Launch “Sanad” Capital, a subsidiary of the Bank, that provides financial and investment solutions to 
companies and investors in the field of investment banking and financial advisory services so as to enhance 
the complementary services offered by the Bank through its subsidiaries in the fields of brokerage services 
and financial leasing.

8. Implement the approved branch, ATM and ITM network expansion plan for the year 2017 based on feasibility 
studies for each specific area and expand the operations and activities of the Bank’s mobile branch “Jawal”.

9. Provide the necessary technical and administrative support to the Bank’s branches in Palestine and Cyprus to 
enable them to expand in their business and activities and provide the required banking services and products 
to their customers. 

10. Capitalize on the capabilities and relationships of the mother company “Kuwait Projects Company Holding 
(KIPCO)” and its subsidiaries and its regional and global presence which allow for the expansion of joint 
businesses and the exchange of support and assistance among the Group’s members.



On the 40th anniversary of the Bank's incorporation, we would like to take this opportunity to extend our 
gratitude and appreciation to our customers and those who deal with us for their continued trust and 
cooperation, wishing them all further success accomplishments. On this occasion, a number of the Bank's 
long standing customers have recorded their testimonials surrounding their relation with the Bank, level of 
services offered and the Bank’s development throughout the years.

Dr. Taisir Abdel Fattah Mahmoud Al Zou'bi
Customer since May 1979
Zarqa Branch

I have been dealing with Jordan Kuwait Bank for a long time, during which I have 
applied for few loans.  Dealing with the Bank was and remains excellent and simple.  
The employees have always been friendly and deal with customers with the highest 
levels of professionalism.  They have excellent knowledge in their work and the laws in 
place and provide accurate answers upon any enquiry.  As a result of my experience, 
I have advised many people to deal with this Bank.  Many thanks and best wishes.

Saif Eddin Hameed Bakeer Tsipina
Customer since January 1978
Abdali Branch 

My relationship with the Bank goes back forty years, when I began dealing with Abdali 
Branch and still do to this day.  We have maintained mutual good relations, where the 
Bank continues to develop and offer excellent services.  Although I have properties 
leased to some other banks, Jordan Kuwait Bank remains my bank of choice with 
respect to all my banking services.
I wish Jordan Kuwait Bank, its employees and management further progress and 
prosperity

Royal Jordanian
Captain Suleiman Obeidat
General Manager / CEO
Customer since May 1978
Abdali Branch

I seize this opportunity to express our pride in our journey of cooperation and work 
together over the past years which is undoubtedly an example of the constructive 
partnership between our great and successful Jordanian institutions, yielding fruitful 
positive results for both parties.
Those watching the Bank’s track records are well aware of the great development it 
continues to witness, from the growth in revenues, assets and net profits or whether in 
terms of its corporate reputation and competitive position which entitle the Bank, its 
employees and shareholders to be proud.  This is mainly due to the efforts of the 
Bank's employees, Executive Management and its Board of Directors and who have 
the expertise and qualifications and who were able to place Jordan Kuwait Bank at an 
advanced position among Jordanian banks which all enjoy a high level of 
competence, distinction and credibility.  
I wish Jordan Kuwait Bank continuous progress and success driven by the efforts of 
its management and staff members along with further growth and prosperity in serving 
our dear country under the Hashemite leadership.

NCR
Mr. Hamzeh Bani Mustafa
General Manager
Customer since  September 1979
Abdali Branch

Banking is all about relationships where customer service and satisfaction is at the 
heart of this industry. Our business greatly values the relationship we have with Jordan 
Kuwait Bank since 1979, Jordan Kuwait Bank employees and management are 
dedicated to provide the best possible service to their customers and managed 
successfully to develop long-term partnerships.

We are pleased to see Jordan Kuwait Bank among one of the fastest growing banks in 
Jordan today, we wanted a financial institution that is flexible and can partner with us 
as we revolutionize the way the world interacts, which we found during this journey 
with Jordan Kuwait Bank

Jeries Dakhlallah Ibrahim Qusus
Customer since September1977
Jabal Amman Branch 

The Bank opened in 1976 and I have been dealing with it ever since.  My Account 
Number at this Bank was 210.  At the time, the Bank was new and close to my place 
of work, therefore I decided to deal with it and I found it to be one of the advanced 
banks in terms of its equipment, staff and banking services offered, in addition to staff 
professional treatment of customers, the management’s efficiency, and trustful dealing 
at all times.
I wish the Bank progress, success and prosperity.  

Faleh Hammoud Al Ali Al Kharabsheh
Customer since January 1979
Al Baqa' Branch

I have been dealing with the Bank for 37 years,   ever since it opened its branch in Al 
Baqa'a Camp.  My experience in dealing with the Bank has always been positive with 
respect to all needed transactions and the services offered, as well as the good 
treatment of the Bank’s employees and officials.  Together with my children and 
relatives, I am pleased that I am part of this Bank, and ever since I have been dealing 
with this Bank, I have not dealt with any other bank because its services are sufficient 
and comprehensive.  
Wishing prosperity for all of you. 

Dr. Shatha Yousif Mohammad Adas
Customer since March 1978
Zarqa Branch

I chose the Bank for its reputation in terms of services and professional staff.  The 
service at the Bank was and still is outstanding and as a result of my satisfaction, I 
have since 1978, been dealing with this leading institution that provides all my banking 
services and needs.

I wish more progress and success to this institution.
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Changes in Major Financial Results 1977-2016
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CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2016 

TOGETHER WITH
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
AM/ 8702
To the Shareholders of
Jordan Kuwait Bank
A Public Limited Shareholding Company
Amman – Jordan

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 

Opinion 
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Jordan Kuwait Bank, and 
its subsidiaries “the Bank” which comprise the consolidated statement of financial 
position as at December 31, 2016, and the consolidated statement of income and 
other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and 
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of 
significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.
In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in 
all material respects, the consolidated financial position of the Bank as at December 
31, 2016, and its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash 
flows for the year then ended in accordance with amended International Financial 
Reporting Standards as stated in Note (2) and in accordance with the Central Bank 
of Jordan’s arrangements for calculating the provision for impairment of direct credit 
facilities as stated in Note (7) to the consolidated financial statements.

Basis for Opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. 
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s 
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our 
report. We are independent of the Bank in accordance with the International Ethics 
Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants 
together with the other ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the 
Bank’s consolidated financial statements in Jordan, and we have fulfilled our other 
ethical responsibilities. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Deloitte & Touche (M.E.) - Jordan
Jabal Amman, 5th Circle
190 Zahran Street
P.O.Box 248
Amman 11118, Jordan

Tel  : +962 (0) 6 5502200
Fax : +962 (0) 6 5502210
www.deloitte.com

Member of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited

-  1  -

http://www.deloitte.com
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Key Audit Matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were most significant 
to our audit of the consolidated financial statements for the current year. These matters were 
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, 
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these 
matters.

Key audit matters How our audit addressed
key audit matters

Adequacy of Credit Facilities
Impairment Provision

The provision for credit facilities impairment is 
significant to the Bank’s financial statements. 
Moreover, its calculation requires making 
assumptions and management’s use of 
estimates for the drop in credit ratings and 
the probability of un-collectability due to the 
deteriorating financial and economic conditions 
of some sectors or debtors and inadequate 
guarantees, leading to suspension of interest 
according to the regulatory authorities’ 
instructions.

The nature and characteristics of credit facilities 
granted to debtors vary from one sector to 
another, and from one country to another, 
due to the Bank’s geographical deployment. 
Accordingly, the calculation method of the 
provision for credit facilities impairment varies 
due to diverse sectors and different risk 
assessments for those countries, as well as due 
to their legal and statutory requirements and the 
requirements of the Central Bank of Jordan.

Scope of Audit to Address Risks

The performed audit procedures included 
understanding the nature of credit facilities 
portfolios, examining the internal control 
system adopted in granting and monitoring 
credit, and evaluating the reasonableness of 
management’s estimates of the provision for 
credit facilities impairment. Furthermore, we 
reviewed and understood the Bank’s policy 
for calculating provisions. We also selected 
and reviewed a sample of performing, watch-
list, and non-performing credit facilities at 
the Bank’s level as a whole. In addition, we 
evaluated the factors affecting the calculation 
of the provision for credit facilities impairment 
such as evaluating available guarantees and 
collaterals, customers’ financial solvency, 
management’s estimates of expected cash 
flows, and the regulatory requirements of 
the central banks. We also discussed these 
factors with executive management to verify 
the adequacy of recorded provisions, and we  
re-calculated the provisions required to be 
recorded for this sample.

On the other hand, we evaluated disclosure 
adequacy relating to credit facilities, provision 
for credit facilities impairment, and risks set out 
in Note (7).

Member of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited

-  2  -
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Evaluation of Investments not
Listed in organized Markets

Investments not listed in organized markets 
are recorded at fair value based on available 
information. These investments together with 
evaluation bases are disclosed in Notes (8), (9) 
and (45). The Bank uses the Market-factor Index 
Method related to similar investments to evaluate 
these Investments at fair value, as well as other 
alternative methods. Accordingly, the estimation 
of fair value for these assets by management is 
considered as a key audit matter.

Scope of Audit to Address Risks
Due to the lack of market trading prices for 
those investments, their evaluation method is a 
significant matter for our audit. We have reviewed 
the form prepared by the Bank and discussed it 
with the Bank’s financial management. Moreover, 
our audit procedures included testing the internal 
control system related to the followed evaluation 
standards and assumptions used to verify their 
appropriateness in terms of the evaluation 
method or the suitability of related assumptions.

Assets Seized by the Bank against Debts

Assets seized by the Bank are shown at 
acquisition value or fair value, whichever is 
lower. As of the consolidated statement of 
financial position date, these assets are revalued 
individually at fair value based on approved bases 
and methods according to the requirements of 
the International Financial Reporting Standards. 
Moreover, any related impairment in their value is 
recorded based on recent real estate evaluations 
approved by certified real estate appraisers. A 
gradual provision has been calculated on the 
foreclosed assets whose seizure exceeded 4 
years according to the circular of the Central 
Bank of Jordan in this regard.

Scope of Audit to Address Risks
The Bank should re-evaluate foreclosed assets 
seized by the Bank at least once every two years 
to determine their fair value and to reflect the 
effect of their impairment (if any) in the income 
statement according to the decisions issued 
by regulatory authorities in conformity with the 
International Financial Reporting Standards. 
Moreover, our audit procedures included 
obtaining experts’ assistance to help us verify the 
fair value of the foreclosed assets and review the 
reports of the real estate appraisers hired by the 
management to evaluate these properties. Also, 
a gradual provision has been recalculated on 
the foreclosed assets whose seizure exceeded  
4 years according to the circular of the Central 
Bank of Jordan in this regard.
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Other Information 
Management is responsible for the other information. The other information 
comprises the other information in the annual report excluding the consolidated 
financial statements and the independent auditor’s report thereon, which is expected 
to be made available to us after the date of our audit report. 
Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other 
information, and we do not express any form of assurance or conclusion thereon. 
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read 
the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is 
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge 
obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with 
Governance for the Consolidated Financial Statements  
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the 
consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFRS, and for such internal 
control as management determines necessary to enable the preparation of 
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error.
In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible 
for assessing the Bank’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as 
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis 
of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Bank or to cease 
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Bank’s financial 
reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial 
Statements 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated 
financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an 
audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement 
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered 
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated 
financial statements.
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As part of an audit in accordance with ISA’s, we exercise professional judgement 
and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated 
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform 
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that 
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of 
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than the 
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omission, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to 
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not 
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the internal 
control.
Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by 
management.
Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern 
basis of accounting, and based on the audit evidences obtained, whether 
a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast 
significant doubt on the Bank’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we 
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention 
in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial 
statements or, if such disclosure is inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our 
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our 
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Bank to 
cease to continue as a going concern.
Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated 
financial statements, including disclosures, and whether the consolidated 
financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a 
manner that achieves fair presentation.
Obtain sufficient and appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial 
information of the entities or business activities within the Bank to express an 
opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the 
direction, supervision and performance of the Bank audit. We remain solely 
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other 
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, 
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our 
audit.

Ø

Ø

Ø

Ø

Ø

Ø
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We also provide those charged with governance with a statement on our compliance 
with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and communicate with 
them about all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to 
bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards procedures.
From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine 
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated 
financial statements of the current year and are therefore the key audit matters. We 
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law and regulations preclude 
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we 
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the 
adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the 
public interest benefits of such communication.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 
The Bank maintains proper accounting records duly organized and in line with the 
accompanying consolidated financial statements. 

Other Matter
The accompanying consolidated financial statements are a translation of the 
statutory financial statements in Arabic language to which reference should be 
made.

Amman – Jordan
                       
February 8, 2017 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2016 AND 2015

THE ACCOMPANYING NOTES FROM (1) TO (48) CONSTITUTE AN INTEGRAL PART OF THESE CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SHOULD BE READ WITH THEM AND WITH THE INDEPDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT.

JD

Note 2016 2015

ASSETS

Cash and balances at central banks 4 279,155,436 402,439,784

Balances at banks and financial institutions 5 212,859,226 224,544,517

Deposits at banks and financial institutions 6 14,166,627 9,107,715

Direct credit facilities-net 7 1,446,910,964 1,372,787,204

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 8 69,705,520 76,219,060

Financial assets at fair value through comprehensive income 9 27,306,153 35,229,279

Financial assets at amortized cost 10 479,195,403 505,749,976

Property and equipment - net 11 28,779,027 25,801,797

Intangible assets - net 12 7,003,148 7,065,200

Deferred tax assets 19 10,128,723 7,393,577

Other assets 13 164,775,189 178,393,394

     TOTAL ASSETS 2,739,985,416 2,844,731,503

LIABILITIES AND OWNERS’ EQUITY

LIABILITIES:

 Banks and financial institutions deposits 14 384,284,349 316,010,975

 Customers deposits 15 1,703,401,315 1,900,905,886

 Cash margins 16 87,959,874 86,902,100

 Borrowed funds 17 33,636,542 24,015,900

 Other provisions 18 12,105,531 10,526,597

 Provision for income tax 19 14,567,302 13,238,965

 Deferred tax liabilities 19 2,937,750 3,261,015

 Other liabilities 20 35,917,912 35,616,596

     TOTAL LIABILITIES 2,274,810,575 2,390,478,034

OWNERS’ EQUITY:

EQUITY - BANK SHAREHOLDERS:

 Authorized and paid-up capital 21 100,000,000 100,000,000

 Statutory reserve 22 81,803,089 77,479,744

 Voluntary reserve 22 152,003,949 143,357,259

 Pro-cyclicality reserve 22 227,597 227,597

 General banking risks reserve 22 13,525,686 13,353,038

 Financial assets valuation reserve - net of tax 23 6,133,272 4,280,152

 Retained earnings 24 105,999,129 109,880,864

     TOTAL EQUITY - BANK’S SHAREHOLDERS 459,692,722 448,578,654

 Non-controlling interests     5,482,119 5,674,815

     TOTAL OWNERS’ EQUITY 465,174,841 454,253,469

     TOTAL LIABILITIES AND OWNERS’ EQUITY 2,739,985,416 2,844,731,503
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF INCOME FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2016 AND 2015

THE ACCOMPANYING NOTES FROM (1) TO (48) CONSTITUTE AN INTEGRAL PART OF THESE CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SHOULD BE READ WITH THEM AND WITH THE INDEPDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT.

 JD 

Note 2016 2015

 Interest income 26 127,472,483 129,783,872

 Less: Interest expense 27 37,617,749 39,515,093

      Net Interest Income       89,854,734 90,268,779

 Net commission income 28 12,277,308 11,940,749

      Net Interest and Commission Income 102,132,042 102,209,528

   Foreign currency income 29 5,428,627 4,225,200

   (Loss) from financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 30  (66,259)  (633,460)

Cash dividends from financial assets at fair value through
   comprehensive income  9 1,096,853 870,143

   (Loss) from sale of financial assets at amortized cost 31  -  (38,683)

   Other income 32 12,060,982 21,267,340

       Gross Income        120,652,245 127,900,068

   Employees expenses 33 25,454,338 23,134,334

   Depreciation and amortization 11 & 12 5,568,725 5,228,395

   Provision of impairment loss in direct credit facilities  7 19,783,792 20,978,720

   Other provisions 18 2,250,699 1,815,203

   Other expenses 34 24,102,458 20,276,080

      Total Expenses 77,160,012 71,432,732

      Income for the Year before Income Tax  43,492,233 56,467,336

   Less: Income tax expense 19 13,486,423 17,055,660

      Income for the Year 30,005,810 39,411,676

 Pertains to: 

    Bank’s Shareholders 29,747,029 38,558,054

    Non-Controlling Interests     258,781 853,622

 Earnings per Share for the Year Attributable to the Bank’s Shareholders; 

 Basic and Diluted 35 0,297 0,386
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THE ACCOMPANYING NOTES FROM (1) TO (48) CONSTITUTE AN INTEGRAL PART OF THESE CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SHOULD BE READ WITH THEM AND WITH THE INDEPDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT.

  
JD

20152016

39,411,67630,005,810 Income for the year 

Other Comprehensive Income Items:

Items not subsequently transferable to consolidated statement of income:

 (2,114,134) 1,313,834   Net change in financial assets at fair value valuation reserve - net of tax  

37,297,54231,319,644      Total Comprehensive Income for the Year 

  Total Comprehensive Income for the Year Pertains to: 

36,794,33331,114,068     Bank’s shareholders 

503,209205,576     Non-controlling interests 

37,297,54231,319,644      Total 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2016 AND 2015
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THE ACCOMPANYING NOTES FROM (1) TO (48) CONSTITUTE AN INTEGRAL PART OF THESE CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SHOULD BE READ WITH THEM AND WITH THE INDEPDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT.

-   Retained earnings includes an amount of JD 10,128,723 as of December 31, 2016 (against JD 7,393,577 as of December 31, 
2015) restricted, according to the Central Bank of Jordan instructions, against deferred tax assets. 

-   Retained earnings includes an amount of JD 3,927,791 as of December 31, 2016 (against JD 4,251,839 as of December 31, 
2015) restricted against the effect of adopting International Financial Reporting Standard No. (9) according to the Jordan 
Securities Commission instructions in relation to the unrealized revaluation of financial assets at fair value through profit or 
loss, net of amounts recognized through sales.

-   Use of the General Banking Risks Reserve is restricted and requires the pre-approval of the Central Bank of Jordan.
-   Use of credit financial assets valuation reserve is restricted and requires the preapproval of the Central Bank of Jordan. 

JD
Equity - Bank’s Shareholders

Total  
Description Note

Authorized 
and Paid-up

Capital

Reserves Financial
Assets

Valuation
Reserve - Net 

of Tax

Retained
Earnings

 
Total Equity -

Bank’s 
Shareholders

Non-
controlling
InterestsStatutory Voluntary Pro-Cyclicality

General
 Banking 

Risks

For the Year Ended December 
31, 2016

Balance - beginning of the year 100,000,000 77,479,744 143,357,259 227,597 13,353,038 4,280,152 109,880,864 448,578,654 5,674,815 454,253,469 

Income for the year  -  -  -  -  -  - 29,747,029 29,747,029 258,781 30,005,810 

Net change in financial assets at 
fair value  - net of tax     -  -  -  -  -  1,367,039  - 1,367,039  (53,205) 1,313,834 

Realized (loss) from financial 
assets at fair value through 
comprehensive income

9  -  -  -  -  - 486,081  (486,081)  -  -  - 

Total Comprehensive Income 
for the Year  -  -  -  -  -  1,853,120  29,260,948  31,114,068  205,576  31,319,644 

Transferred to reserves 22  -  4,323,345  8,646,690  -  172,648  -  (13,142,683)  -  -  - 

Paid dividends  25  -  -  -  -  -  -  (20,000,000)  (20,000,000)  (398,272)  (20,398,272)

     Balance - End of the Year  100,000,000  81,803,089  152,003,949  227,597  13,525,686  6,133,272  105,999,129  459,692,722  5,482,119  465,174,841 

Equity - Bank’s Shareholders

Total  
Description Note

Authorized 
and Paid-up

Capital

Reserves Financial
Assets

Valuation
Reserve - Net 

of Tax

Retained
Earnings

 
Total Equity -

Bank’s 
Shareholders

Non-
controlling
InterestsStatutory Voluntary Pro-Cyclicality

General
 Banking 

Risks

For the Year Ended December 
31, 2015

Balance - beginning of the year 100,000,000 71,918,373 132,234,517 227,597 12,982,394 6,043,831 108,377,609 431,784,321 5,171,606 436,955,927 

Income for the year  -  -  -  -  -  - 38,558,054 38,558,054 853,622 39,411,676 

Net change in financial assets at 
fair value  - net of tax     -  -  -  -  -  (1,763,721)  -  (1,763,721)  (350,413)  (2,114,134)

Realized (loss) from financial 
assets at fair value through 
comprehensive income

9  -  -  -  -  - 42  (42)  -  -  - 

Total Comprehensive Income for 
the Year  -  -  -  -  -  (1,763,679)  38,558,012  36,794,333  503,209  37,297,542 

Transferred to reserves 22  -  5,561,371  11,122,742  -  370,644  -  (17,054,757)  -  -  - 

Paid dividends  25  -  -  -  -  -  -  (20,000,000)  (20,000,000)  -  (20,000,000)

     Balance - End of the Year  100,000,000  77,479,744 143,357,259  227,597  13,353,038  4,280,152  109,880,864  448,578,654  5,674,815  454,253,469 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN OWNERS› EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2016 AND 2015
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THE ACCOMPANYING NOTES FROM (1) TO (48) CONSTITUTE AN INTEGRAL PART OF THESE CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SHOULD BE READ WITH THEM AND WITH THE INDEPDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT.

JD
Note 2016 2015

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
 Income for the year before income tax 43,492,233 56,467,336 
  Adjustments:
  Depreciation and amortization 11&12 5,568,725 5,228,395 
  Provision for impairment in direct credit facilities  7 19,783,792 20,978,720 
  Net interest income  (10,658,907)  (8,999,386)
  Provision for staff indemnity 18 1,980,699 1,629,890 
  Provision for lawsuits against the Bank and contingent claims 18 270,000 185,313 
  (Gain) on sale of assets seized by the Bank 32  (797,966)  (1,906,176)
  (Gain) on sale of property and equipment 32  (6,044)  (312,049)
  Loss on sale of financial assets at amortized cost 31  - 38,683 
  Valuation loss of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 30 2,172,448 1,164,808 
  Provisions on seized assets 13 3,420,103 3,641,733 
  Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash and cash equivalents 29  (1,194,136) 1,650,356 
      Total 64,030,947 79,767,623 

CHANGES IN ASSETS AND LIABILITIES:
  (Increase) decrease in deposits at banks and financial institutions  (5,058,912) 2,000,010 
  (Increase) in direct credit facilities  (93,907,552)  (87,506,674)
  Decrease (increase) in financial assets at fair value through profit or loss  4,341,092  (24,616,326)
  Decrease in other assets 27,946,923 9,092,859 
  Increase in banks and financial institutions deposits due after three months 11,489,639 3,108,820 
  (Decrease) increase in customers deposits  (197,504,571) 231,066,845 
  Increase in cash margins 1,057,774 4,204,539 
  (Decrease) in other liabilities  (6,754,150)  (14,178,466)
     Net change in assets and liabilities  (258,389,757) 123,171,607 

   Net Cash Flows (used in) from Operating Activities before Paid Provisions
    and Income Tax  (194,358,810) 202,939,230 

  End-of-service indemnity paid 18  (642,627)  (512,496)
  Lawsuits provision paid 18  (29,138)  - 
  Income tax paid 19  (15,988,541)  (17,376,576)
     Net Cash Flows (used in) from Operating Activities  (211,019,116) 185,050,158 
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
  Decrease (increase) in financial assets at amortized cost  26,554,573  (40,132,642)
  Decrease (increase) in financial assets at fair value through comprehensive income  10,062,209  (8,031,172)
  (Increase) in property, equipment and intangible assets  (8,483,903)  (14,265,891)
     Net Cash Flows from (used in) Investing Activities  28,132,879  (62,429,705)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
  (Decrease) in non-controlling interests  (451,477)  (350,413)
  Increase in borrowed funds 9,620,642 12,290,502 
  Dividends paid to shareholders  (19,230,438)  (19,272,458)
     Net Cash Flows (used in) Financing Activities  (10,061,273)  (7,332,369)
  Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash and cash equivalents 1,194,136  (1,650,356)
     Net (Decrease) Increase in Cash and Cash Equivalents  (191,753,374) 113,637,728 
  Cash and cash equivalents - beginning of the year 337,200,731 223,563,003 
     Cash and Cash Equivalents - End of the Year 36 145,447,357 337,200,731 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2016 AND 2015
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1- General Information 
-  Jordan Kuwait Bank was established as a Jordanian public limited shareholding company under number (108) on October 

25, 1976 in accordance with the Jordanian Companies Law No. (13) for the year 1964. The Bank’s Head Office address is as 
follows: Omaya Bin Abdshams Street, Abdali – Amman. Tel. +962 (6) 5629400, P.O. Box 9776, Amman – 11191 Jordan.

-  The Bank is engaged in all banking and financial related operations through its branches totaling 61 branches inside Jordan, 
five foreign branches, and three subsidiary companies.

-  Jordan Kuwait Bank is listed as a public limited shareholding company on the Amman Stock Exchange. 
-  The consolidated financial statements have been approved by the Bank’s Board of Directors, in their meeting number 

(1/2017) held on February 8, 2017, and are subject to the approval of the General Assembly of Shareholders.

2-   Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Preparation of the Consolidated Financial Statements

-  The accompanying consolidated financial statements of the Bank have been prepared in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards modified according to the Central Bank of Jordan instructions and arrangements with regards 
to the calculation of the provision for impairment loss for one of direct credit facilities customer. At the same time, the 
financial statements of the subsidiary companies have been prepared in accordance with the standards issued by the 
International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and the interpretations issued by the Committee of the IASB.

-    The consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with the historical cost principle, except for financial 
assets and financial liabilities stated at fair value through profit or loss, financial assets stated at fair value through other 
comprehensive income and financial derivatives stated at fair value at the date of the consolidated financial statements. 
Moreover, hedged financial assets and financial liabilities are also stated at fair value. 

-   The reporting currency of the consolidated financial statements is the Jordanian Dinar, which is the functional currency of 
the Bank.

-  The accounting policies adopted in the consolidated financial statements are consistent with those accounting polices applied 
in the year ended December 31, 2015, except for the implementation of what is stated in Note (48) to the consolidated 
financial statements.

Basis of Financial Statements Consolidation
-  The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Bank and controlled subsidiaries. Control 

exists when the Bank has the power to control the financial and operating policies of the subsidiaries in order to obtain 
benefits from their activities. All transactions, balances, revenue and expenses between the Bank and its subsidiaries are 
eliminated. 

-   The financial statements of the subsidiaries relating to the same fiscal year of the Bank are prepared using the same 
accounting policies adopted by the Bank, except for the arrangements with the Central Bank of Jordan with regards to the 
calculation of the provision for impairment loss for a number of direct credit facilities customers. In case the accounting 
policies applied by the subsidiaries are different from those adopted by the Bank, necessary adjustments to the financial 
statements of the subsidiaries have to be made in order to match those applied by the Bank. 

- Non-controlling interests represent the portion of the subsidiaries’ equity not owned by the Bank.

The Bank owns the following subsidiaries as of December 31, 2016:

Company's Name Paid-up
Capital

Ownership
of the Bank 

Nature of
Operation Location Date of

Acquisition

JD %

United Financial Investments Company 8,000,000 50.22 Financial Brokerage Amman 2002

Ejarah for Finance  Leasing Company 20,000,000 100 Finance Leasing Amman 2011

Specialized Managerial Company for 
Investment and Financial Consultation* 530,000 100 Issuance of Securities and 

other Financial Services Amman 2016

The most significant financial information for the subsidiaries for the year 2016 is as follows:

December 31, 2016 For the year 2016

Company's Name Total Assets Total Liabilities Total Revenue Total Expenses

JD JD JD JD

United Financial Investments Company 12,920,609 1,908,803 1,807,665 1,287,858

Ejarah for Finance  Leasing Company 56,021,319 28,068,222 5,017,869 2,617,813

Specialized Managerial Company for Investment 
and Financial Consultation * 530,000 - - -

*  The Company was established on November 22, 2016 with a capital of JD 530,000, but it did not conduct any operating 
activities until the end of 2016. Moreover, the Bank has three members on the company’s Board of Directors.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Jordan Kuwait Bank
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The results of operations of the subsidiaries are consolidated in the consolidated statement of income from the date of acquisition, 
which represents the date when control over the subsidiaries is passed on to the Bank. Moreover, the results of operations of the 
disposed of subsidiaries are consolidated in the consolidated statement of income until the disposal date, which represents the 
date when the Bank loses control over the subsidiaries. 

Segments Information
- A business segment is a distinguishable component of assets and transactions in which an entity is engaged in providing 

an individual product or service or a group of related products or services subject to risks and returns different from those of 
other business segments, which are measured according to the reports used by executive directors and the main decision 
makers at the Bank.

- A geographical segment is a distinguishable component of an entity engaged in providing products or services within a 
particular economic environment subject to risks and returns different from those of components operating in other economic 
environments.

Financial Assets at Fair Value through Profit or Loss
- These financial assets represent investments in companies’ stocks and bonds for trading purposes, and the purpose of 

maintaining them is to generate gains from the fluctuations in market prices in the short term or trading margins.
-  These financial assets are initially stated at fair value at the acquisition date, (transaction costs are expensed in the 

consolidated statement of income at the purchase date), and subsequently measured at fair value. Moreover, changes in fair 
value are recorded in the consolidated statement of income including the change in fair value resulting from translation of 
non-monetary assets stated in foreign currency. Gains or losses resulting from the sale of these financial assets are taken to 
the consolidated statement of income.

- It is not allowed to reclassify any financial assets to / from this category except for the cases specified in International 
Financial Reporting Standards.  

-  Dividends and interest from these financial assets are recorded in the consolidated statement of income. 

Financial Assets at Fair Value through Comprehensive Income 
- These financial assets represent investments in equity instruments held for the purpose of generating gains in the long term 

and not for trading purposes.
- Financial assets at fair value through comprehensive income are initially stated at fair value plus transaction costs at 

the purchase date. Subsequently, they are measured at fair value with gains or losses arising from changes in fair value 
recognized in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income and within owners’ equity, including the changes in 
fair value resulting from translation of non-monetary assets stated in foreign currency. Gain or Loss from the sale of these 
investments should be recognized in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income and within owners’ equity, and 
the balance of the revaluation reserve for these assets should be transferred directly to retained earnings and not to the 
consolidated statement of income.

- These assets are not subject to impairment testing.
- Dividends are recorded in the consolidated statement of income as a separate-line item.

Financial Assets at Amortized Cost 
-    These are the financial assets which the Bank’s management aims to hold according to its business model for the purpose 

of collecting contractual cash flows which comprise the contractual cash flows that are solely payments of principal and 
interest on the outstanding principal.

-   Those financial assets are stated at cost upon purchase plus acquisition expenses. Moreover, the issue premium / discount 
is amortized using the effective interest rate method, and recorded to the interest account. Provisions associated with the 
decline in value of these investments, leading to the inability to recover the investment or part of it, are therefore deducted, 
and any impairment loss in its value is recorded in the consolidated statement of income. 

-  The amount of the impairment loss recognized is the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value 
of estimated future cash flows discounted at the original effective interest rate.

- It is not allowed to reclassify any financial assets from / to this category except for certain cases specified in International 
Financial Reporting Standards (in case of selling any of these assets before their maturity date, the result should be recorded 
in a separate-line item in the consolidated statement of income, and disclosures should be made in accordance with the 
requirements of International Financial Reporting Standards).  

Fair Value
Fair value represents the closing market price (Purchasing Assets / Selling Liabilities) of financial assets and derivatives on the 
date of the consolidated financial statements in Active Markets. 
In case declared market prices do not exist, active trading of some financial assets and derivatives is not available, or the market 
is inactive, fair value is estimated by one of several methods including the following:

-  Comparison with the fair value of another financial asset with similar terms and conditions.
-  Analysis of the present value of expected future cash flows for similar instruments.
-  Option pricing models.
-  Evaluation of long-term assets and liabilities that bear no interest in accordance with the discounted cash flows using 

the effective interest rate. Premiums and discounts are amortized within interest revenues or expense in the consolidated 
statement of income. 
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The valuation methods aim to obtain a fair value that reflects market expectations, taking into consideration market factors and 
any expected risks and benefits upon estimating the value of financial assets. In case the fair value of the financial instrument 
cannot be measured reliably, it is stated at cost less any impairment. 

Impairment Loss in the Value of Financial Assets
The Bank reviews the values of financial assets on the date of the consolidated statement of financial position in order to 
determine if there are any indications of impairment in their value individually or in the form of a portfolio. In case such indications 
exist, the recoverable value is estimated so as to determine the impairment loss. 
Impairment loss is determined as follows:

-  Impairment loss in financial assets recorded at amortized cost is determined on the basis of the present value of the 
expected cash flows discounted at the original interest rate.

-  Impairment loss in value is recorded in the consolidated statement of income. Any surplus in the following period resulting 
from previous declines in the value of financial assets as debt instruments is taken to the consolidated statement of income, 
and equity instrument is taken to the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. 

Direct Credit Facilities 
-  A provision for impairment loss in direct credit facilities is recognized when it is obvious that the financial assets of the Bank 

cannot be recovered, there is objective evidence of the existence of an event negatively affecting the future cash flows 
of the direct credit facilities, and the impairment loss amount can be estimated according to the Central Bank of Jordan 
instructions, except for the arrangements with the Central Bank of Jordan with regards to the calculation of impairment loss 
for a number of direct credit facilities customers, and in accordance with the Central Bank’s instructions in which the Bank’s 
branches operate. The provision is recorded in the consolidated statement of income.  

-  Interest and commissions on non-performing direct credit facilities are suspended in accordance with the instructions of 
the Central Bank of Jordan or the applicable laws in the countries where the Bank’s branches or the subsidiaries operate, 
whichever are stricter.

-  Impaired credit facilities, for which a provision has been taken, are written off by charging the provision after all efforts have 
been made to recover the assets. Any surplus in the provision is taken to the consolidated statement of income, while debt 
recoveries are taken to other income. 

-  Credit facilities and the related fully provided for suspended interest are taken off the consolidated statement of financial 
position in line with the Board of Directors’ decision in that regard.

-  Interest on accounts with lawsuits is suspended and recorded off the consolidated statement of financial position in line with 
the Board of Directors’ decisions in this regard.

Property and Equipment 
-  Property and equipment are stated at cost net of accumulated depreciation and any impairment loss in their value. Moreover, 

property and equipment (except for land) are depreciated according to the straight-line method over their estimated useful 
lives, when ready for use, using the following annual rates:

%
Buildings 3
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 9 – 15
Vehicles   15
Computers   20
Building improvements 20

-  When the recoverable amounts of property and equipment are lower than their carrying values, assets are written down, and 
impairment losses are recorded in the consolidated statement of income.

-  The useful lives of property and equipment are reviewed at the end of each year. In case the expected useful life is different 
from what was determined before, the change in estimate is recorded in the following years, being a change in estimates.

-  Property and equipment are derecognized when disposed of or when there is no expected future benefit from their use. 

Provisions
-  Provisions are recognized when the Bank has an obligation on the date of the consolidated statement of financial position 

arising from past events, and the costs to settle the obligation are both probable and can be reliably measured.

Provision for Employees’ End-of-Service Indemnities
-  A provision is taken to meet the legal and contractual obligations that are related to the employees’ end-of-service indemnities 

or for the accumulated period of service as of the date of the consolidated statement of financial position, in accordance with 
the internal regulations of the Bank. 

- The annual compensation paid to the employees who leave the service is carried to provision for end-of-service indemnities 
when paid, and a provision is taken for the obligations against the Bank for the compensation of end-of-service indemnities 
in the consolidated statement of income.
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Income Tax
-  Income tax expenses represent accrued taxes and deferred taxes.
-  Income tax expenses are accounted for on the basis of taxable income. Moreover, income subject to tax differs from income 

declared in the consolidated financial statements because the latter includes non-taxable revenue or tax expenses not 
deductible in the current year but deductible in subsequent years, accumulated losses acceptable by the tax authorities, and 
items not accepted for tax purposes or subject to tax.

-  Taxes are calculated on the basis of the tax rates prescribed according to the prevailing laws, regulations, and instructions 
of the countries where the Bank operates.

-  Deferred taxes are taxes expected to be paid or recovered as a result of temporary timing differences between the value 
of the assets or liabilities in the consolidated financial statements and the value of the taxable amount. Deferred tax is 
calculated on the basis of the liability method in the consolidated statement of financial position according to the rates 
expected to be applied when the tax liability is settled or tax assets are recognized. 

-  Deferred tax assets and liabilities are reviewed as of the date of the consolidated financial statements, and reduced in case 
it is expected that no benefit will arise therefrom, partially or totally. 

 Share Capital
Costs of Issuing or Purchasing the Bank’s Shares
Costs of issuing or purchasing the Bank’s shares are recorded in retained earnings (net of the tax effect of these costs). In case 
the issue or purchase process is incomplete, these costs are charged to the consolidated statement of income as an expense.
Treasury Shares
Treasury shares are stated at cost and have no rights in dividends to the shareholders, and no rights in participating or voting in 
the Bank’s General Assembly meetings. Gains or losses from selling the treasury shares are not recognized in the consolidated 
statement of income. Gains are shown in owners’ equity with share premium / discount whereas losses are taken to retained 
earnings, in case there is no treasury shares premium balance available.

Mortgaged Financial Assets
Mortgaged financial assets are assets mortgaged to other parties, who hold the right of selling or refinancing the mortgage. 
Those assets are continuously evaluated according to the accounting policies designated for each of them.

Accounts Managed on Behalf of Customers
This item represents the accounts managed by the Bank on behalf of its customers and is not part of the Bank’s assets. The fees 
and commissions for managing these accounts are shown in the consolidated statement of income. Furthermore, a provision is 
taken against the decline in the value of capital-guaranteed portfolios managed on behalf of customers.

Offsetting
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset, and the net amount is reflected in the consolidated statement of financial 
position only when there are legal rights to offset the recognized amounts, the Bank intends to settle them on a net basis, or 
assets are realized and liabilities settled simultaneously. 

Recognition of Income and Realization of Expenses
-  Interest income is realized and recognized based on the effective interest method, except for interest and commission 

on non-performing facilities which are not recognized as revenue but taken to the interest and commission in suspense 
account.

- Expenses are recognized on the accrual basis.
-  Commission is recorded as revenue when the related services are rendered, and dividend revenue from companies is 

recognized when earned (or when approved by the shareholders General Assembly). 

Recognition of Financial Assets Date 
Purchase and sale of financial assets are recognized on the trading date (the date the Bank is liable to sell or purchase the 
financial asset).

Financial Derivatives and Hedge Accounting
Financial Derivatives Hedge
For hedge accounting purposes, the financial derivatives are stated at fair value, and hedges are classified as follows:
-  Fair value hedge

-  Hedge for the change in the fair value exposures of the Bank’s assets and liabilities.
-  When the conditions of effective portfolio hedge are met, the gain or loss resulting from the revaluation of the hedging 

instrument at fair value as well as the change in the fair value of the assets or liabilities portfolio are recorded in the 
consolidated income statement. 

-  When the conditions of effective fair value hedge are met, the resulting gain or loss from re-measuring the fair value hedge is 
recognized in the consolidated statement of income for the same period, and so is the change in the fair value of the assets 
or liabilities portfolio. 
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-  Commissions are recorded as income the related services have been provided. Meanwhile, profits on companies’ shares are 
recognized when achieved (decided by the General Assembly of Shareholders).

- Cash flows hedge 
-  Hedge for the change in the current and expected cash flows exposures of the Bank’s assets and liabilities.
-  When the conditions of effective cash flow hedge are met, the gain or loss of the hedging instruments is recognized in the 

consolidated statement of comprehensive income / owners’ equity. Such gain or loss is transferred to the consolidated 
statement of income in the period in which the hedge transaction impacts the consolidated statement of income.

- Hedge for net investment in foreign entities 
-  When the conditions of the hedge for net investment in foreign entities are met, fair value is measured for the hedging 

instrument of the hedged net assets. In case of an effective relationship, the effective portion of the loss or profit related to 
the hedging instrument is recognized in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income / consolidated statement of 
owners’ equity while the ineffective portion is recognized in the consolidated statement of income. Moreover, the effective 
portion is recorded in the consolidated statement of income when the investment in foreign entities is sold. 

- When the conditions of the effective hedge do not apply, gain or loss resulting from the change in the fair value of the hedging 
instrument is recorded in the consolidated statement of income in the same period.

Financial Derivatives for Trading
The fair value of financial derivatives for trading such as forward foreign currency contracts, future interest rate contracts, 
swap agreements, and foreign currency options is recorded in the consolidated statement of financial position. Fair value is 
measured according to the prevailing market prices, and if the fair value is not available, the measurement method used should 
be disclosed. The change in their fair value is recognized in the consolidated statement of income. 

Repurchase or Resale Agreements
- Assets sold with a simultaneous commitment to repurchase them at a future date continue to be recognized in the 

consolidated financial statements as a result of the Bank’s continuous control over these assets and as the related risks 
and benefits are transferred to the Bank upon occurrence. They also continue to be measured in accordance with the 
adopted accounting policies (In case the buyer has a right to dispose of or re-mortgage these assets, then they should be 
re-classified as financial assets mortgaged at amortized cost). Amounts received against these contracts are recorded within 
liabilities under borrowed funds. The difference between the sale price and the repurchase price is recognized as an interest 
expense amortized over the contract period using the effective interest rate method.

- Purchased assets with corresponding commitment to sell at a specific future date are not recognized in the consolidated 
financial statements because the Bank has no control over such assets and the related risks and benefits are not transferred 
to the Bank upon occurrence. Payments related to these contracts are recorded under deposits with banks and other financial 
institutions or loans and advances in accordance with the nature of each case. The difference between the purchase price 
and resale price is recorded as interest revenue amortized over the life of the contract using the effective interest method. 

Assets Seized by the Bank against Due Debts 
Assets seized by the Bank are shown under “other assets” in the consolidated statement of financial position at the acquisition 
value or fair value, whichever is lower, and revalued individually at fair value as of the consolidated statement of financial position 
date. Any decline in their market value is taken to the consolidated statement of income whereas any such increase is not 
recognized. A subsequent increase is taken to the consolidated statement of income to the extent that it does not exceed the 
previously recorded impairment loss.
The impairment of assets seized by the Bank is recorded based on recent real estate evaluations conducted by certified real 
estate evaluators for the purpose of impairment calculation. This impairment is reviewed periodically. Moreover, as of the end of 
the year 2015, a gradual provision for the assets seized against debts whose seizure exceeded 4 years is recognized based on 
the instructions of the Central Bank of Jordan regarding this matter.

Intangible Assets
A- Goodwill

-  Goodwill is recorded at cost, and represents the excess of the amount paid to acquire or purchase the investment in an 
associate or a subsidiary on the date of the transaction over the fair value of the net assets of the associate or subsidiary 
at the acquisition date. Goodwill resulting from the investment in a subsidiary is recorded as a separate item as part of 
intangible assets, while goodwill resulting from the investment in an affiliated company constitutes part of the investment in 
that company. The cost of goodwill is subsequently reduced by any impairment in the value of the investment. 

-  Goodwill is distributed over the cash generating unit(s) for the purpose of testing the impairment in its value.
-  The value of goodwill is tested on the date of each consolidated financial statement. Goodwill value is reduced when there 

is evidence that its value has declined or the recoverable value of the cash generating unit(s) is less than book value. The 
decline in value is recorded in the consolidated statement of income as an impairment loss.  

B- Other Intangible Assets
- Intangible assets purchased in an acquisition are stated at fair value at the date of acquisition. Other intangible assets 

purchased other than through acquisition are recorded at cost.
- Intangible assets are to be classified on the basis of either definite or indefinite useful life. Intangible assets with definite useful 

economic lives are amortized over their useful lives and recorded as an expense in the consolidated statement of income.  
Intangible assets with indefinite lives are reviewed for impairment as of the financial statements date, and impairment loss is 
recorded in the consolidated statement of income.
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- No capitalization of intangible assets resulting from the Banks’ operations is made. They are rather recorded in the 
consolidated statement of income for the same period.

-  Any indications of impairment in the value of intangible assets as of the consolidated financial statements date are reviewed. 
Furthermore, the estimated useful lives of the impaired intangible assets are reassessed, and any adjustment is made in the 
subsequent period.

-   Computers software and applications are amortized according to the straight-line method over their estimated economic 
useful lives at an annual amortization rate of 20% - 33%.

Foreign Currencies
-  Transactions in foreign currencies during the year are recorded at the exchange rates prevailing at the date of the transaction.
-  Financial assets and financial liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated to US Dollar at the average exchange 

rates prevailing on the consolidated statement of financial position date and declared by the Central Bank of Jordan.
-  Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies and recorded at fair value are translated on the date 

when their fair value is determined.
-  Gains and losses resulting from foreign currency translation are recorded in the consolidated statement of income.
-  Translation differences for non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies (such as shares) are 

recorded as part of the change in fair value.
-  When consolidating the financial statements, assets and liabilities of the branches and subsidiaries abroad are translated 

from the primary currency (basic) to the reporting currency, using the average exchange rates prevailing on the consolidated 
statement of financial position date and declared by the Central Bank of Jordan. Revenue and expense items are translated 
using the average exchange rates during the year, and exchange differences are shown in a separate item within the 
consolidated statement of shareholders’ equity. In case of selling one of the subsidiaries or branches, the related amount of 
exchange difference is booked in revenues\expenses in the consolidated statement of income.

Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents are balances, maturing within three months, which comprise of cash and balances with Central 
Banks, balances with banks and financial institutions, less bank deposits and balances due to banks and financial institutions 
maturing within three months and restricted funds.

3.  Accounting Estimates  
Preparation of the accompanying consolidated financial statements and the application of accounting policies require from 
the Bank’s management to estimate and assess some items affecting financial assets and liabilities and to disclose contingent 
liabilities. These estimates and assumptions also affect income, expenses, provisions, and the financial assets valuation reserve. 
In particular, they require the Bank’s management to estimate and assess the amounts and timing of future cash flows. The 
aforementioned estimates are based on several assumptions and factors with varying degrees of consideration and uncertainty. 
Furthermore, the actual results may differ from the estimates due to the changes arising from the conditions and circumstances 
of those estimates in the future. 
Management believes that the estimates used in the consolidated financial statements are reasonable. The details are as follows:

- A provision is set for lawsuits raised against the Bank and subsidiaries. This provision is subject to an adequate legal study 
prepared by the Bank and subsidiaries’ legal advisors. Moreover, the study highlights potential risks that may be encountered 
in the future. Such legal assessments are reviewed frequently.

-  A provision for loans is taken according to bases and estimates approved by management in conformity with the Central 
Bank of Jordan instructions, except for the arrangements with the Central Bank of Jordan with regards to impairment loss 
calculation for some of direct credit facilities customers.

-  Impairment loss for the properties seized by the Bank is taken after a sufficient and recent evaluation of the acquired 
properties has been conducted by approved surveyors, and impairment loss is reviewed periodically. Since the beginning 
of 2015, a gradual provision has been calculated for the assets seized against debts, whose seizure exceeded 4 years, 
according to the instructions of the Central Bank of Jordan regarding this matter. 

-  Management periodically reassesses the economic useful lives of tangible and intangible assets for calculating annual 
depreciation and amortization based on the general status of these assets and the assessment of their useful economic lives 
expected in the future. Impairment loss is taken to the consolidated statement of income.

-  Management frequently reviews the financial assets stated at cost to estimate any decline in their value. Impairment loss is 
taken to the consolidated statement of income.

-  Provision for income tax: The financial year is charged with its portion from the income tax expense according to the prevailing 
laws and regulations and International Financial Reporting Standards. Moreover, the necessary income tax provision is 
calculated and recorded.

-  Fair value hierarchy: The Bank is required to determine and disclose the level in the fair value hierarchy into which the fair value 
measurements are categorized in their entirety, segregating fair value measurements in accordance with the levels defined 
in International Financial Reporting Standards. Differentiating between Level (2) and Level (3) fair value measurements, i.e., 
assessing whether inputs are observable and whether the unobservable inputs are significant, may require judgment and 
careful analysis of the inputs used to measure fair value, including consideration of factors specific to the asset or liability. 
When evaluating the fair value of the financial asset or liability, the Bank uses market information (if available) and in the 
absence of the first level inputs, the Bank deals with the independent and qualified parties to prepare evaluation studies. 
Appropriate methods of assessment and inputs used to prepare the evaluation are reviewed by management.
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4. Cash and Balances at Central Banks
The details of this item are as follows:

2016 2015

JD JD

Cash in vaults 39,889,263 39,491,838

Balances at Central Banks:

  Current and call accounts 100,844,653 39,869,356

  Time and notice deposits 46,490,409 224,697,524

  Mandatory cash reserve 91,931,111 98,381,066

     Total 279,155,436 402,439,784

-  Except for the statutory cash reserve, there are no restricted balances as of December 31, 2016 and 2015. 
 - There are no balances due within a period exceeding three months as of December 31, 2016 and 2015.

 5. Balances at Banks and Financial Institutions
The details of this item are as follows:

Local Banks and  
Financial Institutions 

Foreign Banks and  
Financial Institutions Total

Description 2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015

JD JD JD JD JD JD

Current and call accounts 296,851 8,683 110,705,461 131,791,067 111,002,312 131,799,750

Deposits due within three months or less 13,642,099 25,189,000 88,214,815 67,555,767 101,856,914 92,744,767

     Total 13,938,950 25,197,683 198,920,276 199,346,834 212,859,226 224,544,517

- Non-interest bearing balances at banks and financial institutions  amounted to JD 35,132,679 as of December 31, 2016 
(against JD 84,983,371 as of December 31, 2015).

- Restricted balances amounted to JD 2,558,072 as of December 31, 2016 and 2015

6. Deposits at Banks and Financial Institutions
The details of this item are as follows:

Local Banks and  
Financial Institutions

Foreign Banks and  
Financial Institutions Total

Description 2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015

JD JD JD JD JD JD

Deposits  -  1,999,990  14,166,627  7,107,725  14,166,627  9,107,715 

Certificates of deposit  -  -  -  -  -  - 

     Total  -  1,999,990  14,166,627  7,107,725  14,166,627  9,107,715 

- Restricted deposits amounted to JD 17,725 as of December 31, 2016 and 2015.
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7. Direct Credit Facilities - Net
The details of this item are as follows:

2016 2015

Individuals (retail): JD JD

  Overdraft accounts* 3,588,010 5,858,850 

  Loans and promissory notes** 109,586,230 80,920,395 

  Credit cards 9,076,996 8,073,067 

Real estate loans 196,452,307 171,776,740 

Companies:

  Large 

  Overdraft accounts 246,307,707 324,856,759 

  Loans and promissory notes** 738,868,655 636,334,800 

  Small and medium

  Overdraft accounts* 8,511,888 11,656,768 

  Loans and promissory notes** 77,477,202 71,723,983 

  Government and public sector 144,577,428 126,823,943 

Total 1,534,446,423 1,438,025,305 

Less: Provision of impairment loss in direct credit facilities 73,120,373 53,758,509 

         Interest in suspense 14,415,086 11,479,592 

     Net Direct Credit Facilities 1,446,910,964 1,372,787,204 

* These items include JD 7,065,768 as of December 31, 2016, which represents credit facilities granted by the subsidiary 
companies (against JD 7,442,059 as of December 31, 2015).

** Net after deducting interest and commission received in advance of JD 383,975 as of December 31, 2016 (against JD 679,878 
as of December 31, 2015). 

- Non-performing credit facilities amounted to JD 131,802,453, which is equivalent to (8.6%) of total direct credit facilities as of 
December 31, 2016 (against JD 124,703,275, which is equivalent to (8.7%) of total direct credit facilities as of December 31, 
2015).

- Non- performing credit facilities net of interest and commissions in suspense amounted to JD 117,387,367, which is equivalent 
to (7.7%) of total direct credit facilities balance after deducting suspended interest as of December 31, 2016 (against JD 
113,223,683, which is equivalent to (7.9%) of total credit facilities balance after deducting suspended interest as of December 
31, 2015).

- Direct credit facilities granted to and guaranteed by the Government of Jordan amounted to JD 80,146,314, which is equivalent 
to (5.2%) of total direct credit facilities as of December 31, 2016 (against JD 45,347,219, which is equivalent to (3.2%) as of 
December 31, 2015).

- Direct credit facilities include facilities granted to one customer for JD 37.2 million net after deducting interest and commissions 
in suspense as of December 31, 2016, with acceptable collaterals of around JD 1.9 million as per the Central Bank of Jordan 
arrangement. The provision for impairment against these credit facilities amounted to JD 31.8 million as of December 31, 2016, 
based on the arrangements with the Central Bank of Jordan with regards to the calculation of the provision for impairment 
loss for one direct credit facilities customer. According to the arrangements the remaining provision will be gradually allocated 
during the year 2017. In case of amicable ownership of the guarantees, the provision for impairment loss will be gradually taken 
for the remaining balance.
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Provision for Impairment Loss in Direct Credit Facilities
The following is the movement on the provision for impairment loss in direct credit facilities:

For the Year 2016 Individuals Real Estate
Loans

Companies Government
and Public

Sector
Total

Large Small and Medium 

JD JD JD JD JD JD
  Balance – beginning of the year 5,163,412 3,526,473 43,039,005 2,029,619 - 53,758,509 
  Deducted from income during the year 3,074,485 2,677,535 16,450,684 300,725 - 22,503,429 
  Surplus in provision for credit facilities 1,415,879 732,886 416,754 154,118 - 2,719,637 
  Used from provision during the year (written-off)* 379,479 - - 42,449 - 421,928 
      Balance – End of the Year 6,442,539 5,471,122 59,072,935 2,133,777 - 73,120,373 
Total of watch list provisions 429,441 68,720 1,536,091 25,617 - 2,059,869 
Total non-performing provisions 6,013,098 5,402,402 57,536,844 2,108,160 - 71,060,504 

6,442,539 5,471,122 59,072,935 2,133,777 - 73,120,373 

For the Year 2015 Individuals Real Estate
Loans

Companies Government
and Public

Sector
Total

Large Small and  Medium 

  Balance – beginning of the year 3,669,701 3,104,292 46,571,503 1,943,646 - 55,289,142 
  Deducted from income during the year 1,917,100 1,147,988 19,523,459 294,960 - 22,883,507 
  Surplus in provision for credit facilities 143,469 725,807 826,524 208,987 - 1,904,787 
  Used from provision during the year (written-off) * 279,920 - 3,113 - - 283,033 

  Credit facilities transferred to off-consolidated
    statement  of financial position ** - - 22,226,320 - - 22,226,320 

      Balance – End of the Year 5,163,412 3,526,473 43,039,005 2,029,619 - 53,758,509 
Total of watch list provisions 295,929 240,671 469,547 296,791 - 1,302,938 
Total non-performing provisions 4,867,483 3,285,802 42,569,458 1,732,828 - 52,455,571 

5,163,412 3,526,473 43,039,005 2,029,619 - 53,758,509 

* During the year 2016, an amount of JD 421,928 has been written off from direct credit facilities based on the Board of Directors' 
approval (against JD 283,033 for the year 2015).

** During the year 2015, non-performing credit facilities of JD 22,226,320 were transferred to off-consolidated statement of 
financial position according to the Board of Directors' decision to reach JD 37,879,584 as of December 31, 2015.

- The disclosure above is related to provisions against debts calculated on the basis of the individual customer.
- The provisions no longer needed due to settlements or repayments of debts transferred against other debts amounted to JD 

2,719,637 as of December 31, 2016 (JD 1,904,787 as of December 31, 2015).

Interest in Suspense
The movement on interest in suspense during the year is as follows:

For the Year 2016
Individuals Real Estate

Loans
Companies Government 

and Public 
Sector

Total
Large Small and Medium

JD JD JD JD JD JD
Balance – beginning of the year 457,342 1,184,303 9,568,870 269,077  - 11,479,592
Add: Interest suspended during the year 370,965 711,026 1,968,790 264,368  - 3,315,149
Less: Interest reversed to income  (148,590)  (75,876)  -  (102,673)  -  (327,139)
         Interest in suspense written-off  (36,655)  -  -  (15,861)  -  (52,516)
     Balance - End of the Year 643,062 1,819,453 11,537,660 414,911  - 14,415,086

For the Year 2015 Individuals Real Estate
Loans

Companies Government 
and Public 

Sector
Total

Large Small and Medium

Balance – beginning of the year 275,482 374,121 11,466,934 182,972  - 12,299,509
Add: Interest suspended during the year 241,811 1,435,985 3,131,650 202,191  - 5,011,637
Less: Interest reversed to income  (32,053)  (618,753)  (1,961,550)  (98,654)  -  (2,711,010)
         Interest in suspense written-off  (27,898)  (7,050)  -  (17,432)  -  (52,380)
Interest in suspense transferred to off-consolidated  
statement of financial position  *  -  -  (3,068,164)  -  -  (3,068,164)

     Balance - End of the Year 457,342 1,184,303 9,568,870 269,077  - 11,479,592

* The Bank adopts a policy for suspending interest off - the consolidated statement of financial position for credit facilities 
with lawsuits outstanding in Courts. During the year 2016, suspended interest on non-performing credit facilities off - the 
consolidated statement of financial position,  as per the decision of the Board of Directors, amounted to JD 6,887,325 (JD 
8,289,525 for the year 2015). Suspended interest on non-performing credit facilities out of the system totaled JD 41,365,916 
as of December 31, 2016 (JD 34,478,591 for the year 2015).
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8. Financial Assets at Fair Value through Profit or Loss 
The details of this item are as follows

2016 2015

JD JD

Quoted shares in active markets 10,794,946 11,761,762 

Quoted bonds in active markets 52,414,574 58,847,107 

Unquoted bonds in active markets 6,496,000 5,610,191 

    Total 69,705,520 76,219,060 

Bonds Analysis:

  Fixed rate 55,434,516 48,848,668 

  Floating rate 3,476,058 15,608,630 

    Total 58,910,574 64,457,298 

9. Financial Assets at Fair Value through Comprehensive Income
The details of this item are as follows:

2016 2015

JD JD

Quoted shares in active markets 7,378,426 15,744,333 

Unquoted shares in active markets 19,927,727 19,484,946 

     Total 27,306,153 35,229,279 

- Realized losses from the sale of shares through comprehensive income amounted to JD 486,081 in 2016, (JD 42 during the year 
2015) booked directly to retained earnings in the consolidated statement  of owners' equity.

- Cash dividends on the above investments amounted to JD 1,096,853 for the year ended December 31, 2016 (JD 870,143 for 
the year ended December 31, 2015).

10. Financial Assets at Amortized Cost 
The details of this item are as follows:

2016 2015

JD JD

Quoted Financial Assets: 

  Companies bonds and debentures 15,842,727 3,104,401 

     Total Quoted Financial Assets 15,842,727 3,104,401 

Unquoted Financial Assets: 

  Treasury bonds and bills 447,399,676 486,175,075 

  Companies' bonds and debentures 15,953,000 16,470,500 

    Total Unquoted Financial Assets 463,352,676 502,645,575 

     Total 479,195,403 505,749,976 

Bonds and Bills Analysis:

  Fixed rate  464,750,403  491,304,976 

  Floating rate  14,445,000  14,445,000 

     Total  479,195,403  505,749,976 



61 2016 - ANNUAL REPORT JORDAN KUWAIT BANK

11.  Property and Equipment - Net
a. The details of this item are as follows:

Year 2016 Land Buildings
Furniture, 

Fixtures and  
Equipment

Vehicles Computers Building 
Improvements Total

JD JD JD JD JD JD JD

Cost:

  Balance - beginning of the year 3,046,712 9,726,226 10,764,324 707,632 15,009,540 12,528,188 51,782,622 

  Additions  - 645,388 1,154,430 617,805 1,351,558 2,918,432 6,687,613 

  Disposals  -  -  (17,992)  (3,849)  (96,997)  -  (118,838)

     Balance - End of the Year 3,046,712 10,371,614 11,9.00,762 1,321,588 16,264,101 15,446,620 58,351,397 

Accumulated Depreciation:

  Balance - beginning of the year  - 1,811,734 7,584,305 471,502 10,659,636 9,508,786 30,035,963 

  Depreciation for the year  - 174,322 805,758 127,442 1,448,097 1,225,253 3,780,872 

  Disposals  -  -  (17,992)  (3,849)  (96,780)  -  (118,621)

     Balance - End of the Year  -  1,986,056  8,372,071  595,095  12,010,953  10,734,039  33,698,214 

     Net Book Value of Property and Equipment 3,046,712 8,385,558 3,528,691 726,493 4,253,148 4,712,581 24,653,183 

  Add: Down payments on property and
    equipment purchases  -  -  4,125,844  -  -  - 4,125,844 

    Net Book Value of Property and
     Equipment - End of the Year 3,046,712 8,385,558 7,654,535 726,493 4,253,148 4,712,581 28,779,027 

Year 2015 Land Buildings
Furniture, 

Fixtures and  
Equipment

Vehicles Computers Building 
Improvements Total

Cost:

  Balance - beginning of the year 2,690,811 3,870,155 9,503,573 650,432 13,388,429 11,273,690 41,377,090 

  Additions 355,901 6,078,835 1,286,415 70,500 1,621,111 1,254,498 10,667,260 

  Disposals  -  (222,764)  (25,664)  (13,300)  -  -  (261,728)

     Balance - End of the Year 3,046,712 9,726,226 10,764,324 707,632 15,009,540 12,528,188 51,782,622 

Accumulated Depreciation:

  Balance - beginning of the year  - 1,820,740 6,882,338 423,044 9,416,736 8,389,440 26,932,298 

  Depreciation for the year  - 134,128 727,631 51,617 1,242,900 1,119,346 3,275,622 

  Disposals  -  (143,134)  (25,664)  (3,159)  -  -  (171,957)

     Balance - End of the Year  -  1,811,734  7,584,305  471,502  10,659,636  9,508,786  30,035,963 

     Net Book Value of Property and Equipment 3,046,712 7,914,492 3,180,019 236,130 4,349,904 3,019,402 21,746,659 

  Add: Down payments on property and
     equipment purchases  -  -  4,055,138  -  -  - 4,055,138 

    Net Book Value of Property and
     Equipment - End of the Year 3,046,712 7,914,492 7,235,157 236,130 4,349,904 3,019,402 25,801,797 

Annual depreciation rate %  - 3 9 - 15 15 20 20 

b. Property and equipment include an amount of JD 22,849,169 as of December 31, 2016 (JD 19,049,196 as of December 31, 
2015) representing fully depreciated assets.
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12. Intangible Assets - Net
The details of this item are as follows:

Computer Software and Applications Total
Year 2016 JD JD

Balance - beginning of the year  7,065,200  7,065,200 
Additions  1,725,801  1,725,801 
Amortization for the year  1,787,853  1,787,853 

   Balance - End of the Year  7,003,148  7,003,148 

Annual amortization rate % 20-33
Year 2015 Computer Software and Applications Total

Balance - beginning of the year  7,362,498  7,362,498 
Additions  1,655,475  1,655,475 
Amortization for the year  1,952,773  1,952,773 

   Balance - End of the Year  7,065,200  7,065,200 

Annual amortization rate % 20 - 33

13. Other Assets
The details of this item are as follows:

2016 2015
JD JD

Accrued interest and revenue 16,944,811 15,850,637 
Prepaid expenses 2,252,548 2,512,764 
Assets seized by the Bank against debts - net 136,494,967 156,912,370 
Unrealized gains from financial derivatives (Note 37)  - 741 
Debtors * 933,086 69,795 
Clearing checks 6,448,782 126,624 
Others * 1,700,995 2,920,463 

     Total  164,775,189  178,393,394 

** Debtors and other assets include balances relating to the subsidiary companies of JD 206,931 as of December 31, 2016 (JD 
980,913 as of December 31, 2015). 

- The Central Bank of Jordan's instructions require that the Bank dispose of seized real estate within a period not exceeding two years 
from the start date of seizure. The Central Bank, in exceptional cases, extend this period for a maximum of two years respectively.

The movement on assets seized by the Bank against due debts was as follows:

2016 2015
Seized Property Other Seized Assets * Total Total

JD JD JD JD
Balance - beginning of the year - net 153,273,679 3,638,691 156,912,370 153,234,838 
Additions ** 6,910,198  - 6,910,198 19,271,651 
Disposals  (21,724,282)  (2,183,216)  (23,907,498)  (11,952,386)
Provision as per CBJ instructions ***  (2,382,899)  -  (2,382,899)  (699,945)
Impairment loss  (1,037,204)  -  (1,037,204)  (2,941,788)

  Balance - End of the Year 135,039,492 1,455,475 136,494,967 156,912,370 

* This item represents shares in a local bank seized against due debts during the year 2014. Part of it has been sold during 2016, 
and profits of JD 211,318 have been recorded.

** This item includes additions of new properties during the year 2016 of around JD 456,000, in addition to the costs of development 
and completion of construction works until they become ready for sale. Moreover, development and construction works have 
been completed and all the properties have become available for sale during the second half of the year 2016.

*** This item represents a provision for properties seized by the Bank based on the related instructions of the Central Bank of 
Jordan. Moreover, the Bank has started to calculate a gradual provision for the assets seized against debts, whose seizure 
exceeded 4 years.
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14. Banks and Financial Institutions Deposits
The details of this item are as follows:

December 31, 2016 December 31, 2015

Inside Kingdom Outside Kingdom Total Inside Kingdom Outside Kingdom Total

JD JD JD JD JD JD

Current and call accounts   -  2,029,310  2,029,310  30,715,787  249,514,947  280,230,734 

Time deposits *  179,022,000  203,233,039  382,255,039  -  35,780,241  35,780,241 

     Total  179,022,000  205,262,349  384,284,349  30,715,787  285,295,188  316,010,975 

* Time deposits due within a period exceeding three months amounted to JD 40,275,116 as of December 31, 2016 (JD 28,785,477 
as of December 31, 2015).

15. Customers' Deposits
The details of this item are as follows:

December 31, 2016

Individuals
Companies Government and 

Public Sector Total
Large Small and Medium 

 JD JD JD JD JD

Current and call accounts 324,040,596 107,637,254 180,375,707 11,447,357 623,500,914 

Saving deposits 167,305,167 4,814,158 5,954,718 99,446 178,173,489 

Time deposits subject to notice 593,276,065 176,368,810 94,842,562 36,464,982 900,952,419 

Certificates of deposit 774,493  -  -  - 774,493 

     Total 1,085,396,321 288,820,222 281,172,987 48,011,785 1,703,401,315 

December 31, 2015

Individuals
Companies Government and 

Public Sector Total
Large Small and Medium

Current and call accounts 331,540,348 153,813,799 195,647,043 11,545,194 692,546,384 

Saving deposits 156,803,172 5,424,536 1,000,312 124,557 163,352,577 

Time deposits subject to notice 564,595,843 192,190,240 194,629,777 91,987,361 1,043,403,221 

Certificates of deposit 1,603,704  -  -  - 1,603,704 

     Total 1,054,543,067 351,428,575 391,277,132 103,657,112 1,900,905,886 

- The Government of Jordan and the public sector deposits inside the Kingdom amounted to JD 48,011,785, equivalent to (2.8%) 
of total customers' deposits as of December 31, 2016 (JD 103,657,112, equivalent to (5.5%) as of December 31, 2015). 

 - Non-interest bearing deposits amounted to JD 407,237,963, equivalent to (23.9%) of total customers' deposits as of December 
31, 2016 (JD 580,284,897, equivalent to (30.5%) as of December 31, 2015). 

-  Restricted deposits amounted to JD 20,709,957, equivalent to (1.2%) of total customers' deposits as of December 31, 2016 
(JD 15,203,518, equivalent to (0.8%) as of December 31, 2015).

 - Dormant deposits amounted to JD 21,136,889 as of December 31, 2016 (JD 31,062,695 as of December 31, 2015).

16. Cash Margins
The details of this item are as follows:

2016 2015

JD JD

Cash margins against direct credit facilities  63,804,633  66,917,689 

Cash margins against indirect credit facilities  24,072,933  19,902,103 

Other margins  82,308  82,308 

    Total  87,959,874  86,902,100 
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17. Borrowed Funds
These funds have been obtained under a loan agreement with the Central Bank of Jordan and the Jordan Company for Refinancing 
Real Estate Mortgage for a period ranging from less than 1 to 15 years to finance micro -, small -, and medium - sized companies. 
These also include grants obtained from the Central Bank of Jordan for two years to finance micro -, small -, and medium-sized 
companies within a medium-term funding program as follows:

Funds 
Borrowed Amount Number of Installments Installment

Repayment
Lending 

Interest Rate Collaterals

December 31, 2016 JD JD

Loan through the Central Bank
 of Jordan 4,000,000 4,000,000 Repaid over 12 years Semi annual 3.05%  -

Loan through the Central Bank
 of Jordan 3,000,000 3,000,000 Repaid over 8 years Semi annual 2.5%  -

Loan through the Central Bank
 of Jordan 3,600,000 3,600,000 Repaid over 15 years Semi annual 2.69%  -

Central Bank of Jordan's finance 4,130,022 3,601,665 Repaid over 5 years Monthly 1.906% Upon demand

Central Bank of Jordan's finance 500,000 321,430 Repaid over 1 years Quarterly 1.75% Upon demand

Central Bank of Jordan's finance 322,503 322,503 Repaid over 1 years Renewed annually 1.75% Upon demand

Local Bank (Overdraft related to a 
subsidiary company) 5,000,000 2,036,266 Not Applicable Not Applicable 6%  -

Local Bank (Loan related to a 
subsidiary company) 5,000,000 1,754,678 

Repaid in 36
installments from the 
date of its exploitation

6.5%  -

Loan through the Jordan Company for 
Refinancing Real Estate Mortgage 5,000,000 5,000,000 Paid under one 

installment during 2017
Paid in 36 installment  
from utilization date 3.9%  -

Loan through the Jordan Company for 
Refinancing Real Estate Mortgage 5,000,000 5,000,000 Paid under one 

installment during 2018
Paid in one

installment during 2016 4.35%  -

Loan through the Jordan Company for 
Refinancing Real Estate Mortgage 5,000,000 5,000,000 Paid under one 

installment during 2018
Paid in one

installment during 2016 5.75%  -

     Total 40,552,525 33,636,542 

Funds 
Borrowed Amount Number of Installments Installment

Repayment
Lending 

Interest Rate Collaterals

December 31, 2015

Loan through the Central Bank
 of Jordan 3,000,000 3,000,000 Repaid over 10 years Semi annual 2.5%  -

Loan through the Central Bank
 of Jordan 4,000,000 4,000,000 Repaid over 15 years Semi annual 2.5%  -

Central Bank of Jordan's finance 2,015,900 2,015,900 2 years Semi annual 2.0% Notes

Loan through the Jordan Company for 
Refinancing Real Estate Mortgage 5,000,000 5,000,000 Paid under one

installment during 2016
Paid under one

installment during 2016 5.8%  -

Loan through the Jordan Company for 
Refinancing Real Estate Mortgage 5,000,000 5,000,000 Paid under one

installment during 2018
Paid under one

installment during 2018 5.75%  -

Loan through the Jordan Company for 
Refinancing Real Estate Mortgage 5,000,000 5,000,000 Paid under one

installment during 2018
Paid under one

installment during 2018 4.35%  -

     Total 24,015,900 24,015,900 
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18. Other Provisions
The details of this item are as follows:

Year 2016
Balance - 

Beginning of 
the Year

Provision  
for the Year

Released 
during

the Year

Balance -
End of

the Year

JD JD JD JD

Provision for end of service indemnity  9,897,915  1,980,699  642,627  11,235,987 

Provision for lawsuits against the Bank and contingent claims  628,682  270,000  29,138  869,544 

    Total  10,526,597  2,250,699  671,765  12,105,531 

Year 2015

Provision for end-of-service indemnity  8,780,521  1,629,890  512,496  9,897,915 

Provision for lawsuits against the Bank and contingent claims  443,369  185,313  -  628,682 

    Total  9,223,890  1,815,203  512,496  10,526,597 

19. Income Tax
a. Income tax provision
The movement on the provision for income tax during the year is as follows:

2016 2015

JD JD

Balance - beginning of the year  13,238,965  13,789,069 

Income tax for the year  17,316,878  16,826,472 

Income tax paid  (15,988,541)  (17,376,576)

     Balance - End of the Year 14,567,302 13,238,965

b. Income tax expense
 Income tax expense for the year in the consolidated statement of income consists of the following:

2016 2015

JD JD

Income tax for the year 17,316,878 16,826,472

Effect of deferred tax assets for the year  (2,735,146)  (866,121)

Effect of deferred tax liabilities for the year  (1,095,309) 1,095,309

     Total 13,486,423 17,055,660

c. Tax Status
Below are the details of the tax status of the Bank's branches and subsidiary companies:

Branches / Companies Income Tax Return up 
to End of the Year 

Final Settlement up
to End of the Year 

Payment to Income and
Sales Tax Department

Years under 
Dispute

Jordan branches 2015 2014 Accrued tax has been paid None

Palestine branches 2015 2014 Accrued tax has been paid 2007 and 2008

Cyprus branch 2015 2015 Accrued tax has been paid None

Ejarah Capital Leasing Company 2015 None Accrued tax has been paid None

United Financial Investment Company 2015 2014 Accrued tax has been paid 2013
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d- Deferred Tax Assets / Liabilities:
The details of this item are as follows:

2016 2016 2015
Balance - 
Beginning
of the Year

Amounts Balance - End  
of the Year

Deferred
Tax 

Deferred
Tax Additions  Realized

JD JD JD JD JD JD

a- Deferred Tax Assets

  Provision for end-of-service indemnity  9,897,915  1,980,699  642,627  11,235,987  3,898,626  3,433,785 

  Provisions for seized assets  3,822,140  3,420,103  -  7,242,243  2,534,785  1,337,749 

  Provision for accounts receivable -
    subsidiary company  1,092,981  253,546  -  1,346,527  323,166  262,315 

  Provision for lawsuits against the Bank  628,682  270,000  29,138  869,544  304,011  219,529 

  Provision for watch list credit facilities  774,357  1,189,068  774,357  1,189,068  416,174  271,025 

  Valuation losses from financial assets
    at fair value through profit or loss  5,345,971  2,126,963  17,417  7,455,517  2,651,961  1,869,174 

     Total  21,562,046  9,240,379  1,463,539  29,338,886  10,128,723  7,393,577 

b- Deferred Tax Liabilities *

  Financial assets at fair value
     valuation reserve *  6,160,456  2,145,428  (86,775) 8,392,659  2,937,750 2,165,706 

  Depreciation and amortization  3,129,454  -  3,129,454  -  - 1,095,309 

     Total  9,289,910  2,145,428  3,042,679  8,392,659  2,937,750  3,261,015 

* Deferred tax liabilities resulting from the revaluation gain of financial assets at fair value through comprehensive income are 
stated within the financial assets valuation reserve in the consolidated statement of owners' equity.

The movement on deferred tax assets / liabilities during the year is as follows:

2016 2015

Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities

JD JD JD JD

Balance - beginning of the year 7,393,577 3,261,015 6,527,456 3,077,201

Additions during the year 3,244,032 751,218 2,217,260 1,095,309

Released during the year  (508,885)  (1,074,483)  (1,351,139)  (911,495)

    Balance - End of the Year 10,128,724 2,937,750 7,393,577 3,261,015
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e- A summary of the reconciliation between declared income and taxable income:
  The following is the reconciliation between declared income and taxable income:

2016 2015

JD JD

Declared income 43,492,233 56,467,336

Add: Unacceptable tax expenses 17,075,693 10,641,109

Less: Profit not subject to tax  (7,161,227)  (10,451,322)

Taxable Income 53,406,699 56,657,123

Income Tax Rates:

  Jordan branches 35% 35%

  Palestine branches 20% 20%

  Cyprus branches 12.5% 12.5%

  Subsidiary companies 24% 24%

20. Other Liabilities
The details of this item are as follows:

2016 2015

JD JD

Accrued interest 6,285,904  6,851,251 

Inward transfers 1,194,377  869,056 

Accounts payable (a) 3,297,870  2,424,817 

Accrued expenses 1,750,683  1,677,487 

Temporary deposits - customers 2,893,931  3,250,992 

Temporary deposits (b) 4,042,262  3,692,623 

Shareholders' deposits (c) 3,987,871  4,394,905 

Accepted and certified checks 5,491,821  6,131,243 

Lock boxes deposits 466,935  448,339 

Subscriptions deposits (d) 131,949  137,719 

Transactions in transit  -  79,853 

Other liabilities (a) 6,374,309  5,658,311 

     Total 35,917,912  35,616,596 

(a) Accounts payable and other liabilities include balances related to the subsidiaries of JD 2,612,727 as of December 31, 2016 
(JD 3,689,445 as of December 31, 2015).

(b) This item represents temporary payment deposits to public shareholding and other companies.  
(c) This item represents the net balance resulting from selling unsubscribed shares with a total number of 1,136,495 shares at 

market price during the year 2006. The difference between the market price and issue price of the share of JD 3 has been 
recorded as shareholders' deposits.

(d) This item represents refunds of subscriptions in public shareholding companies under establishment. 
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21. Authorized and Paid-up Capital 
Paid-up capital amounted to JD 100 million, divided into 100 million shares at a par value of JD 1 per share as of December 31, 
2016 and 2015.

22. Reserves
The details of the reserves as of December 31, 2016 and 2015 are as follows:

a. Statutory Reserve
This item represents the accumulated amount of the appropriations from income before tax at 10% during the current and 
previous years according to the Banks Law and the Jordanian Companies Law. This amount is not distributable to shareholders.

b. Voluntary Reserve
This item represents the accumulated amount of appropriations from income before tax at a maximum rate of 20% per year. 
The voluntary reserve is to be used according to a resolution by the Board of Directors. The General Assembly has the right to 
distribute this reserve or any portion therefrom as dividends to shareholders.

c- Pro-Cyclicality Reserve
This item represents the risk reserve taken according to the Palestine Monetary Authority at 15% from annual net income after 
tax, for the purpose of supporting the Bank's capital in Palestine and facing risks related to the Banking sector. This reserve will 
accumulate until reaching 20% of paid-up capital. It is not allowed to use any part of the pro-cyclicality fluctuation reserve or to 
reduce it in any way without the prior approval of the Palestine Monetary Authority. 

d- General Banking Risks Reserve
This item represents the general banking risks reserve in accordance with the Central Bank of Jordan regulations. 

The following represents the distribution of the general banking risks reserve according to the Bank's branches:

2016 2015

JD JD

Jordan branches 10,992,541 11,122,323

Cyprus branches 1,754,196 1,560,005

Palestine branches 214,719 214,710

Subsidiary Companies 564,230 456,000

     Total 13,525,686 13,353,038

- The following are the restricted reserves:

Name of Reserve 2016 2015 Nature of Restriction

JD JD

Statutory reserve 81,803,089 77,479,744 According to the Jordanian Companies Law and the Banks Law.

Pro-cyclicality reserve 227,597 227,597 According to Palestine Monetary Authority Instructions.

General banking risks reserve 13,525,686 13,353,038 According to the Central Bank of  Jordan.

23. Financial Assets at Fair Value Valuation Reserve - Net of Tax
- The movement during the year on this item is as follows:

2016 2015

JD JD

Balance - beginning of the year 4,280,152 6,043,831 

Unrealized gains (losses) 2,615,143  (2,675,174)

Deferred tax liabilities  (762,023) 911,495 

   Balance - End of the Year *  6,133,272  4,280,152 

* The financial assets valuation reserve is presented as a net amount after deducting the related deferred tax liabilities of JD 
2,937,750 as of  December 31, 2016 (JD 2,165,706 as of  December 31, 2015), and it is not transferable to the consolidated 
statement of income.
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24. Retained Earnings 
The movement during the year on this item is as follows:

2016 2015

JD JD

Balance - beginning of the year  109,880,864  108,377,609 
(Loss) from selling financial assets at fair value through comprehensive  
  income - Note (9)  (486,081)  (42)

Income for the year  29,747,029  38,558,054 

(Transferred) to reserves  (13,142,683)  (17,054,757)

Dividends paid (Note 25)   (20,000,000)  (20,000,000)

   Balance - End of the Year  105,999,129  109,880,864 

- Retained earnings includes JD 10,128,723 as of December 31, 2016 restricted against deferred tax assets according to the 
Central Bank of Jordan instructions (JD 7,393,577 as of December 31, 2015).  

- Retained earnings includes JD 3,927,791 as of December 31, 2016 (JD 4,251,839 as of December 31, 2015) restricted against 
the effect of adopting International Financial Reporting Standard (9) according to the instructions of the Jordan Securities 
Commission.  

The restriction is waived for the amount realized from actual sale, which represents the revaluation of financial assets.   
-  Use of the General Banking Risks Reserve is restricted and requires the pre-approval of the Central Bank of Jordan. 
-  Use of Credit financial assets valuation reserve is restricted and requires the preapproval of the Central Bank of Jordan.

25. Proposed Dividends
Proposed dividends to shareholders for the current year is 20% of paid-up capital, which is  equivalent to JD 20 million. This 
percentage is subject to the General Assembly's approval. In the prior year, dividends were distributed at 20% of paid-up capital, 
which is also equivalent to JD 20 million. 

26. Interest Income
The details of this item are as follows:

2016 2015

Direct credit facilities: JD JD

Individuals (retail)

  Overdraft accounts 1,738 1,801

  Loans and promissory notes 8,080,112 7,151,097

  Credit cards 699,162 771,433

Real - estate loans 9,955,761 7,904,660

Companies

Large 

  Overdraft accounts 10,675,398 11,067,685

  Loans and promissory notes 44,210,243 44,654,428

Small and medium

  Overdraft accounts 1,145,660 1,329,930

  Loans and promissory notes 9,011,681 9,016,499

Government and public sector 8,701,922 8,154,951

Balances at central banks 1,776,942 3,663,921

Balances and deposits at banks and financial institutions 5,537,911 6,737,651

Financial assets at amortized cost 23,217,350 25,427,677

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 4,458,603 3,902,139

         Total 127,472,483 129,783,872
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27. Interest Expense
The details of this item are as follows:

2016 2015

JD JD

Deposits at banks and financial  institutions 5,178,106 5,261,799

Customers deposits

  Time and notice deposits 25,353,576 27,295,138

  Cash margins 1,311,584 1,321,623

  Current and call accounts 203,625 1,015,454

  Saving accounts 700,290 587,768

  Certificates of deposit 20,478 32,993

  Borrowed funds 1,245,040 808,023

  Loan guarantee fees 3,605,050 3,192,295

        Total 37,617,749 39,515,093

28. Net Commission Income 
The details of this item are as follows:

2016 2015

JD JD

Commission-direct credit facilities 4,740,060 4,800,511

Commission-indirect credit facilities 6,373,131 5,866,182

Other commissions 1,164,117 1,274,056

      Total 12,277,308 11,940,749

29. Foreign Currency Income
The details of this item are as follows:

2016 2015

JD JD

Income from trading / dealing  4,234,491  5,875,556 

Gain / (Loss) from valuation  1,194,136  (1,650,356)

      Total  5,428,627  4,225,200 
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30. (Losses) from Financial Assets at Fair Value through Profit or Loss
The details of this item are as follows:

Realized Gains Unrealized (Losses) Dividends Income Total

JD JD JD JD

Year 2016

Companies shares 808,774  (1,147,488) 367,717 29,003 

Companies bonds 938,884  (1,034,146)  -  (95,262)

     Total 1,747,658  (2,181,634) 367,717  (66,259)

Realized Gains Unrealized (Losses) Dividends Income Total

JD JD JD JD

Year 2015

Companies shares 86,551  (2,180) 435,691 520,062 

Companies bonds 9,106  (1,162,628)  -  (1,153,522)

     Total 95,657  (1,164,808) 435,691  (633,460)

31.  (Loss) from Sale of Financial Assets at Amortized Cost
During the year 2015, financial assets at amortized cost have been called by the bonds issuer at a par value of JD 2,127,000, 
which resulted in losses of JD 38,683 for the year. Moreover, the maturity date of these financial assets is September 29, 2020.

32. Other Income
The details of this item are as follows:

2016 2015
JD JD

Rental of deposit boxes 184,989 180,739 
Stamps income 52,872 12,590 
Credit cards income 4,582,719 4,421,784 
Recovery of debts previously written-off 1,104,910 5,792,861 
Shares trading revenue - subsidiary company 1,078,851 3,615,353 
Telecommunication income 370,038 369,611 
Transfers income 1,523,303 1,495,562 
Gain on sale of seized assets 797,966 1,906,176 
Gain on sale of property and equipment 6,044 312,049 
Others 2,359,290 3,160,615 
     Total  12,060,982  21,267,340 

33. Employees Expenses
The details of this item are as follows:

2016 2015
JD JD

  Salaries, allowances and employees' benefits 21,232,828 19,328,302 
  Contribution in social security 2,106,652 1,873,821 
  Medical expenses 1,261,990 1,183,772 
  Staff training 268,946 149,433 
  Travel expenses - per diems 382,281 385,720 
  Employees life insurance 118,481 96,716 
  Value added tax 83,160 116,570 
     Total  25,454,338  23,134,334 
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34. Other Expenses
The details of this item are as follows:

2016 2015

JD JD

  Rentals  2,711,899  2,331,740 

  Stationery  879,104  811,021 

  Advertisements  1,216,952  1,075,371 

  Subscriptions  210,316  220,829 

  Telecommunication expenses  1,271,221  1,072,993 

  Maintenance and repairs  3,082,328  2,243,045 

  Insurance expenses  983,418  833,709 

  Legal fees  123,040  34,896 

  Water, electricity and heating  1,474,744  1,443,174 

  Fees, taxes and stamps  943,732  802,754 

  Professional fees  248,559  222,872 

  Cards services expenses  2,856,917  1,983,690 

  Transportation expense  139,450  118,932 

  Correspondents services fees  251,627  103,008 

  Security services  216,730  214,201 

  Donations and social responsibility  704,996  764,899 

  Hospitality  110,782  131,941 

  Board of Directors' remunerations  108,400  91,600 

  Impairment loss of assets seized by the Bank against due debts (Note 13)  3,420,103  3,641,733 

  Management fees (Note 38)  493,464  326,530 

  Others  2,654,676  1,807,142 

      Total  24,102,458  20,276,080 

35. Earnings Per Share - Bank's Shareholders (Basic and Diluted)
The details of this item are as follows:

2016 2015

JD JD

Income for the year attributed to the Bank's shareholders 29,747,029 38,558,054

Share Share

Weighted average number of shares 100,000,000 100,000,000

Earnings per share pertains to the Bank's Shareholders: JD / Share JD / Share 

(Basic and Diluted) 0.297 0.386
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36. Cash and Cash Equivalents
The details of this item are as follows

2016 2015

JD JD

  Balances at central banks due within three months 279,155,436 402,439,784

  Add: Balances at banks and financial institutions due within three months 212,859,226 224,544,517

  Less: Banks and financial institutions deposits due within three months  (344,009,233)  (287,225,498)

           Restricted balances - Note (5)  (2,558,072)  (2,558,072)

             Total 145,447,357 337,200,731

37. Financial Derivatives
The details of this item are as follows:

Maturity of Nominal Value

As of December 31, 2016
Positive

Fair
Value

Negative
Fair

Value

Total
Nominal 
Amounts

Within 3 
Months

From 3 
Months up to 
12 Months

From 1 
Year up

to 3 Years
More than

3 Years

JD JD JD JD JD JD JD

Trading derivatives:

Forward sales contracts in 
foreign currencies  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Future contracts  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

 -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Forward purchase contracts 
in foreign currencies  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Future contracts  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

 -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

        Total  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Maturity of Nominal Value

As of December 31, 2015
Positive

Fair
Value

Negative
Fair

Value

Total
Nominal 
Amounts

Within 3 
Months

From 3 
Months up to 
12 Months

From 1 
Year up

to 3 Years
More than

3 Years

JD JD JD JD JD JD JD

Trading derivatives:

Forward sale contracts in 
foreign currencies  -  741  (652,057)  (652,057)  -  -  - 

Future contracts  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

 -  741  (652,057)  (652,057)  -  -  - 

Forward purchase contracts 
in foreign currencies  -  -  652,798  652,798  -  -  - 

Future contracts  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

 -  -  652,798  652,798  -  -  - 

        Total  -  741  741  741  -  -  - 

Nominal value represents the outstanding transaction value at the end of the year, and does not represent market risks or credit 
risks.



74 ANNUAL REPORT JORDAN KUWAIT BANK - 2016

38. Transactions with Related Parties 
The Bank entered into transactions with subsidiary companies, affiliate companies, major shareholders, Board of Directors, and 
executive management within the normal banking practice and according to the normal interest rates. All of the credit facilities 
granted to related parties are considered to be performing facilities, and no impairment provisions have been taken as of the 
consolidated financial statements date. 
The following is a summary of the transactions with related parties during the year:

Related Party Total

Affiliates Board of Directors 
Members *

Executive 
Managers* Others ** 2016 2015

JD JD JD JD JD JD

On- Consolidated Statement of
   Financial Position Items:

  Direct credit facilities *  - 104,567 1,918,715 3,109  2,026,391  1,687,774 

  Banks and financial institutions deposits  - 193,339,532  -  -  193,339,532  149,094,426 

  Deposits  - 8,692,671 1,571,157 364,854  10,628,682  48,718,354 

  Deposits at banks and financial institutions  - 932,461  -  -  932,461  - 

  Cash margins  - 2,500  - 133,620  136,120  305,890 

  Financial assets at fair value through the 
income statement  -  -  -  -  -  11,412,064 

  Financial assets at fair value through other 
comprehensive income 15,700,095  -  - 3,230,000  18,930,095  18,408,077 

  Financial assets at amortized cost  - 14,842,209  -  -  14,842,209  2,103,603 

  Other financial assets  -  -  -  -  -  900,000 

Off- Consolidated Statement of Financial 
Position Items:

  Letters of guarantee  - 33,000  - 60,000 93,000 84,400 

  Letters of credit 217,673 165,197  - 4,254,000 4,636,870 8,699,552 

Total

2016 2015

Consolidated Statement of Income items: JD JD

  Interest and commission income ***  - 670,003 106,643 75  776,721  883,946 

  Interest and commission expense **** 489 5,213,812 32,441  -  5,246,742  4,070,221 

  Management fees  -  493,464  -  -  493,464  326,530 

  Financial assets dividends 437,999  -  -  -  437,999  687,549 

* Included in the direct credit facilities granted to the Board of Directors members of JD 31,794, representing credit facilities 
granted to United Financial Investments Company (subsidiary company) Board of Directors as of December 31, 2016 (There 
are no direct credit facilities as of December 31, 2015).

* Included in the direct credit facilities granted to the executive management and Board of Directors of JD 549,549, representing 
credit facilities granted to the Board of Directors of Ejarah Finance Leasing Company (subsidiary company) as of December 
31, 2016 (JD 505,643 as of December 31, 2015).

** Represents companies in which the Bank has voting rights in their Boards of Directors.
*** Interest rate ranges from 4.0% to 9.5%.
**** Interest rate ranges from 1.25% to 3.25%.
- The Bank has three members on the Board of Directors of the United Financial Investments Company, four members in 

Ejarah for Finance Leasing Company and three members in the board of directors of the Specialized Managerial Company for 
Investment and Financial Consultation.

Salaries and Remunerations of Executive Management:
Salaries of the Executive Management of the Bank and its subsidiaries amounted to JD 3,994,922 for the year 2016 (against JD 
3,845,342 for the year 2015).
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39. Fair Value of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities not Shown at Fair Value in the 
Consolidated Financial Statements 
There are no significant differences between the book value and fair value of the financial assets and liabilities at the end of the 
year 2016 and 2015.

40. Risks Management 
The Board of Directors performs its role in ensuring that the Bank manages the various risks and adopts the policies and 
procedures that streamline the Bank’s risks management through the Risks and Audit Committee. Moreover, the Bank sets the 
risks acceptable limits (risk appetite). The Risks Management Department evaluates, controls, and recommends mitigating risks, 
and submits the necessary reports to higher management independently from the other Bank’s departments (risk takers) which 
perform other banking activities in order to ensure the objectivity of the Risks Management Department in analyzing the various 
risk types. 
Furthermore, the Risks Management Department is responsible for the market operating, credit, and liquidity risks (within the 
Assets and Liabilities Model) of the Bank’s local and external branches. It submits its reports to the Risks and Audit Committee 
within the Board of Directors. These reports are audited by the Internal Audit Department. 
Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its credit terms, and/or its creditworthiness will deteriorate resulting 
in financial loss to the Bank. 
The Board of Directors periodically reviews the credit risk management policies compatible with the laws and the Central Bank 
of Jordan instructions after being prepared by the concerned departments. Moreover, the Board of Directors ensures that 
management of the Bank works according to these policies and executes the related requirements. Moreover, these policies 
include the Bank’s credit policy through which many factors are determined such as: 
- Setting clear requirements, policies, and decision-making procedures relating to the new or to be renewed credit facilities or 

any material amendment thereon within specified authorities that match the size and specifications of the credit facilities. 
Among the factors taken into consideration when granting credit are the purpose of the credit facilities and payment sources. 

- Taking decisions within qualified management levels. Moreover, the Bank has various credit committees at the executive 
management level and the Board of Directors’ level. This is done away from the impact of conflict of interest in a manner that 
guarantees the soundness and independence of the evaluation procedures of the customer requesting credit and the related 
compatibility with the Bank’s credit policy requirements.

- Laying out clear and effective policies and procedures for managing and executing credit including continuous analysis of the 
ability and readiness of the borrower to pay according to contractual terms, monitoring the credit documentation and any 
credit terms and covenants, and continuously controlling and evaluating guarantees. 

- Establishing adequate policies and procedures to ensure evaluation and management of non-performing credit and its 
classification in addition to evaluating the adequacy of the provisions monthly based on the instructions of the Central Bank of 
Jordan and other regulatory authorities under which the Bank operates. This is in addition to a clear policy for writing off debt. 
Moreover, the Board of Directors approves the adequacy of these provisions.

- Having an independent department that follows up on troubled debts through amicable settlements prior to dealing with them 
legally. 

- Determining the type and size of the required guarantee based on the customer’s credit risk evaluation according to clear 
acceptance procedures and customer’s evaluation standards. 

- Periodically monitoring the fair value of the guarantees. In case their value becomes less than what is specified in the loan 
terms, the customer is required to provide more guarantees. Upon assessing the adequacy of the provisions, the necessary 
evaluation of the guarantees is performed.   

- Disposing of any guarantee owned after repayment of the customer’s debts. In general, seized real estates are not used for the 
Bank’s operations.

- Having an internal credit rating system for its customers documented and approved by the Board of Directors. Any factor 
contributing to the customer’s default is considered in a manner that helps in measuring and rating the customer’s risks, and 
consequently, facilitating the decision-making process and the pricing of credit facilities.  

- Having clear rating standards taking into consideration the various financial and non-financial factors. The credit rating system is 
reviewed and evaluated independently from the credit department through the Risks Management Department in coordination 
with the concerned departments.

- Having specified and documented controls and ceilings with clear policies and procedures that guarantee commitment to these 
ceilings and obtaining prior approvals for any override. These controls and ceilings are reviewed and amended periodically, if 
necessary. Moreover, there are ceilings specified and approved by the Board of Directors relating to dealing with various banks, 
countries, and economic sectors. 

- Providing the Board of Directors with a clear picture and analysis of the credit portfolio through the Risks Management 
Department that clarifies the portfolio’s quality, various classifications, and any concentrations therein, in addition to historical 
and banking benchmarks. 

- The Bank adheres to the instructions of the Central Bank of Jordan relating to credit concentration and related parties. The Bank 
deals with them on an aggregate basis and accords them special care, exercises control, and expresses explicit and clear 
disclosure thereon when preparing the Bank’s consolidated financial statements. The required credit facilities are presented to 
the Board of Directors by the related parties provided that the persons granted the credit facilities have no influence over the 
Board of Directors and receive no preferential treatment over the Bank’s customers.
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Credit risk exposure (after the provision for impairment loss and interest in suspense and before guarantees and other risk -  
mitigating factors):

2016 2015

On- Consolidated Statement of Financial Position Items JD JD

Balances at central banks 239,266,173 362,947,946 

Balances at banks and  financial institutions 212,859,226 224,544,517 

Deposits at banks and financial institutions 14,166,627 9,107,715 

Direct Credit Facilities:

    Individuals 115,165,635 89,231,558 

    Real estate loans 189,161,732 167,065,964 

    Companies

    Large companies 914,565,767 908,583,684 

    Small and medium companies (SMEs) 83,440,402 81,082,055 

    Government and public sector 144,577,428 126,823,943 

Bonds, Bills and Debentures:

  Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss   58,910,574 64,457,298 

  Financial assets at amortized cost 479,195,403 505,749,976 

  Other assets 24,326,679 16,047,056 

Off- Consolidated Statement of Financial Position Items

Letters of guarantee 262,406,420 261,095,496 

Letters of credit 76,808,289 62,756,075 

Letters of acceptance 42,337,535 31,155,737 

Unutilized credit facilities ceilings 113,959,438 93,298,999 

     Total 2,971,147,328 3,003,948,019 
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Credit exposures according to the degree of risk are categorized according to the following table:

 Individuals Real Estate 
Loans

 Companies  Government and 
Public Sector 

Other
Assets

Bonds and 
Treasury Bills

 Banks and Other 
Financial Institutions   Total 

 Large  Small and Medium 
December 31, 2016  JD  JD  JD  JD  JD  JD  JD  JD  JD 

Low risk 789,118 1,854,765 10,499,159 4,791,180 80,132,353  - 448,400,194 239,266,173 785,732,942
Acceptable risk 111,033,395 172,823,180 766,521,333 77,157,099 64,445,075 24,326,679 87,988,301 227,025,853 1,531,320,915
Of which is due  (*):
within 30 days 1,065,876 455,314 4,667,880 778,992  -  -  -  - 6,968,062
From 31 to 60 days 1,686,904 540,178 11,876,117 3,108,662  -  -  -  - 17,211,861
Watch list 3,701,107 4,581,333 102,671,206 1,643,667  -  -  -  - 112,597,313
Non-performing:
Substandard 2,277,615 1,128,628 274,841 317,654  -  -  -  - 3,998,738
Allowance provided 1,492,655 2,731,719 188,762 442,766  -  -  -  - 4,855,902
Bad debt 2,957,346 13,332,682 105,021,061 1,636,724  - 378,078 1,717,482  - 125,043,373

     Total 122,251,236 196,452,307 985,176,326 85,989,090 144,577,428 24,704,757 538,105,977 466,292,026 2,563,549,183

Provision for impairment loss 6,442,539 5,471,122 59,072,935 2,133,777  -  -  -  - 73,120,373
Interest in suspense 643,062 1,819,453 11,537,660 414,911  -  378,078  -  - 14,793,164

              Net 115,165,635 189,161,732 914,565,767 83,440,402 144,577,428 24,326,679 538,105,977 466,292,026 2,475,635,646

Credit classification:
From AAA to -A 3,521,606 118,111,631 121,633,237
From +BBB to -B 42,094,122 235,172 42,329,294
Less than -B 21,456,573 164,173 21,620,746
Unclassified 22,633,482 108,514,877 131,148,359
Governments and public sector 448,400,194 239,266,173 687,666,367

     Total 538,105,977 466,292,026 1,004,398,003

 Individuals Real Estate 
Loans

 Companies  Government and 
Public Sector 

Other
Assets

Bonds and 
Treasury Bills

 Banks and Other 
Financial Institutions   Total 

 Large  Small and Medium 
December 31, 2015  JD  JD  JD  JD  JD  JD  JD  JD  JD 

Low risk 511,430 1,424,315 9,914,753 3,954,765 45,347,220  - 486,175,075 362,947,946 910,275,504
Acceptable risk 85,496,291 140,175,663 800,880,632 75,389,446 81,476,723 16,047,056 83,394,099 233,652,232 1,516,512,142
Of which is due  (*):
within 30 days 1,754,199 1,099,273 5,643,879 880,923  -  -  -  - 9,378,274
From 31 to 60 days 2,190,443 976,084 11,675,430 3,154,376  -  -  -  - 17,996,333
Watch list 2,025,016 17,145,010 46,249,978 3,330,788  -  -  -  - 68,750,792
Non-performing:
Substandard 1,937,445 815,547 29,786,775 9,876  -  -  -  - 32,549,643
Allowance provided 2,120,318 1,329,516 297,966 12,432  -  -  -  - 3,760,232
Bad debt 2,761,812 10,886,689 74,061,455 683,444  -  - 638,100  - 89,031,500

     Total 94,852,312 171,776,740 961,191,559 83,380,751 126,823,943 16,047,056 570,207,274 596,600,178 2,620,879,813

Provision for impairment loss 5,163,412 3,526,473 43,039,005 2,029,619  -  -  -  - 53,758,509
Interest in suspense 457,342 1,184,303 9,568,870 269,077  -  -  -  - 11,479,592

              Net 89,231,558 167,065,964 908,583,684 81,082,055 126,823,943 16,047,056 570,207,274 596,600,178 2,555,641,712

Credit classification:
From AAA to -A  -  134,497,034  134,497,034 
From +BBB to -B  30,294,078  2,196,286  32,490,364 
Less than -B  15,277,478  117,001  15,394,479 
Unclassified  37,459,845  96,841,911  134,301,756 
Governments and public sector  487,175,873  362,947,946  850,123,819 

     Total 570,207,274 596,600,178 1,166,807,452

- The whole debt balance becomes due when one of the installments or interest is due. Moreover, the overdraft account is 
considered due when it exceeds the ceiling. 

- Credit exposures include facilities, balances, deposits at banks, bonds and treasury bills and any other assets that have credit 
exposure.



78 ANNUAL REPORT JORDAN KUWAIT BANK - 2016

The following represent the distribution details of the fair value of collaterals against direct credit facilities valued in accordance 
with the requirements of the Central Bank of Jordan through independent experts at least once every 2 years.  The cash margins 
balance is stated at fair value based on the exchange rates issued by the Central Bank of Jordan, and it is calculated individually 
as long as the margins balance does not exceed the credit facilities balance in any way:

 Individuals 
 Companies Government 

and Public 
Sector 

 Total Real Estate 
Loans  Large  Small and 

Medium  

December 31, 2016  JD  JD  JD  JD  JD  JD 

Guarantees against:

Low risk 789,118 1,854,765 10,499,159 4,791,180  - 17,934,222

Acceptable risk 43,739,426 167,411,015 289,707,348 24,533,044 3,300,000 528,690,833

Watch list 630,256 4,581,333 76,162,151 418,988  - 81,792,728

Non-performing:

   Substandard 609,804 1,128,628  - 45,655  - 1,784,087

   Allowance provided 725,327 2,731,719  - 116,234  - 3,573,280

   Bad debt 2,625,683 13,332,682  46,418,008 1,725,299  - 64,101,672

     Total 49,119,614 191,040,142 422,786,666 31,630,400 3,300,000 697,876,822

Of it:

Cash margins 3,629,464 234,226 16,452,796 5,668,002  - 25,984,488

Accepted letters of guarantee  -  -  -  - 3,300,000 3,300,000

Real estate 2,105,095 190,805,916 304,072,535 7,631,526  - 504,615,072

Trade stocks 3,571,740  - 98,384,348 10,538,967  - 112,495,055

Vehicles and equipment 39,813,315  - 3,876,987 7,791,905  - 51,482,207

     Total 49,119,614 191,040,142 422,786,666 31,630,400 3,300,000 697,876,822

 Individuals 
 Companies Government 

and Public 
Sector 

 Total Real Estate 
Loans  Large  Small and 

Medium  

December 3/1, 2015  JD  JD  JD  JD  JD  JD 
Guarantees against:

Low risk  511,430  1,424,315  9,914,753  3,954,765  19,817,882  35,623,145 

Acceptable risk  33,689,257  144,765,111  346,381,164  18,459,175  -  543,294,707 

Watch list  422,036  9,317,287  16,754,876  311,768  -  26,805,967 

Non-performing:  - 

   Substandard  2,254,378  815,547  24,020,964  -  -  27,090,889 

   Allowance provided  2,005,908  1,329,515  543,768  467,876  -  4,347,067 

   Bad debt  2,098,769  10,886,689  23,835,231  665,987  -  37,486,676 

     Total  40,981,778  168,538,464  421,450,756  23,859,571  19,817,882  674,648,451 

Of it:

Cash margins  4,382,452  445,236  22,131,233  6,881,497  -  33,840,418 

Accepted letters of guarantee  -  -  354,500  -  3,300,000  3,654,500 

Real estate  3,391,456  168,093,228  282,526,447  12,702,516  16,517,882  483,231,529 

Trade stocks  4,543,765  -  112,387,700  2,220,572  -  119,152,037 

Vehicles and equipment  28,664,105  -  4,050,876  2,054,986  -  34,769,967 

     Total  40,981,778  168,538,464  421,450,756  23,859,571  19,817,882  674,648,451 
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Scheduled Debts:
Scheduled debts represent debts previously classified as non-performing credit facilities, and have been taken out from the 
framework of non-performing credit facilities according to proper scheduling and classified as watch-list debts. Furthermore, the 
scheduled debts amounted to JD 21,931,456 in the year 2016 (JD 8,435,982 in the year 2015).
Restructured debt 
Restructuring debts means reorganizing credit facilities in terms of adjusting payments, extending their term, postponing some 
installments, or extending the grace period. Restructured but unclassified debts amounted to JD 31,132,246 for the year 2016 
(JD 428,898 for the year 2015).
Bonds, Bills and Debentures
The following table illustrates the classification of bonds, bills and debentures according to external rating institutions as of 
December 31, 2016 and 2015:

Rating Grade Rating
Institution

Financial Assets
at Fair Value through

the Profit or Loss
Within Financial Assets

at Amortized Cost
Total as of December 31,

2016 2015
JD JD JD JD

A+ Fitch  -  3,521,606  3,521,606  - 
B Fitch  -  -  -  6,878,009 

BBB Fitch  -  -  -  - 
B- Fitch  6,700,050  -  6,700,050  2,495,686 

BBB- Fitch  12,239,573  -  12,239,573  3,493,278 
B1 Moody's  18,633,593  -  18,633,593  4,179,853 

Ba1 Moody's  11,180,818  -  11,180,818  - 
Baa1 Moody's  3,476,058  -  3,476,058  7,009,392 
Baa2 Moody's  -  -  -  691,530 
Baa3 Moody's  -  2,103,603  2,103,603  5,618,683 
B+ S&P  -  -  -  3,420,925 
BB- S&P  -  -  -  11,146,100 

BBB- S&P  -  9,217,000  9,217,000  - 
D S&P  -  -  -  638,100 

Governmental  -  -  448,400,194  448,400,194  487,175,873 
Unclassified  -  6,680,482  15,953,000  22,633,482  37,459,845 

 Total  58,910,574  479,195,403  538,105,977  570,207,274 

Credit risk exposure according to geographical areas is as follows.

 Geographical area  Inside Jordan  Other Middle 
East Countries  Europe  Asia*  Africa*  America  Other 

Countries  Total 

 JD  JD  JD  JD  JD  JD  JD  JD 

 Balances at central banks 208,798,684 26,347,692 4,119,797  -  -  -  -  239,266,173 
 Balances at banks and financial institutions 13,905,594 86,941,537 39,822,176 806,271  - 71,185,195 198,453  212,859,226 
 Deposits at banks and financial institutions  - 8,508,000 5,640,902 17,725  -  -  -  14,166,627 
 Direct credit facilities:  
For individuals 114,883,543 282,092  -  -  -  -  -  115,165,635 
Real estate loans 185,571,836 1,044,974 2,544,922  -  -  -  -  189,161,732 
 Companies: 
 Large 719,812,067 4,196,109 190,557,591  -  -  -  -  914,565,767 
 Small and medium (SMEs) 83,187,369 253,033  -  -  -  -  -  83,440,402 
 Government and public sector 139,727,196 4,850,232  -  -  -  -  -  144,577,428 
 Bonds, Bills and Debentures : 
Within financial assets at fair value through 
profit or loss 20,166,593 4,963,000 20,128,815 13,652,166  -  -  -  58,910,574 

Within financial assets carried at amortized 
cost 464,353,195  -  - 14,842,208  -  -  -  479,195,403 

Other assets 20,182,160 313,938 3,118,222 712,359  -  -  -  24,326,679 

 Total / current year  1,970,588,237  137,700,607  265,932,425  30,030,729  -  71,185,195  198,453  2,475,635,646 

 Total / comparative figures  2,068,645,241  134,471,860  279,991,106  28,360,146  58,350  43,791,663  323,346  2,555,641,712 

* Excluding Middle East countries.
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Credit risk exposure according to the economic sector is as follows:

Economic Sector Financial Industrial Services Trade Real-estate Agricultural Shares Individuals Government and 
Public Sector Total

 JD  JD  JD  JD  JD  JD  JD  JD  JD  JD 

 Balances at central banks  239,266,173  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 239,266,173 

 Balances at banks and 
financial institutions  212,859,226  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 212,859,226 

 Deposits at banks and 
financial institutions  14,166,627  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 14,166,627 

 Direct credit facilities - net  18,294,625  409,617,456  304,353,066  244,368,251  189,161,995  23,026,269  9,232,005  104,279,869  144,577,428 1,446,910,964 

 Bonds, Bills and Debentures: 

Within financial assets at fair 
value through profit or loss  29,856,313  3,536,138  -  -  184,482  -  -  -  25,333,641 58,910,574 

Within financial assets at 
amortized cost  30,795,208  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  448,400,195 479,195,403 

Other assets  14,352,783  2,965,821  3,100,875  2,027,932  1,879,268  -  -  -  - 24,326,679 

 Total / current year 559,590,955 416,119,415 307,453,941 246,396,183 191,225,745 23,026,269 9,232,005 104,279,869 618,311,264 2,475,635,646 

 Total / comparative figures 685,891,504 348,722,261 307,854,630 244,337,217 167,990,419 22,778,179 50,881,257 84,578,520 642,607,725 2,555,641,712 

40/a. Market Risk
Market risk is the potential losses that may arise from the changes in market prices such as the change in interest rates, foreign 
currency exchange rates, equity instrument prices, and consequently, the change in the fair value of the cash flows of the 
financial instruments on - and off – the consolidated statement of financial position.
The Bank has specified policies and procedures through which market risks are identified, measured, monitored, and controlled. 
These policies and procedures are reviewed periodically. Moreover, the Investment Policy Committee studies and recommends 
them after ensuring their compatibility with the instructions of the Central Bank of Jordan. After that, they are approved by the 
Board of Directors. 
The acceptable risks policy is set within the Treasury operations, and includes ceilings that govern market risks. These ceilings 
are adopted, and their application is ensured periodically and constantly through monitoring their implementation by the risks 
management and submitting various periodic reports to the Assets and Liabilities Committee as well as to the Board of Directors.
The Bank has a shares and bonds investment portfolio for trading purposes (financial assets at fair value through the income 
statement) and adopts the sensitivity analysis method thereon whereby present risks are measured according to the Standardized 
Approach for calculating minimum capital based on Basel Committee recommendations.

40/b.  Interest Rate Risk
Interest rate risk results from the potential change in interest rates, and consequently, the potential impact on the cash flows or 
the fair value of financial instruments.   
The Bank is exposed to interest rate risks as a result of the timing gaps of repricing assets and liabilities. These gaps are 
periodically monitored by the Assets and Liabilities Committee. Moreover, various hedging methods are used to remain within 
the acceptable interest rate gap limits. 
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- Sensitivity Analysis:

For the Year 2016

Currency Increase in Interest Rate Interest Income Sensitivity (Gain / Loss) Owners' Equity Sensitivity 

% JD JD

US Dollar 1 (1,080,757) (3,971,018)

Euro 1  85,421 -   

GBP 1 (38,452) -   

Other currencies 1 (9,654)     (50,937)

Currency (Decrease) in Interest Rate Interest Income Sensitivity (Gain / Loss) Owners' Equity Sensitivity

% JD JD

US Dollar 1  1,080,757  3,729,553 

Euro 1 (85,421) -   

GBP 1  38,452 -   

Other currencies 1  9,654 51,725 

For the Year 2015

Currency Increase in Interest Rate Interest Income Sensitivity  (Gain / Loss) Owners' Equity Sensitivity

% JD JD

US Dollar 1 (763,854) (3,326,051)

Euro 1 (156,985) -

GBP 1 (56,997) -

Other currencies 1 (14,173) -

Currency (Decrease) in Interest Rate Interest Income Sensitivity (Gain / Loss) Owners' Equity Sensitivity

% JD JD

US Dollar 1  763,854 1,465,621

Euro 1  156,985 -

GBP 1  56,997 -

Other currencies 1 14,173 -
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40. /c. Foreign Currencies Risk:
The following table illustrates the currencies to which the Bank is exposed, the potential and reasonable change in their rates 
against the Jordanian Dinar, and the related impact on the consolidated statement of income. The currencies positions are 
monitored daily to ensure that they are within the determined limits. Moreover, the related reports are submitted to the Assets 
and Liabilities Committee and Board of Directors. 

For the Year 2016

Currency Change in Foreign Currency Rate Effect on Profit and Loss Effect on  Owners' Equity 

% JD JD

Euro 5 1,403 -

GBP 5 18 -

Yen 5 208        -

Other currencies 5 16,480 -

For the Year 2015

Currency Change in Foreign Currency Rate Effect on Profit and Loss Effect on  Owners' Equity 

% JD JD

Euro 5 3,552 -

GBP 5 1,091 -

Yen 5 1,079 -

Other currencies 5 125,564 -

Risks of Changes in Shares Prices:
This represents the risk resulting from the decline in the fair value of the investment portfolio of the shares due to the changes in 
the value of the shares indicators and the change in the value of shares individually. 

For the Year 2016

Indicator of Change in Indicator Effect on Profit and Loss Effect on Owners' Equity 

% JD JD

Amman Stock Exchange 5 34,625 (13,387)

Palestine Stock Exchange 5 2,681 16,741

Kuwait Stock Exchange 5 (8,835) -

For the Year 2015

Indicator of Change in Indicator Effect on Profit and Loss Effect on Owners' Equity  

% JD JD

Amman Stock Exchange 5 199,921 123,532 

Palestine Stock Exchange 5 (7,399)  (57,345)

Dubai Stock Exchange 5 21,372 25,539 

Kuwait Stock Exchange 5 26,813 -

Interest Rate Repricing Gap:
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The Bank adopts the assets - liabilities compatibility principle and the suitability of maturities to narrow gaps through categorizing 
assets and liabilities into various maturities or price review maturities, whichever are nearer, to lower risks in interest rates, 
studying gaps in the related interest rates, and using hedging policies through the adoption of advanced financial instruments 
such as derivatives.
Reclassification is made in accordance with the pricing interest periods or maturity, whichever are nearer.
Interest rate sensitivity is as follows:

Less than 
One Month

More than 1 
Month up to 3

Months

 Interest Rate Repricing Gap
More than

3 Years
Non-Interest

Bearing TotalMore than
3 Months up 
to 6 Months

More than
6 Months up 

to 1 Year

More than
1 Year up to

3 Years
December 31, 2016 JD JD JD JD JD JD JD JD

Assets:

Cash and balances at central 
banks  22,949,894  -  -  -  -  -  256,205,542  279,155,436 

Balances at banks and financial 
institutions  75,612,802  102,113,745  -  -  -  -  35,132,679  212,859,226 

Deposits at banks and financial 
institutions  -  -  14,166,627  -  -  -  -  14,166,627 

Direct credit facilities - net  463,011,508  130,221,986  115,752,877  593,233,497  79,580,103  65,110,993  -  1,446,910,964 

Financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss  184,482  -  3,476,058  -  15,221,984  40,028,050  10,794,946  69,705,520 

Financial assets at fair value 
through comprehensive income  -  -  -  -  -  -  27,306,153  27,306,153 

Financial assets at amortized cost  13,545,004  44,711,734  42,255,782  44,458,015  240,079,766  94,145,102  -  479,195,403 

Property and equipment - net  -  -  -  -  -  -  28,779,027  28,779,027 

Intangible assets - net  -  -  -  -  -  -  7,003,148  7,003,148 

Deferred tax assets  -  -  -  -  -  -  10,128,723  10,128,723 

Other assets  1,583,255  3,010,418  3,960,747  6,172,435  1,772,472  7,452,156  140,823,706  164,775,189 

     Total Assets  576,886,945  280,057,883  179,612,091  643,863,947  336,654,325  206,736,301  516,173,924  2,739,985,416 

Liabilities:

Banks and financial institutions 
deposits  331,958,509  10,021,414  8,508,000  31,767,116  -  -  2,029,310  384,284,349 

Customers deposits  586,258,164  343,743,859  199,237,556  70,135,708  96,788,065  -  407,237,963  1,703,401,315 

Cash margin  23,601,876  8,547,780  7,347,105  6,172,172  8,940,287  -  33,350,654  87,959,874 

Borrowed funds  2,036,266  10,600,000  -  5,643,933  10,000,000  5,356,343  -  33,636,542 

Other provisions  -  -  -  -  -  -  12,105,531  12,105,531 

Provision for income tax  -  -  -  -  -  -  14,567,302  14,567,302 

Deferred  tax liabilities  -  -  -  -  -  -  2,937,750  2,937,750 

Other liabilities  5,912,219  -  -  -  -  -  30,005,693  35,917,912 

     Total Liabilities  949,767,034  372,913,053  215,092,661  113,718,929  115,728,352  5,356,343  502,234,203  2,274,810,575 

Interest Rate Repricing Gap  (372,880,089)  (92,855,170)  (35,480,570)  530,145,018  220,925,973  201,379,958  13,939,721  465,174,841 

December 31, 2015

     Total Assets  690,162,594  272,535,292  168,161,171  753,010,334  259,916,960  215,327,978  485,617,174  2,844,731,503 

     Total Liabilities  859,963,967  355,388,644  207,079,851  116,783,718  115,213,089  6,292,501  729,756,264  2,390,478,034 

Interest Rate Repricing Gap  (169,801,373)  (82,853,352)  (38,918,680)  636,226,616  144,703,871  209,035,477  (244,139,090)  454,253,469 
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Concentration in Foreign Currencies Risk:

 US Dollar  Euro  Pound Sterling  Japanese Yen  Others  Total 
December 31, 2016  JD  JD  JD  JD  JD  JD 

Assets:
Cash and balances at central banks 105,496,912 12,343,629 1,408,538  - 516,940 119,766,019 
Balances at banks and financial institutions 151,198,682 25,460,349 10,826,236 806,350 10,571,232 198,862,849 
Deposits at banks and financial institutions 8,525,725  - 5,640,902  -  - 14,166,627 
Direct credit facilities - net 350,030,180 12,310,007 6  - 155,468 362,495,661 
Financial assets at fair value through comprehensive income  18,874,095 18,266  -  - 588,496 19,480,857 
Financial assets at amortized cost 72,411,005  -  -  -  - 72,411,005 
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 50,903,875  -  -  - 8,515,750 59,419,625 
Property and equipment 1,426,267  -  -  -  - 1,426,267 
Intangible assets 156,383  -  -  -  - 156,383 
Other assets 5,702,045 171,259 9,155  - 163,217 6,045,676 
     Total Assets 764,725,169 50,303,510 17,884,837 806,350 20,511,103 854,230,969
Liabilities:
Banks and financial institutions deposits 303,990,672 11,402,201  -  -  - 315,392,873 
Customers' deposits 405,355,090 38,148,606 17,624,016 784,591 19,628,336 481,540,639 
Cash margins 18,727,747 598,318 200,143 16,884 253,096 19,796,188 
Provision for income tax 272,631  -  -  -  - 272,631 
Other liabilities 3,531,481 126,331 60,321 715 42,650 3,761,498 
     Total Liabilities 731,877,621 50,275,456 17,884,480 802,190 19,924,082 820,763,829

Net Concentration on Consolidated Statement of Financial 
Position for the Current Year 32,847,548 28,054 357 4,160 587,021 33,467,140

Off-Statement of Consolidated Financial Position Contingent 
Liabilities for the Current Year 214,244,233 20,561,260 412,085 464,109 12,556,824 248,238,511

 US Dollar  Euro  Pound Sterling  Japanese Yen  Others  Total 
December 31, 2015  JD  JD  JD  JD  JD  JD 

Assets:
Cash and balances at central banks 47,143,660 5,966,321 1,052,423  - 1,022,332 55,184,736 
Balances at banks and  financial institutions 109,109,828 62,896,609 11,993,549 338,848 8,542,276 192,881,110 
Deposits at banks and financial institutions 7,107,725  -  -  -  - 7,107,725 
Direct credit facilities - net 425,478,429 9,453,251  -  - 352,472 435,284,152 
Financial assets at fair value through comprehensive income  3,996,992 16,003  -  - 15,789,068 19,802,063 
Financial assets at amortized cost 66,693,503  -  -  -  - 66,693,503 
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 55,832,053  -  -  - 10,237,599 66,069,652 
Property and equipment 1,530,460  -  -  -  - 1,530,460 
Intangible assets 155,859  -  -  -  - 155,859 
Other assets 4,753,427 163,258 8,455  - 150,232 5,075,372 
     Total Assets 721,801,936 78,495,442 13,054,427 338,848 36,093,979 849,784,632 
Liabilities:
Banks and financial institutions deposits 296,473,771 6,588,867  -  -  - 303,062,638 
Customers' deposits 385,795,274 35,652,425 18,996,543 1,025,632 15,325,458 456,795,332 
Cash margins 17,922,772 1,995,101 193,254 110,214 315,263 20,536,604 
Provision for income tax 299,254  -  -  -  - 299,254 
Other liabilities 2,295,915 169,573 60,584 914 66,321 2,593,307 
     Total Liabilities 702,786,986 44,405,966 19,250,381 1,136,760 15,707,042 783,287,135 

Net Concentration on Consolidated Statement of Financial 
Position for the Current Year 19,014,950 34,089,476  (6,195,954)  (797,912) 20,386,937 66,497,497 

Off-Statement of Consolidated Financial Position Contingent 
Liabilities for the Current Year 151,178,175 9,763,254 233,642 1,562,854 4,856,251 167,594,176 
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40/ c. Liquidity Risk
First: The following table illustrates the distribution of liabilities (undiscounted) on the basis of the remaining period to the 
contractual maturity at the date of the consolidated financial statements:
Liquidity risk is defined as the loss to which the Bank might be exposed due to the unavailability of the necessary funds to finance 
its increased operations or obligations upon their maturity at the appropriate cost and time (considered as part of the Assets and 
Liabilities Management/ ALM).
- The Bank adheres to the liquidity ratios set by the Central Bank of Jordan and other regulatory authorities under which the 

Bank's external branches operate. Liquidity is monitored daily by the Bank.
- Liquidity is also monitored by the Assets and Liabilities Management Committee headed by the General Manager through 

periodic reports.

Less than 
One Month

More than
1 Month up to

3 Months

More than
3 Months up 
to 6 Months

More than
6 Months up 

to 1 Year

More than
1 Year up to

3 Years
More than

3 Years
Not Tied to
a Specific
Maturity

Total

December 31, 2016 JD JD JD JD JD JD JD JD

Liabilities:

Banks and financial institutions 
deposits 331,958,509 10,021,414 8,508,000 31,767,116  -  - 2,029,310 384,284,349

Customers' deposits 993,496,127 343,743,859 199,237,556 70,135,708 96,788,065  -  - 1,703,401,315

Cash margins 56,952,530 8,547,780 7,347,105 6,172,172 8,940,287  -  - 87,959,874

Borrowed funds  -  -  - 5,643,933 10,000,000 15,956,343 2,036,266 33,636,542

Other provisions  -  -  -  -  -  - 12,105,531 12,105,531

Income tax provision 2,254,318  - 12,312,984  -  -  -  - 14,567,302

Deferred tax liabilities  -  -  -  -  -  - 2,937,750 2,937,750

Other liabilities 16,695,382 2,579,688 2,513,537 3,687,650 3,839,954 6,601,701  - 35,917,912

     Total Liabilities 1,401,356,866 364,892,741 229,919,182 117,406,579 119,568,306 22,558,044 19,108,857 2,274,810,575

     Total Assets 911,345,066 242,016,408 168,925,699 184,649,754 595,691,197 422,650,312 214,706,980 2,739,985,416

Less than 
One Month

More than
1 Month up to

3 Months

More than
3 Months up 
to 6 Months

More than
6 Months up 

to 1 Year

More than
1 Year up to

3 Years
More than

3 Years
Not Tied to
a Specific
Maturity

Total

December 31, 2015

Liabilities:

Banks and financial institutions 
deposits 287,225,498  -  - 28,785,477  -  -  - 316,010,975

Customers' deposits 1,202,937,490 336,743,808 191,138,870 66,973,005 103,112,713  -  - 1,900,905,886

Cash margins 53,825,322 9,471,877 8,179,417 7,032,880 8,392,604  -  - 86,902,100

Borrowed funds  -  - 5,000,000  - 6,000,000 13,015,900  - 24,015,900

Other provisions  -  -  -  -  -  - 10,526,597 10,526,597

Income tax provision  -  - 13,238,965  -  -  -  - 13,238,965

Deferred tax liabilities  -  -  -  -  -  - 3,261,015 3,261,015

Other liabilities 16,689,445 2,172,959 2,761,564 3,992,355 3,707,772 6,292,501  - 35,616,596

     Total Liabilities 1,560,677,755 348,388,644 220,318,816 106,783,717 121,213,089 19,308,401 13,787,612 2,390,478,034

     Total Assets 928,167,484 349,214,232 158,933,104 298,121,424 563,997,736 329,516,310 216,781,213 2,844,731,503
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Second: The following table summarizes the maturities of financial derivatives on the basis of the remaining period of the 
contractual maturity date from the date of the consolidated financial statements:

Up to
One Month

From One Month
to 3 Months

From 3 Months
to 6 Months Total 

December 31, 2016 JD JD JD JD

Trading derivatives: 

Currency - - - -
Up to

One Month
From One Month

to 3 Months
From 3 Months

to 6 Months Total 

December 31, 2015 JD JD JD JD

Trading derivatives: 

 Currency 652,798 - - 652,798

Third: Off- consolidated statement of financial position items:

Up to
One Year

From One Year
to 5 Years

More than
5 Years Total 

December 31, 2016 JD JD JD JD

Letters of credit and acceptances 119,145,824 - - 119,145,824

Unutilized credit facilities ceilings 113,959,438 - - 113,959,438

Letters of guarantee 262,406,420 - - 262,406,420

Operating lease contract liabilities 42,619 3,668,209 11,788,522 15,499,350

     Total 495,554,301 3,668,209 11,788,522 511,011,032

Up to
One Year

From One Year
to 5 Years

More than
5 Years Total 

December 31, 2015 JD JD JD JD

Letters of credit and acceptances 93,911,812 - - 93,911,812

Unutilized credit facilities ceilings 93,298,999 - - 93,298,999

Letters of guarantee 261,095,496 - - 261,095,496

Operating lease Contract  liabilities 258,944 3,561,823 11,145,691 14,966,458

     Total 448,565,251 3,561,823 11,145,691 463,272,765

41. Information on the Bank’s Business Activities
a. The Bank is organized, for managerial purposes, into four major sectors.  These sectors are measured according to reports 

used by the Chief Executive Officer and key decision makers at the Bank. Moreover, the Bank owns two subsidiaries: one in 
the financial brokerage sector, and the other in the finance leasing sector as of the consolidated financial statements date:

- Individual accounts: This item includes following up on individual customer’s deposits, and granting them credit facilities, credit 
cards, and other services.

- Corporate accounts: This item includes following up on deposits, credit facilities, and other banking services related to corporate 
customers.

Treasury: This item includes providing dealing services and managing the Bank’s funds.
- Others: This industry includes the activities which do not meet the definition of the Bank’s business activities mentioned above. 
- Financial brokerage services: This item includes practicing most of the brokerage and financial consultation services.
- Finance leasing services: This item includes leasing services and real estate development projects. 
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The following table represents information on the Bank's sectors according to activities:

Total

Individuals Corporations Treasury Brokerage Leasing Others 2016 2015

JD JD JD JD JD JD JD JD

Gross income for the year  19,079,459  59,888,188  31,421,831  1,807,665  4,104,558  4,350,544  120,652,245  127,900,068 

Less: Provision for impairment 
loss in direct credit facilities  3,213,399  16,179,967  -  253,546  136,880  -  19,783,792  20,978,720 

  Results of Business Sector  15,866,060  43,708,221  31,421,831  1,554,119  3,967,678  4,350,544  100,868,453  106,921,348 

Less: Expenditures not 
distributed over sectors  -  -  -  923,172  768,227  55,684,821  57,376,220  50,454,012 

  Income before Income Tax  15,866,060  43,708,221  31,421,831  630,947  3,199,451  (51,334,277)  43,492,233  56,467,336 

Less: Income tax expense for 
the year  -  -  -  111,140  799,395  12,575,888  13,486,423  17,055,660 

  Income for the Year  15,866,060  43,708,221  31,421,831  519,807  2,400,056  (63,910,165)  30,005,810  39,411,676 

Capital Expenditures   6,868,104   6,868,104  5,175,407 

Depreciation and Amortization  5,568,725  5,568,725  5,228,395 

Sector's Assets 284,327,367 1,157,965,465 1,087,388,365 12,827,122 50,638,293  -  2,593,146,612  2,833,415,500 

Assets not distributed over 
sectors  -  -  -  -  - 146,838,804  146,838,804  11,316,003 

Total Assets  284,327,367  1,157,965,465  1,087,388,365  12,827,122  50,638,293  146,838,804  2,739,985,416  2,844,731,503 

Sector's Liabilities 1,098,851,126 700,700,317 424,858,641 1,815,316 22,685,197  -  2,248,910,597  2,373,113,408 

Liabilities not distributed over 
sectors  -  -  -  -  -  25,899,978  25,899,978  17,364,626 

Total Liabilities  1,098,851,126  700,700,317  424,858,641  1,815,316  22,685,197  25,899,978  2,274,810,575  2,390,478,034 

b. Information on the Geographical Allocation:
This sector represents the geographical distribution of the Bank's operations. The Bank performs its operations, which 
represent local operations, mainly in the Hashemite Kingdom of Jordan.   
Moreover, the Bank conducts international operations through its branches in Cyprus and Palestine.
The following are the Bank's revenue, assets, and capital expenditures according to geographic allocation:

Inside Kingdom Outside Kingdom Total

2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015

JD JD JD JD JD JD

Gross income 104,812,791 113,637,397 15,839,454 14,262,671 120,652,245 127,900,068 

Capital expenditures 6,868,104 5,175,407  -  - 6,868,104 5,175,407 

2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015

JD JD JD JD JD JD

Total Assets 2,269,777,110 2,407,707,525 470,208,306 437,023,978 2,739,985,416 2,844,731,503 
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42. Capital Management
a  Description of Capital
Capital is classified into several types: paid capital, economic capital, and regulatory capital. According to the Companies Law, 
regulatory capital is defined as the total items determined by the Central Bank of Jordan for regulatory purposes relating to 
capital adequacy as per the Central Bank of Jordan’s instructions.
b. The requirements of the regulatory parties concerning capital and the manner in which they are met.
Instructions of the Central Bank require that paid-up capital be not less than JD 100 million and shareholders’ equity-to-assets 
ratio be not less than 6%. Moreover, the Central Bank’s instructions require that the ratio of regulatory capital to assets weighted 
by risks and market risks (capital adequacy ratio) be not less than 12%, which is considered by the Bank.  
The Bank complies with Article (62) of the Banks Law, which requires the Bank to appropriate 10% of its annual net profits in the 
Kingdom and continue to do so until the reserve equals the Bank’s paid-up capital. This meets the requirements of the statutory 
reserve prescribed by the Companies Law. 
The Bank complies with Article (41) of the Banks Law, which requires adherence to the limits set by the Central Bank of Jordan 
relating to the following:

1. The percentage of risks relating to its assets and assets weighted by risks, elements of capital, reserves, and contra accounts.
2. Ratio of total loans to regulatory capital the Bank is allowed to grant to one person, his allies, or to related stakeholders.
3. Ratio of total loans granted to the major ten customers of the Bank to total loans extended by the Bank.

c. Method of Achieving Capital Management Goals.
The Bank considers the compatibility of the size of its capital with the size, nature, and complexity of the risk the Bank is exposed 
to in a manner that does not contradict the prevailing regulations and instructions. This is reflected in its strategic plans and 
annual budgets. To be more conservative in hedging against surrounding conditions and economic cycles, the Board of Directors 
decided, within the Bank’s strategy, that capital adequacy ratio be not less than 14%.
When entering into investments, the impact on capital adequacy ratio is considered. Moreover, capital and its adequacy 
are monitored periodically as capital adequacy ratio is monitored at the Group level and the individual Bank every quarter. 
Furthermore, capital adequacy is reviewed by internal audit.
No dividends are paid to shareholders out of the regulatory capital if such payment leads to in adherence to the minimum 
capital requirement. The Bank concentrates on the internal generation of capital, and can resort to public subscriptions to meet 
expansionary needs and future plans, or the requirements of the regulatory bodies according to specific studies. 
Capital Adequacy
On November 30, 2016, the Central Bank of Jordan issued Basel III instructions on capital adequacy and cancelled Basel II 
instructions relating to the adequacy of regulatory capital.
The Bank manages capital to ensure continuity of its operations and achieve the highest possible return on owners’ equity, 
consisting of capital, as defined by Basel III Convention, as shown in the following table:

2016

JD

(Thousand)

Primary capital for ordinary shareholders (CET 1)           426,167 

Regulatory adjustments (deductions from the primary capital for ordinary shareholders)           (22,528)

Supplementary             13,526 

Regulatory capital           417,164 

Assets Weighted by Risks        2,193,896 

Primary Capital Adequacy Ratio(CET 1) 18.40%

Ratio of first tranche of the capital 18.40%

Regulatory capital adequacy ratio 19.01%

* Primary capital has been calculated net of investments in banks and a financial subsidiary company.



89 2016 - ANNUAL REPORT JORDAN KUWAIT BANK

-  The following table shows the regulatory capital based on Basel II instructions as of December 31, 2015:

2015

JD Thousand

Primary Capital Items: 

Authorized and paid-up capital           100,000 

Statutory reserve             77,480 

Voluntary reserve           143,357 

Retained earnings (after deducting proposed dividends and deferred tax assets)             80,149 

Less:

Deferred provisions agreed with the Central Bank of Jordan             10,687 

Goodwill and intangible assets               7,065 

50% from the investments in insurance companies, financial companies, and significant investments
   in other companies               6,986 

  Total Primary Capital           376,248 

Supplementary Capital Items:

General banking risks reserve             13,353 

Pro-cyclicality fluctuation reserve                 228 

Valuation reserve of financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income at 100% of
   the negative change or 45% of the positive change

              1,926 

Less: 

  50% of investments in insurance companies, financial institutions and significant investments in
    other companies

              6,986 

     Total Regulatory Capital           384,769 

     Total Risk - Weighted Assets        2,111,023 

Ratio of regulatory capital 18.23%

Primary capital ratio * 17.82%

* Primary capital has been calculated net of investments in banks and a financial subsidiary company.
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43. Accounts Managed on Behalf of Customers
There are no investment portfolios managed by the Bank on behalf of customers.

44. Analysis of the Maturities of Assets and Liabilities
The following table illustrates the analysis of assets and liabilities according to the expected period of their recoverability or 
settlement:

Up to One Year More than One Year Total

December 31, 2016 JD JD JD

ASSETS:

Cash and balances at central banks  279,155,436  - 279,155,436

Balances at banks and  financial institutions  212,859,226  - 212,859,226

Deposits at banks and financial institutions  14,166,627  - 14,166,627

Direct credit facilities - net  837,397,708  609,513,256 1,446,910,964

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss  3,660,540  66,044,980 69,705,520

Financial assets at fair value through comprehensive income  -  27,306,153 27,306,153

Financial assets at amortized cost  144,970,535  334,224,868 479,195,403

Property and equipment - net  -  28,779,027 28,779,027

Intangible assets - net  -  7,003,148 7,003,148

Deferred tax assets  -  10,128,723 10,128,723

Other assets  14,726,918  150,048,271 164,775,189

     TOTAL ASSETS 1,506,936,990 1,233,048,426 2,739,985,416

LIABILITIES

Banks and financial institutions deposits 382,255,039 2,029,310 384,284,349

Customers deposits 1,606,613,250 96,788,065 1,703,401,315

Cash margins 79,019,587 8,940,287 87,959,874

Borrowed funds 5,643,933 27,992,609 33,636,542

Other provisions  - 12,105,531 12,105,531

Provision for income tax 14,567,302  - 14,567,302

Deferred tax liabilities  - 2,937,750 2,937,750

Other liabilities 25,476,257 10,441,655 35,917,912

     TOTAL LIABILITIES 2,113,575,368 161,235,207 2,274,810,575

     NET ASSETS  (606,638,378) 1,071,813,219 465,174,841
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Up to One Year More than One Year Total

December 31, 2015 JD JD JD

ASSETS

Cash and balances at central banks 402,439,784  - 402,439,784

Balances at banks and  financial institutions 224,544,517  - 224,544,517

Deposits at banks and financial institutions 9,107,715  - 9,107,715

Direct credit facilities - net 864,687,251 508,099,953 1,372,787,204

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 17,666,369 58,552,691 76,219,060

Financial assets at fair value through comprehensive income  - 35,229,279 35,229,279

Financial assets at amortized cost 197,400,350 308,349,626 505,749,976

Property and equipment - net  - 25,801,797 25,801,797

Intangible assets - net  - 7,065,200 7,065,200

Deferred tax assets  - 7,393,577 7,393,577

Other assets 52,778,233 125,615,161 178,393,394

     TOTAL ASSETS 1,768,624,219 1,076,107,284 2,844,731,503

LIABILITIES

Banks and financial institutions deposits 316,010,975  - 316,010,975

Customers deposits 1,797,793,173 103,112,713 1,900,905,886

Cash margins 78,509,496 8,392,604 86,902,100

Borrowed funds 5,000,000 19,015,900 24,015,900

Other provisions  - 10,526,597 10,526,597

Provision for income tax 13,238,965  - 13,238,965

Deferred tax liabilities  - 3,261,015 3,261,015

Other liabilities 25,616,323 10,000,273 35,616,596

     TOTAL LIABILITIES 2,236,168,932 154,309,102 2,390,478,034

     NET ASSETS  (467,544,713) 921,798,182 454,253,469
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45.Fair Value Hierarchy
A. The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities of the Bank specified at fair value on an ongoing basis:
Some financial assets and liabilities of the Bank are evaluated at fair value at the end of each fiscal period. The following table 
shows the information about how to determine the fair value of these financial assets and liabilities(evaluation methods and 
inputs used).

Financial Assets/
Financial Liabilities

Fair Value

The Level of
Fair Value

Evaluation Method
and Inputs used

Important 
Intangible

Inputs

Relation between
the Fair Value

and the Important 
Intangible Inputs

December 31,  

2016 2015

JD JD

Financial Assets at Fair Value

Financial Assets at Fair Value 
Through Profit or Loss

Companies shares 10,794,946 11,761,762 Level One   Rates stated in financial 
markets N/A N/A

Companies bonds 58,910,574 64,457,298 Level One & Two

 Rates stated in financial 
markets and comparing 

them with the market
price of a similar

financial instrument 

N/A N/A

     Total 69,705,520 76,219,060

Foreign currency derivatives 
contracts  -  741 Level One  Rates stated in

financial markets N/A N/A

Financial Assets at Fair Value 
through Comprehensive 
Income

Shares with available market 
price 7,378,426 15,744,333 Level One  Rates stated in financial 

markets N/A N/A

Shares with no available market 
price 19,927,727 19,484,946 Level Two

 Rates stated in financial 
markets and comparing 

them with the market
price of a similar

financial instrument 

N/A N/A

     Total 27,306,153 35,229,279

     Total Financial Assets at Fair 
Value 97,011,673 111,448,339

Financial Liabilities at Fair 
Value

Foreign currency derivatives 
contracts  -  - Level One  Stated rates in

financial markets N/A N/A

     Total Liabilities at Fair Value  -  - 

There were no transfers between level 1 and level 2 during the year 2016.
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B -The fair value of the financial assets and financial liabilities of the Bank (non-specific fair value on an ongoing basis):
Except for what is set out in the table below, we believe that the carrying amount of financial assets and liabilities shown in the 
financial statements of the Bank approximates their fair value because the Bank's management believes that the carrying value 
of the items is equivalent to their fair value. This is due to either maturity or short-term interest rates repriced during the year.

December 31, 2016 December 31, 2015 The Level of
Fair ValueBook value Fair Value Book value Fair Value

JD JD JD JD

Financial Assets of Non-specified Fair Value

Cash at central banks 239,266,173 239,253,846 362,947,946 362,986,181 Level Two

Balances at banks and financial institutions 212,859,226 212,729,896 224,544,517 224,643,217 Level Two

Deposits at banks and financial institutions 14,166,627 14,047,787 9,107,715 9,135,700 Level Two

Direct credit facilities 1,446,910,964 1,438,028,896 1,372,787,204 1,380,897,587 Level Two 

Financial assets at amortized cost 479,195,403 474,236,347 505,749,976 508,699,397 Level One & Two

Total Financial Assets of Non-specified Fair Value 2,392,398,393 2,378,296,772 2,475,137,358 2,486,362,082

Financial Liabilities of Non-specified Fair Value

Banks and financial institutions deposits 384,284,349 383,484,761 316,010,975 316,602,646 Level Two

Customers' deposits 1,703,401,315 1,698,668,014 1,900,905,886 1,906,064,901 Level Two

Cash margin 87,959,874 87,609,871 86,902,100 87,316,683 Level Two

Borrowed funds 33,636,542 33,316,168 24,015,900 24,300,739 Level Two

Total Financial Liabilities of Non-specified Fair Value 2,209,282,080 2,203,078,814 2,327,834,861 2,334,284,969

The fair value of the financial assets and liabilities for level 2 and level 3 was determined in accordance with agreed pricing 
models, which reflect the credit risk of the parties dealt with.

46. Commitments and Contingent Liabilities (Off- Consolidated Statement of Financial Position)
a. Credit commitments and contingencies:

2016 2015

JD JD

Letters of credit  76,808,289 62,756,075 

Letters of acceptances  42,337,535 31,155,737 

Letters of guarantee:

  Payments  117,327,764 97,056,778 

  Performance bonds  100,811,325 109,353,459 

  Other  44,267,331 54,685,259 

Unutilized credit facilities ceilings  113,959,438 93,298,999 

     Total  495,511,682  448,306,307 

b. Contractual obligations:

2016 2015

JD JD

Contracts to purchase property and equipment  3,178,260 2,408,198 

Construction contracts  1,925,672 1,515,346 

Other purchases contracts  1,764,172 1,251,863 

     Total 6,868,104 5,175,407 

c. Operating leases amounted to JD 15,499,350 with periods ranging from 1 to 10 years (JD 14,966,458 as of December 31, 2015).
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47. Lawsuits against the Bank
a. The Bank is a defendant in lawsuits amounting to JD 8,034,406 as of December 31, 2016 (JD 21,771,211 as of December 31, 

2015). In the opinion of the Bank’s management and its legal advisor, no liabilities shall arise against the Bank exceeding the 
existing provision of JD 869,544 as of December 31, 2016 (JD 628,682 as of December 31, 2015). 

b. As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, there were no lawsuits against the subsidiary companies.

48. Adoption of New and Revised International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) 
48. a. New and revised IFRSs applied with no material effect on the financial statements:
The following new and revised IFRSs, which became effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2016, have 
been adopted in these consolidation financial statements. The application of these revised IFRSs has not had any material impact 
on the amounts reported for the current and prior years but may affect the accounting for future transactions or arrangements.

•IFRS 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts
•Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements relating to Disclosure initiative
• Amendments to IFRS 11 Joint arrangements relating to accounting for acquisitions of interests in joint operations
• Amendments to IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment and IAS 38 Intangible Assets relating to clarification of acceptable 

methods of depreciation and amortisation
• Amendments to IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment and IAS 41 Agriculture: Bearer Plants
• Amendments to IAS 27 Separate Financial Statements relating to accounting investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and 

associates to be optionally accounted for using the equity method in separate financial statements
• Amendments to IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements, IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities and IAS 28 

Investment in Associates and Joint Ventures relating to applying the consolidation exception for investment entities
• Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2012 – 2014 Cycle covering amendments to IFRS 5, IFRS 7, IAS 19 and IAS 34.

48. b. New and revised IFRSs in issue but not yet effective and not early adopted
The Bank has not yet applied the following new and revised IFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:

New and revised IFRSs Effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after

Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2014 – 2016 Cycle 
amending IFRS 1, IFRS 12 and IAS 28

The amendments to IFRS 1 and IAS 28 are effective 
for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 
2018; the amendment to IFRS 12 for annual periods 
beginning on or after January 1, 2017

Amendments to IAS 12 Income Taxes relating to the recognition 
of deferred tax assets for unrealized losses

January 1, 2017

Amendments to IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows to provide 
disclosures that enable users of financial statements to evaluate 
changes in liabilities arising from financing activities.

January 1, 2017

IFRIC 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance 
Consideration The interpretation addresses foreign currency 
transactions or parts of transactions where:

• there is consideration that is denominated or priced in a 
foreign currency; 

• the entity recognises a prepayment asset or a deferred income 
liability in respect of that consideration, in advance of the 
recognition of the related asset, expense or income; and 

• the prepayment asset or deferred income liability is non-
monetary.

January 1, 2018

Amendments to IFRS 2 Share Based Payment regarding 
classification and measurement of share based payment 
transactions

January 1, 2018
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Amendments to IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts:  Relating to the different effective dates of IFRS 9 and 
the forthcoming new insurance contracts standard.

January 1, 2018

Amendments to IAS 40 Investment Property: Amends paragraph 57 to state that an entity shall 
transfer a property to, or from, investment property when, and only when, there is evidence of 
a change in use. A change of use occurs if property meets, or ceases to meet, the definition of 
investment property. A change in management’s intentions for the use of a property by itself does 
not constitute evidence of a change in use. The paragraph has been amended to state that the list of 
examples therein is non-exhaustive.

January 1, 2018

Amendments to IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures relating to disclosures about the initial 
application of IFRS 9

When IFRS 9 is 
first applied

IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures relating to the additional hedge accounting disclosures 
(and consequential amendments) resulting from the introduction of the hedge accounting chapter in 
IFRS 9

When IFRS 9 is 
first applied

IFRS 16 Leases

IFRS 16 specifies how an IFRS reporter will recognise, measure, present and disclose leases. The 
standard provides a single lessee accounting model, requiring lessees to recognise assets and 
liabilities for all leases unless the lease term is 12 months or less or the underlying asset has a low 
value. Lessors continue to classify leases as operating or finance, with IFRS 16’s approach to lessor 
accounting substantially unchanged from its predecessor, IAS 17.

January 1, 2019

Amendments to IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements and IAS 28 Investments in Associates 
and Joint Ventures (2011) relating to the treatment of the sale or contribution of assets from and 
investor to its associate or joint venture.

Effective 
date deferred 
indefinitely

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (revised versions in 2009, 2010, 2013 and 2014)

IFRS 9 issued in November 2009 introduced new requirements for the classification and 
measurement of financial assets. IFRS 9 was subsequently amended in October 2010 to include 
requirements for the classification and measurement of financial liabilities and for derecognition, 
and in November 2013 to include the new requirements for general hedge accounting. Another 
revised version of IFRS 9 was issued in July 2014 mainly to include a) impairment requirements for 
financial assets and b) limited amendments to the classification and measurement requirements by 
introducing a ‘fair value through other comprehensive income’ (FVTOCI) measurement category for 
certain simple debt instruments.

A finalised version of IFRS 9 which contains accounting requirements for financial instruments, 
replacing IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. The standard contains 
requirements in the following areas:

Classification and measurement: Financial assets are classified by reference to the business 
model within which they are held and their contractual cash flow characteristics. The 2014 version 
of IFRS 9 introduces a ‘fair value through other comprehensive income’ category for certain debt 
instruments. Financial liabilities are classified in a similar manner to under IAS 39. However, there 
are differences in the requirements applying to the measurement of an entity’s own credit risk.

Impairment: The 2014 version of IFRS 9 introduces an ‘expected credit loss’ model for the 
measurement of the impairment of financial assets, so it is no longer necessary for a credit event to 
have occurred before a credit loss is recognised 

Hedge accounting: Introduces a new hedge accounting model that is designed to be more closely 
aligned with how entities undertake risk management activities when hedging financial and non-
financial risk exposures. 

Derecognition: The requirements for the derecognition of financial assets and liabilities are carried 
forward from IAS 39.

January 1, 2018
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Amendments to IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers to clarify three aspects of the 
standard (identifying performance obligations, principal versus agent considerations, and licensing) 
and to provide some transition relief for modified contracts and completed contracts.

January 1, 2018

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

In May 2014, IFRS 15 was issued which established a single comprehensive model for entities to 
use in accounting for revenue arising from contracts with customers. IFRS 15 will supersede the 
current revenue recognition guidance including IAS 18 Revenue, IAS 11 Construction Contracts and 
the related interpretations when it becomes effective.

The core principle of IFRS 15 is that an entity should recognize revenue to depict the transfer of 
promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the 
entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. Specifically, the standard 
introduces a 5-step approach to revenue recognition:

• Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer.

• Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the contract.

• Step 3: Determine the transaction price.

• Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract.

• Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation.

Under IFRS 15, an entity recognises when (or as) a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when 
‘control’ of the goods or services underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred 
to the customer. Far more prescriptive guidance has been added in IFRS 15 to deal with specific 
scenarios. Furthermore, extensive disclosures are required by IFRS 15.

January 1, 2018

Management anticipates that these new standards, interpretations and amendments will be adopted in the Bank’s consolidated 
financial statements as and when they are applicable, and adoption of these new standards, interpretations and amendments, 
except for IFRS 9, IFRS 15 and IFRS 16, may have no material impact on the consolidated financial statements of the Bank in 
the period of initial application.
Management anticipates that IFRS 15 and IFRS 9 will be adopted in the Bank’s consolidated financial statements for the annual 
period beginning 1 January 2018 and that IFRS 16 will be adopted in the Bank’s consolidated financial statements for the annual 
period beginning 1 January 2019. 
The application of IFRS 15 and IFRS 9 may have significant impact on amounts reported and disclosures made in the Bank’s 
consolidated financial statements in respect of revenue from contracts with customers and the Bank’s financial assets and 
financial liabilities, and the application of IFRS 16 may have significant impact on amounts reported and disclosures made in the 
Bank’s consolidated financial statements in respect of its leases. However, it is not practical to provide a reasonable estimate of 
the effects of applying these standard until the Bank conducts a detailed review regarding this matter.
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Statement of Disclosure
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Jordan Kuwait Bank

Statement of Disclosure for the Financial Year ending 31/12/2016, in accordance 
with article (4) of the disclosure regulations, the accounting and auditing 

standards issued by the Jordan Securities Commission.

Item

4a: Chairman’s Statement: Included in the report.

4b/1: Description of main activities: Included in the report.

The Bank operates through its head office in Abdali - Amman and 61 branches in Jordan, in addition to a Regional Management 
and four branches in Palestine and one branch in Cyprus. Total capital expenditure for the year 2016 amounted to JOD6.69 
million. The table below shows the Bank’s locations and the number of staff at each.

Location No. of 
Staff Location No. of 

Staff Location No. of 
Staff

Head Office 543 Al-Rabiyah Branch 10 Al-Rawnaq Branch 9

Main Branch 16 Vegetable Market Branch  11 Southern Sweileh Branch 9

Abdali Branch 18 M.Munawarah St. Branch 13 Irbid Branch 15

Jabal Amman Branch 11 Sweifiyyah  Branch 11 Wadi Saqra Branch 10

Wehdat Branch 13 Nazzal Branch 9 Al-Husson St. Branch- Irbid 7

Tla’ El 'Ali Branch 15 Mecca Mall Branch 10 Yarmouk University Branch- Irbid 9

Jabal Al-Hussein Branch 12 Petra University  Branch 5 Al-Mafraq  Branch 7

Commercial Center Branch 12 Al-Mougablain Branch 11 Al-Karak  Branch 9

Abu-Alanda Branch 11 Marj El-Hamam Branch 10 Aqaba Branch 11

Yarmouk Branch 10 Zain  Branch 8 Zarqa Branch 12

Wadi  El-Seir Branch 12 Samarah Mall Branch 5 Russaifeh Branch 11

Jubaiha Branch 11 Al-Ahliyya Amman University Branch 7 Zarqa Free Zone Branch 10

Amra Branch 11 Baq’ah Branch 10 New Zarqa Branch 9

Abdoun Branch  13 Madaba Branch 8 M. Al-Riyadeah Branch 10

Abu-Nsair Branch 9 Al-Salt Branch 8 King Abdullah II St. Branch – Irbid 9

Marka Branch 11 King Abdullah Bureau  Branch 5 Jawal Branch 5

Ibn Khaldoun Branch  8 Khalda Branch 9 Regional Management - Palestine 14

Dabouq Branch 10 Dair Ghbar  Branch 8 Nablus Branch 11

City Mall Branch 11 Taj Mall  Branch 6 Ramallah Branch 11

Shmeissani Branch 15 Galleria Mall Branch 10 Bethlehem Branch 13

King Hussein Bin Talal St.
Branch – Zarqa 8 Hashmi Branch 10 Jenin Branch 10

Abdali Mall Branch 7 Mecca Street Branch 12 Cyprus Branch 7

Tabarbour Branch 9 Zahran Branch 7

United Financial Investments Co. (Subsidiary)  15

Ejara Leasing Co. (Subsidiary) 19
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4b /2: Subsidiaries: 

United Financial Investments Company
United Financial Investments Co. (UFICO) was established in 1980. In 1996 the company was restructured as a public shareholding 
company. 
The company enjoys a leading position among the major top firms operating in the ASE. UFICO provides financial services, 
which are directly connected with local and international financial markets.
In 2002, UFICO became a subsidiary of Jordan Kuwait Bank. The Bank holds 50.22% of the company’s capital of JD8 million 
(USD11.28m) as at December 2016.
The Company’s H.Q. is located in Shmeissani, Amman with 15 working employees.

Ejara Leasing Company 
Jordan Kuwait Bank established Ejara Leasing Company on January 6, 2011. The company was registered as a private 
shareholding company with paid-up capital JD10 million (USD14.1m) fully paid by the Bank. In September 2012 Ejara’s capital 
was raised to JD20 million (USD28.2m). 
Ejara Leasing Company aims to provide innovative and high quality leasing services to supplement the banking and financing 
services offered at Jordan Kuwait Bank to be in line with the developments in the financial market, meet the needs of the Bank’s 
clients and support the various economic activities, while developing the concept of financial leasing and providing the Bank’s 
clients with different financing alternatives.
The Company’s H.Q. is located in the Mecca Street Branch building, Amman with 19 working employees.

Specialized Management Co. For Investment & Financial Advisory (Sanad Capital) 
Sanad Capital was founded on 22/11/2016 as a private limited company with a paid-up capital of JD530 thousand (USD747 
thousand) fully paid by the Bank.
The company, which commenced its operations during the first quarter of 2017, offers a wide range of financial and advisory 
services including managing stocks and bonds issued, financial advisory services to companies and family groups, in addition 
to offering financial opportunities such as establishing real estate investment funds and other financial and advisory services. 
Sanad Capital received its lead managed and financial advisor licenses from Jordan Securities Commission at the beginning of 
2017.
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4b/3: Executives’ Biography:
1- Members of the Board of Directors:

1. H. E. Mr. Abdel Karim A. Kabariti        

Chairman 
Date of membership: 15/7/1997

Date of Birth: 1949

Education: Bachelor degree in Business and Finance with Honors from St. Edwards University-USA, 1973.

Current Positions:
• Chairman of the Board of Trustees, Al-Ahliyya Amman University
• Chairman, United Financial Investments Company / Representative of Jordan Kuwait Bank
• Chairman, Algeria Gulf Bank – Algeria / Representative of Jordan Kuwait Bank
• Board Member, Jordan Dairy Company
• Board Member, Burgan Bank – Kuwait

Previous Official & Governmental Positions:
• Member of the Jordanian Senate, Head of the Economics & Finance Committee (2005 - 2007)
• Member of the Jordanian Senate, First Deputy to the Speaker (2000 – 2002)
• Chief of the Royal Court, (1999 - 2000)
• Member of the Twelfth and the Eleventh Jordanian Parliaments (1993 – 1997) and (1989 – 1993) / Head of 

the Economics & Finance Committee (1993 – 1995)
• Prime Minister, Minister of Foreign Affairs and Minister of Defense (1996 - 1997)
• Minister of Foreign Affairs (1995 - 1996)
• Minister of Labor (1991 - 1993)
• Minister of Tourism (1989 - 1991)

Previous Business Experiences: 
• Worked at many financial institutions / private business (1973 – 1989)

2. Mr. Faisal H. Al -Ayyar

Vice Chairman, Representative of United Gulf Bank - Bahrain
Date of membership: 15/7/1997

Date of Birth: 1954

Education: Graduated as a fighter pilot – USA, 1976 and Jordanian Aviation Academy, 1981 

Current and Previous Positions:
• Vice Chairman (Executive), Kuwait Projects Co. (Holding) - Kuwait
• Chairman, Panther Media Group (OSN)  - Dubai, UAE 
• Vice Chairman, Gulf Insurance Group - Kuwait
• Vice Chairman, United Gulf Bank - Bahrain
• Vice Chairman, Mashare’a  Al-Khair Est. - Kuwait
• Board Member, Saudi Dairy & Foodstuff Co. (SADAFCO) – Kingdom Saudi Arabia
• Board Member, Gulf Egypt for Hotels  & Tourism Co. - Egypt
• Trustee, American University of Kuwait - Kuwait 
• Honorary Chairman, Kuwait Association for Learning Differences – Kuwait

Honors & Awards: 
• Kuwait Financial Forum 2009, for contributions to the Kuwait investment sector and success in global financial 

markets
• Tunis Arab Economic Forum 2007
• Lifetime Achievement Award, Beirut Arab Economic Forum 2007
• Arab Bankers Association of North America (ABANA) Achievement Award in 2005
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3. Mr. Masaud M. Jawhar Hayat

Board Member, Representative of Al- Futtooh Holding Co. - Kuwait
Date of Membership: 20/2/2001

Date of Birth: 1953

Education: Bachelor degree in Economics, Kuwait University, 1973 and a High Diploma in Banking Studies, 1975.

Current and Previous Positions:
• Chief Executive Officer of the banking sector, Kuwait Projects Co. (Holding) - Kuwait (2010 – Present)
• Chairman, United Gulf Bank – Bahrain          
• Chairman, Syria Gulf Bank - Syria
• Chairman &  Chairman of the Executive Committee, Tunis International Bank - Tunis
• Vice Chairman, FIMBank - Malta
• Vice Chairman &  Chairman of the Executive Committee, Algeria Gulf Bank - Algeria
• Vice Chairman, Royal Capital Co. – Abu Dhabi
• Deputy Chairman &  Chairman of the Executive Committee, Bank of Baghdad - Iraq
• Board Member, KIPCO Asset Management Co. (KAMCO) - Kuwait
• Board Member, Burgan Bank - Kuwait
• Board Member, North African Co. 
• Board Member,  Mashare’a  Al-Khair Est. - Kuwait

4. Mr. Tariq M. Abdul Salam  

Board Member, Representative of Kuwait Projects Co. (Holding) – Kuwait
Date of Membership: 15/7/1997

Date of Birth: 1965

Education: Bachelor degree in Accounting, Kuwait University, 1987. Diploma in International Securities, Kuwait, 
1996.

Current Positions: 
• Chief Executive Officer of the Investment sector, Kuwait Projects Co. (Holding) - Kuwait  (2011 - Present)
• Chairman, United Real Estate Company - Kuwait (2010 - Present)
• Vice Chairman, Kuwait Clearing Co. – Kuwait (2004 - Present)
• Vice Chairman, North Africa Co. Holding (2014 – Present)
• Board Member, KIPCO Asset Management Co. (KAMCO) - Kuwait (2013 - Present)
• Board Member, Saudi Dairy & Foodstuff Co. (SADAFCO) – Kingdom Saudi Arabia (2012 - Present)
• Board Member, Qurain Petrochemical Industries Co. (2012 - Present)

Previous Positions:
• Chief Executive Officer, United Real Estate Company- Kuwait (2006-2011)
• Chairman, Burgan Bank - Kuwait (2007 - 2010)
• Vice Chairman, Burgan Bank – Kuwait (2004 - 2007)
• Board Member, Royal Capital – Abu Dhabi (2007 – 2014)
• Board Member, Bank of Kuwait & Middle East – Kuwait (2003 - 2004)
• Board Member, United Gulf Bank – Bahrain (2002 - 2008)
• Board Member, Industrial Bank of Kuwait – Kuwait (2002 - 2003)
• Board Member, KIPCO Asset Management Co. (KAMCO) (1998 - 2009)
• General Manager, KIPCO Asset Management Co. (KAMCO) (1998 - 2006)
• Chairman, Kuwait Clearing Co. – Kuwait (1997 - 2004)
• Board Member, Gulf Insurance Company – Kuwait (1997 - 2001)
• Vice President, Trading and Investment Portfolio Management, Kuwait Investments Projects Co.- Kuwait 

(1996 – 1999)
• Board Member, Bahrain and Kuwait Insurance Co. – Kuwait (1992-2008)
• Manager, Trading and Global Investment Projects Department, Kuwait Investment Projects Co.-Kuwait (1992 

- 1996)

http://www.qpic-kw.com/
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5. Mr. Mohammad A. AlMadi

Board Member, Representative of Social Security Corporation
Date of Membership: 5/9/2016

Date of Birth: 1971

Education: Bachelor degree in Accounting, Yarmouk University, 1992, Master degree in Financing, Jordan 
University, 1998.

Current Positions:
• Head of Internal Audit, Social Security Investment Fund (2003 – Present)

Previous Positions:
• Internal Audit Department, Central Bank of Jordan (1994 – 2003)
• Arab Bank (1993)
• Accounts Audit, Deloitte and Touche (1992 – 1993)
• Board Member, Jordan Petroleum Refinery Co. ltd (2010 - 2016)
• Board Member, Jopetrol (2013 – 2016)
• Board Member, Jopetrol Lube Oil (2013 – 2016)
• Board Member, Capital Bank (2011)
• Board Member, Al Daman Company for International Investments (2014 – 2016)
• Board Member, Jordan Real-estate Co. for Development (2006 – 2010)
• Board Member, Areej United Housesing Company (2007 – 2011) 

6. Mr. Farouk A. Al -Aref

Board Member
Date of Membership: 15/7/1997

Date of Birth: 1938

Education: Bachelor degree in International Relations, University of Chicago –USA, 1961.

Previous Positions:
• CEO, Gulfcom Telecommunications
• Head of Management Committee, Jordan SADAFCO Food Co. (Until May 2009)
• Deputy General Manager, Al Razi Pharmaceutical Company (1993 - 1999)
• Deputy General Manager, Jordan Kuwait Bank (1988 - 1993)
• General Manager, Nayef Al Dabbous & Sons Co. - Kuwait (1970 - 1988)
• Administrative Manager, Ministry of Public Works - Kuwait (1961 - 1966)

7. Dr. Yousef M. Goussous

Board Member, Representative of Burgan Bank – Kuwait
Date of Membership: 20/2/2001

Date of Birth: 1939

Education: Bachelor degree in medicine, Ain Shams University-Egypt, 1965 and then completed his specialization 
in heart diseases at Houston University, Texas-USA, 1973.

Current and Previous Positions:
• Deputy Head of Management Committee, Amman Surgical Hospital
• Member of the Jordan Senate ( 27/9/2016 – Present)
• Member of the Jordanian Senate (2011 – 2013)
• Lecturer on heart disease at the University of Jordan and at the Jordan University for Science and Technology
• Senior consultant at Queen Alia Center for Heart Disease and Surgery
• Served as Manager of Al Hussein Medical Center and Chief of the Royal Medical Services
• Fellow of several distinguished British and American medical institutions
• Holder of several elite civil, military and medical medals of achievement in Jordan and abroad
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8. Mr. Mansour A. Louzi

Board Member, Representative of Strategy Company for Investments
Date of Membership: 15/3/2009

Date of Birth: 1961

Education: Bachelor degree in Business Administration and Marketing, St. Edwards University, Texas -USA, 
1983.

Current Positions:
• Business Development Manager, Siemens Company - Jordan Branch
• Board Member, United Financial Investments Co. / Representative of Jordan Kuwait Bank

Previous Positions:
• Board Member, Arab Orient Insurance Co. (2009 - 2013)
• Board Member, Jordan New Cable Company (2008 - 2011)
• Administrative Manager, Siemens Company -Jordan Branch (1993 - 2006)
• Board Member, Amman Insurance Company Ltd. (1998 - 2000)
• Board Member, Philadelphia Bank for Investment (1996 - 2000)
• Board Member, National Company for Steel Manufacturing (1995 - 2000)
• Central Bank of Jordan – International Relations Dept. - Investment Unit (1985 - 1993)
• Jordan Armed  Forces – Studies & Development Dept. (1984 - 1985)

9. Mr. Bijan Khosrowshahi 

Board Member, Representative of Odyssey Reinsurance Co. - U.S.A
Date of Membership: 23/3/2011

Date of Birth: 1961

Education: MBA, 1986 and Bachelor degree in Mechanical Engineering, Drexel University, USA, 1983.

Current Positions:
• President of Fairfax International, London
• Board member, Representative of Fairfax Financial Holdings Limited for the following companies: 
• Gulf Insurance Company – Kuwait
• Gulf Insurance & Reinsurance Company (GIRI) - Kuwait
• Bahrain Kuwait Insurance – Bahrain
• Arab Misr Insurance Group – Egypt
• Arab Orient Insurance Company – Jordan
• Alliance Insurance P.S.C. - Dubai
• BRIT Limited - United Kingdom
• Commercial International Bank – Egypt

Previous Positions:
• President & CEO, Fuji Fire and Marine Insurance Company, Japan
• President, AIG’s General Insurance operations, Seoul, Korea (2001-2004)
• Vice Chairman and Managing Director, AIG Sigorta, Istanbul, Turkey (1997-2001)
• Regional Vice President, AIG’s domestic property and casualty operations for the Mid-Atlantic region, USA
• Held various underwriting and management positions with increasing responsibilities, AIG, USA since 1986
• Board member, Foreign Affairs Council
• Board member, Insurance Society of Philadelphia
• Council member, USO, Korea
• Chairman, Insurance committee of the American Chamber of Commerce, Korea
• Member, Turkish Businessmen’s Association
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10. H.E. Dr. Marwan J. Muasher

Independent Board Member
Date of membership: 25/4/2016

Date of Birth: 1956

Education: PhD in Computer Engineering, Perdue University-USA, 1981, Masters of Science in Computer 
Engineering, Perdue University-USA, 1978, Bachelor of Science in Computer Engineering, Perdue University-
USA, 1977. 

Current Positions:
• Vice President for Studies, The Middle East Program, The Carnegie Endowment for International Peace 

(2010- present) 
• Member of the Board of Trustees, American University of Beirut (2007-present)
• Member of the Aspen Ministers Forum (2009- present)
• Advisory Board Member, IMF Middle East Department (2010 – present)
• Advisory Board Member, Purdue University Global Policy Research Institute (2010 –present)
• Advisory Board Member, The Hague Institute for Global Justice (2011- present)
• Board Member, Partners for Demographic Change (2013- present)
• Board Member, The Asfari Foundation (2013 –present)
• Board Member, The Global Centre on Pluralism (2014- present)

Previous Positions:
• Senior Fellow, Yale University (2010-2011)
• Senior Vice President – External Affairs, The World Bank (2007-2010)
• Member of the Jordanian Senate (2005-2007)
• Deputy Prime Minister and Government Spokesperson (7/2005-11/2005)
• Minister of the Royal Court (Chief of Staff) for King Abdullah II of Jordan (4/2005-7/2005)
• Deputy Prime Minister in charge of reform and government performance (2004-2005)
• Minister of Foreign Affairs (2002-2004)
• Jordan’s Ambassador to the United States (1997-2002)

11. Mr. Hani K. Hunaidi

Independent Board Member
Date of membership: 25/4/2016

Date of Birth: 1949

Education: Master of Business Administration (MBA), Portland State University –USA, 1980 and Bachelor of 
Business Administration, American University of Beirut. 1973, Certified Public Accountant (CPA).

Current Positions:
• Chairman, Mediterranean Industries

Previous Positions:
• Chairman, National Ammonia and Chemical Industries (1991- 2009)
• Managing Director, Jordan Kuwait Company for Agriculture and Food Products (1986-1992)
• Project General Manager, Jordan Management and Consultancy Corp. (1984-1986)
• Financial and Administrative Manager, Jordan Securities Corp. (1982-1984)
• Auditor, Touch Ross & Co. (1980-1982)
• Project Senior Accountant, Consolidated Contractor Company (1976-1978)
• Accountant, Safwan Trading & Contracting Co. Kuwait (1973-1974)

file:///\\10.100.23.145\annual report\التقرير السنوي 2016\Work Files\Board Bios - Updated\uwait
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12. Mr. Majed F. Burjak

Independent Board Member
Date of membership: 25/4/2016

Date of Birth: 1947

Education: Bachelor degree in Public Administration and Political Science, Jordan University, 1969.

Previous Positions: 
• Deputy General Manager/Support Services Group, Jordan Kuwait Bank (2007-2011)
• Assistance General Manager/Operations, Jordan Kuwait Bank (1998-2007)
• Deputy Chairman, Jordan Visa Services Company (1999-2011)
• Assistant General Manager for Technology and Operations, Export and Finance Bank (1996- 1998)
• Senior Business Manager, ANZ Banking Corporation - Australia ( 1993-1996)
• Country Operations Manager, Grindlays Bank (1969-1993)

13. Dr. Safwan S. Toqan

Independent Board Member
Date of membership: 7/12/2016

Date of Birth: 1942

Education: Bachelor degree in Business Administration, American University - Beirut, 1966, Master degree in 
Economics, University of South California – USA, 1976, PhD in Economics, University of South California –USA, 
1980.

Previous Positions: 
• Member of the 26th Jordanian Senate
• Chairman, Amman Stock Exchange (2012-2013)
• Chairman, Jordan Phosphate Mines Company (2000 – 2004)
• General Manager, Social Security Corporation (1994 – 1999)
• Secretary General, Ministry of Planning (1989 – 1994)
• Assistant Professor, Yarmouk University (1981 – 1989)
• Lecturer, University of South California – USA (1975 – 1980)
• Central Bank of Jordan (1966 – 1975)
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2- Executive Management:

1. Mr. “Moh’d Yaser” M. Al -Asmar

Position: General Manager

Date of Birth: 1947

Date of joining: 15/9/1990

Education: Bachelor degree in Business Administration, University of Jordan, 1970.

Previous Positions:
• Asst. General Manager, Credit Department (1990 – 1993)
• Asst. General Manager, Credit Administration and Control, Commercial Bank of Kuwait - Kuwait (1971 – 

1990)

Previous Memberships:
• Board Member, The Association of Banks in Jordan (2010 -  2015)
• Board Secretary (1993-2014)
• Board Member, Arab Orient Insurance Co./ Representative of Jordan Kuwait Bank (July, 2009- March, 2013)
• Vice Chairman, The Association of Banks in Jordan (2005-2010)
• Chairman and Board Member, Arab Orient Insurance Co. / Representative of Strategy Company for 

Investments (Jan. 2009-June, 2009)

2. Mr. Tawfiq A. Mukahal

Position: Deputy General Manager – Head of Banking Group

Date of Birth: 1951

Date of joining: 12/10/1991

Education: Secondary School Certificate, 1969.

Previous Positions: 
• Asst. General Manager, Credit Dept. (1998 – 2007)
• Executive Manager, Credit Dept. (1993 – 1997)
• Manager, Marketing & Credit Unit (1991 – 1993)
• Manager, Marketing & Credit Dept., National Bank of Kuwait – Kuwait (1971 – 1990)

Current Positions:
• Board Member, Jordan Mortgage Refinance Co./ Representative of Jordan Kuwait Bank
• Board Member, Jordan Loan Guarantee Corporation / Representative of Jordan Kuwait Bank

3. Mr. Shaher E. Suleiman

Position: Head of Risk Management & Compliance Group

Date of Birth: 1963

Date of joining: 16/5/1999

Education: Master degree in International Banking, Heriot-Watt University – U.K., 1998.

Previous Positions:
• Asst. General Manager – Internal Audit Dept. (1999-2009)
• Worked at the Central Bank of Jordan (1988 – 1999)  

http://www.jlgc.com/
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4. Mr. William J. Dababneh

Position: Head of Treasury & Investment 

Date of Birth: 1957

Date of joining: 27/8/1994

Education: Secondary School Certificate, 1975.

Previous Positions:  
• 17 Years of experience in various banks and the last was Arab Jordanian Investment Bank (1990 – 1994)

5. Mrs. Hiyam S. Habash 

Position: Head of Finance

Date of Birth: 1955

Date of joining: 6/2/1999

Education: Diploma in Applied Science, American Lebanese University, 1978.

Previous Positions:
• Financial Manager, New English School (1992 – 1997)
• Financial Manager, Petra Bank (1978 – 1989)

6. Mr. Haethum S. Buttikhi 

Position: Head of Retail & Private Banking 

Date of Birth: 1977

Date of joining: 1/6/2003

Education: Royal Military Academy, Sandhurst - U.K., 1996.

Bachelor degree in Political Science & International Relations, Kent University – U.K., 2000.

Previous Positions:
• Executive Manager, Private Banking Unit (2006 - 2007)
• Manager, Main Branch (2003 - 2005)

Memberships:
• Chairman, Ejara Leasing Co. (fully owned subsidiary) (2011 – Present)
• Board Member, United Financial Investments Co. (2005 – Present)
• Vice Chairman, Middle East Payment Services (MEPS) / Representative of Jordan Kuwait Bank (2009 – 

Present)
• Board Member, Jordan Phosphate Mines Co./ Representative of Jordan Kuwait Bank (2012 – 14/4/2016)

7. Mr. Abdel Kareem M. Friehat

Position: Head of Operations & Information Technology

Date of Birth: 1966

Date of joining: 6/10/2013

Education:  Bachelor degree in Electrical Engineering, Mu’tah University, 1988

Previous Positions:
• CEO, Almanar CroweHorwath – Saudi Arabia (2011-2013)
• Chief Information Officer, Bank Al Jazira  - Saudi Arabia (2001-2011)
• Secretary General, Ministry of Information and Communication Technology - Jordan (2007-2008)
• General Manager, ComNet (1999-2001)
• Communications Consultant, Housing Bank for Trade and Finance (1995-1999)
• Communications Engineer, Communications Dept. Jordanian Armed Forces (1988-1995)

http://www.google.com/url?sa=t&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=web&cd=1&ved=0CDUQFjAA&url=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.jordanphosphate.com%2F&ei=8FVAUYvmLYXNtQaCk4DAAQ&usg=AFQjCNF2P0U_BKDhDcDIphi8xWXF4y5aJQ&sig2=8Fgtgbhoyi1sKdsRK3SIIg&bvm=bv.43287494,d.Yms
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  8. Mr. Zuhdi B. Al-Jayousi

Position: Head of Corporate Credit

Date of Birth: 1970

Date of joining: 6/9/1997

Education: Bachelor degree in Accounting, Al- Ahliyya Amman University, 1994.

Previous Positions:
• General Banking Experience, Jordan & Gulf Bank, (1994 –1997).

Memberships: 
• Board Member, Comprehensive Leasing Co. / Representative of Jordan Kuwait Bank (2006 - Present)

  9. Mr. Ibrahim E. Kashet

Position: Head of Legal Affairs

Date of Birth: 1962

Date of joining: 1/4/1989

Education: Bachelor degree in Law, University of Jordan, 1986

Previous Positions:
• Legal Department (2000 – Present)
• Credit Department (1994 – 2000)
• Credit Follow Up Department (1989 – 1994)

Memberships:
• Board Member, Ejara Leasing Co. (fully owned subsidiary)

10. Mr. Ibraheem S. Al-Hanash

Position: Regional Head – Palestine Branches 

Date of Birth: 1957

Date of joining: 1/2/1981

Education: Bachelor degree in Accounting, Philadelphia University – Jordan, 1999.

Previous Positions:
• Jordan Kuwait Bank – Jordan (1981-2007)

Memberships:
• Board Member, The Arab Hotels Co. – Palestine/ Representative of Jordan Kuwait Bank (2013 – Present)

11. Mr. Moh’d J. Azem Hammad

Position: Head of Risk Department

Date of Birth: 1972

Date of joining: 10/8/1999

Education: Master degree in Banking & Finance, The Arab Academy for Banking & Financial Studies, 1999

Previous Positions: 
• General Banking Experience, Arab Real Estate Bank, (1994 –1999).
• Memberships:
• Board Member, Ejara Leasing Co. (fully owned subsidiary)  (2013 – Present)
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12. Mr. Sa’ed M. Tu’meh:

Position: Head of Compliance Department

Date of Birth: 1970

Date of joining: 1/5/2001

Education: Bachelor degree in Accounting, University of Jordan, 1992

Previous Positions: 
• General Banking Experience, Housing Bank, (1992 –2001)

13. Mr. Abdallah I. Mismar

Position: Head of Administrative Affairs Dept.

Date of Birth: 1973

Date of joining: 5/3/2000

Education: Bachelor degree in Law, Al-Ahliyya Amman University, 1997

Previous Positions:
• Legal Affairs Department at Ministry of Interior (1997-2000)

14. Mr. Daoud A. Issa

Position: Head of Human Resources Department

Date of Birth: 1973

Date of joining: 18/11/2012

Education: Bachelor degree in Economics, Yarmouk University, 1998

Previous Positions:
• Head of HR planning and budget and Head of Personnel, Qatar Petroleum and its affiliated companies - 

Qatar (2004-2012)
• Personnel Manager, Lotus Trading and Contracting Company – Qatar (2001 – 2004)
• Personnel and Public Relations Manager, Engineering Technical Contracting Company – Jordan (2000-

2001)

15. Mr. Ibraheem F. Taani

Position: Head of Internal Audit Department 

Date of Birth: 1964

Date of joining: 4/11/2013

Education: Master degree in finance and banking, Arab Academy for Banking and Financial Sciences, 1994 

Previous Positions:
• Head of Internal Audit, Standard Chartered Bank – Jordan (2011-2013)
• Executive Vice President, ABC Investment (2009-2011)
• Chief Financial Officer, Aloula Geojit – KSA (2007-2009)
• Head of Examiners/ Inspectors - Central Bank of Jordan (1989-2007)
• Financial Analyst, Jordan Securities Commission (1988-1989)
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16. Mr. Ibrahim F. Bisha

Position: Co-Head, Treasury, Investment & Intl. Relations

Date of Birth: 1971

Date of joining: 19/6/2001

Education: Master degree in Business Administration, Maastricht School of Management – Cyprus, 2005

Previous Positions:
• Banking, Jordan Kuwait Bank (Cyprus Branch), (2001 – 2006)
• Banking, Al-Jazeerah Bank – Saudi Arabia, (1999 – 2001)
• Banking, Dar Ithmar Financial Services, (1997 – 1999)
• Banking, Amman Investment Bank, (1992 – 1997)

Memberships:
• Board Member, United Cable Industries Co. / Representative of Jordan Kuwait Bank

17. Dr. Makram A. Al- Qutob

Position: Co-Head, Corporate Credit

Date of Birth: 1965

Date of joining: 16/5/2004

Education: PhD in Accounting, Arab Academy for Banking and Financial Sciences, 2009.

Previous Positions:
• Arab Bank (1998-2004)
• Arab Thought Forum (1990-1998)

Memberships:
• Board Member, Al-Isra Education & Investment / Representative of Jordan Kuwait Bank

4b/4: Shareholders who own 1% or more of the Bank’s shares (2016 & 2015)

Shareholder Nationality No. of Shares
31/12/2016 % No. of Shares

31/12/2015 % Ultimate
Beneficiary

Mortgaged 
Shares

Al Rawabi International 
Real Estate Services Co. Kuwaiti 50,926,827 50.927 50,926,827 50.927

Kuwait Projects 
Company (Holding) 

(KIPCO)
-

Social Security Corporation Jordanian 21,041,644 21.042 21,041,644 21.042 Itself -

Odyssey Reinsurance 
Company American 5,850,000 5.850 5,850,000 5.850 Fairfax Financial 

Holdings -

Orient Holding Company Kuwaiti 1,097,246 1.097 1,097,246 1.097 Itself -

Proudstar Trading Ltd.  Cypriot 1,052,793 1.053 1,052,793 1.053 Itself -

Kuwait Wealth Holding Ltd. Virgin Islands 1,000,000 1.000 1,000,000 1.000 Itself -

http://www.google.jo/search?nord=1&biw=1199&bih=665&site=webhp&q=cypriot&spell=1&sa=X&ei=e0NTVZRZga6wAeDsgLgE&ved=0CBgQvwUoAA
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4b/5: Competitive position: The Bank operates within the Jordanian banking sector, which includes 25 local and 
foreign banks. The Bank has 61 branches in Jordan, 4 branches in Palestine and a branch in Cyprus. The Bank’s 
main activities include the acceptance of deposits, granting credit, and offering banking and investment services to 
various economic sectors, institutions and individuals. The Bank’s share of the total banking facilities in Jordan was 
5.51% and 4.98% of total deposits as at 31/12/2016.

4b/6: There are no suppliers who obtained more than 10% of the total Bank’s purchases for the year 2016. 

4b/7: - The Bank does not enjoy any governmental concessions or protection in accordance with the prevailing rules and 
regulations.

- The Bank does not have any patents or franchise rights acquired by the Bank.

4b/8: There has been no material effect on the Bank’s operations, products or competitiveness as a result of any 
government or international organizations’ decisions.

4b/9: Human Resources, Training and Organizational Structure:
Total number of employees as at 31/12/2016 was (1217) of whom (59) were employed at the Palestine Regional 
Management Office and Branches– Palestine and (7) at Cyprus branch. In addition, there were (34) employees at the 
Subsidiary companies. 

 

Staff educational qualifications:

Qualification Jordan Kuwait   Bank United Financial 
Investments Co. Ejara Leasing Co.

PhD 1 - -

Masters 67 2 1

Higher Diploma 6 - -

Bachelor 927 6 15

Diploma 125 3 1

Secondary School Certificate 31 4 2

Pre- Secondary School Certificate 60 - -

Total 1217 15 19
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Organization Structure JKB Subsidiaries

United Financial Investments Co.

Compliance Officer

DGM/ Finance, Administrations
& Shareholders’ Affairs

DGM/ Brokerage &
Investment  Affairs

    

Audit CommitteeBoard Secretary

Management CommitteeBoard Committee

Legal Advisor

Internal Audit

Brokrage &
Investment Affairs

Finance &
Administration Dept. ShareholdersResearch Studies

and IT Dept.

General Manager

General Manager

Ejara Leasing Co.

Board of Directors

Board of Directors

Risk & Project 
Management Dept.Finance DepartmentLeasing DepartmentSales & Marketing

Department
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Organization Structure JKB Subsidiaries
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Staff training during 2016:

External Training Internal Training Total

Training Subject No. of 
Courses

No. of 
Participants

No. of 
Courses

No. of 
Participants

No. of 
Courses

No. of 
Participants

Specialized Banking 16 50 93 1400 109 1450

Accounting & Financial 
Management 6 37 4 65 10 102

Treasury & Investment 4 12 - - 4 12

Inspection, Audit & Control 13 22 1 14 14 36

Administrative & Engineering 
Services 2 2 - - 2 2

Public Relations and 
Marketing 7 10 - - 7 10

English Language 21 21 6 76 27 97

IT & Banking Systems 6 15 25 381 31 396

Credit Cards 1 3 9 253 10 256

Insurance 1 2 2 39 3 41

Human Resources 3 3 - - 3 3

Project Management 1 1 - - 1 1

Risk Management 11 25 12 221 23 246

Compliance, AML & Fraud 3 12 31 605 34 617

Personal and Behavioral Skills - - 40 630 40 630

Legal - - 3 56 3 56

Occupational Health & Safety - - 1 13 1 13

Total 95 215 227 3753 322 3968

4b /10: Description of risks: Included in the report.

4b /11: Achievements during 2016: Included in the report.

4b /12: There had been no financial effects of non-recurring operations that do not fall within the Bank’s core business 
activity during 2016.

4b/13: Changes in Net Profit, Dividend, Shareholders’ equity and Share price (2012-2016)
Amounts in Thousand JOD

Year Profit
before tax

Dividend Bank Shareholders’ 
Equity Share / JOD

Bonus Shares Cash

2012 63,345 - 20% 374,085 3.030

2013 66,035 - 20% 404,526 3.890

2014 62,895 - 20% 431,784 4.290

2015 56,467 - 20% 448,579 4.100

2016 43,492 - 20% 459,693 3.940
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4b/14: Financial Position: Included in the report.

4b/15: Future Plan: Included in the report.

4b/16: Auditors’ Fees: Auditors’ fees for the Bank and its subsidiaries in 2016 amounted to JOD 248,559.

4b/17: Shares owned by the Board Members during 2016 & 2015:

Name Position Nationality Shares
31/12/2016

Shares
31/12/2015

1 H.E. Abdel Karim A. Kabariti Chairman Jordanian 1,146 1,146

2
United Gulf Bank - Bahrain Vice Chairman Bahraini 335,869 369,897

Mr. Faisal H. Al-Ayyar Representative of United Gulf Bank Kuwaiti 10,000 10,000

3
Burgan Bank Board Member Kuwaiti 1,000 1,000

Dr. Yousef M. Goussous Representative of Burgan Bank Jordanian 8,666 8,666

4
Social Security Corporation Board Member Jordanian 21,041,644 21,041,644

Mr. Mohammad A. AlMadi Representative of  Social Security Corporation Jordanian - -

5
Strategy Company for Investments Board Member Jordanian 465,631 465,631

Mr. Mansour A. Louzi Representative of Strategy Company for 
Investments Jordanian 64,224 64,224

6
Al- Futtooh Holding Co. Board Member Kuwaiti 44,996 44,996

Mr. Masaud M.Jawhar Hayat Representative of Al- Futtooh Holding Co. Kuwaiti 32 32

7
Kuwait Projects Co. (Holding)- Kuwait Board Member Kuwaiti 50,996 50,996

Mr. Tariq M. Abdul Salam Representative of  Kuwait Projects Co. (Holding) Kuwaiti 14,250 14,250

8
Odyssey Reinsurance Co. Board Member American 5,850,000 5,850,000

Mr. Bijan Khosrowshahi Representative of  Odyssey Reinsurance Co. American - -

9 Mr. Farouk A. Al-Aref Board Member Jordanian 14,004 14,004

10 Dr. Marwan J. Muasher Board Member Jordanian 137,000 137,000

11 Mr. Hani K. Hunaidi Board Member Jordanian 1,049 49

12 Mr. Majed F. Burjak Board Member Jordanian 1,000 -

13 Dr. Safwan S. Toqan Board Member Jordanian 1,000 -
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Shares owned by the Bank Executives during 2016 & 2015

Name Position Nationality Shares 
31/12/2016

Shares 
31/12/2015

1 Mr. “Moh'd Yaser” M. Al-Asmar General Manager Jordanian 25,000 20,000

2 Mr. Tawfiq A. Mukahal Deputy G.M. / Head of Banking Group Jordanian - -

3 Mr. Shaher E. Suleiman Head of Risk Management & Compliance Group Jordanian - -

4 Mr. William J. Dababneh Head of Treasury & Investment Jordanian - -

5 Mrs. Hiyam S. Habash Head of Finance Jordanian 1,600 1,600

6 Mr. Haethum S. Buttikhi Head of Retail & Private Banking Jordanian - -

7 Mr. Abdel Kareem M. Friehat Head of Operations & Information Technology Jordanian - -

8 Mr. Zuhdi B. Al-Jayousi Head of Corporate Credit Jordanian - -

9 Mr. Ibrahim E. Kashet Head of Legal Affairs Jordanian - -

10 Mr. Ibraheem S. Al-Hanash Regional Head – Palestine Branches Jordanian - -

11 Mr. Moh’d J. Azem Hammad Head of Risk Dept. Jordanian - -

12 Mr. Sa’ed M. Tu’meh Head of Compliance Dept. Jordanian - -

13 Mr. Abdallah I. Mismar Head of Administrative Affairs Dept. Jordanian - -

14 Mr. Daoud A. Issa Head of Human Resources Dept. Jordanian - -

15 Mr. Ibraheem F. Taani Head of Internal Audit Department Jordanian - -

16 Mr. Ibrahim F. Bisha Co-Head, Treasury, Investment & Intl. Relations Jordanian - -

17 Dr. Makram A. Qutob Co-Head, Corporate Credit Jordanian - -

Shares held by companies controlled by Board Members 

Board Member Position Name of controlled Company Ownership
%

Shares of controlled 
Company in JKB

31/12/2016 31/12/2015

Kuwait Projects Co. (Holding)-Kuwait Board Member Al Rawabi International Real Estate 
Services Co. 96.00 50,926,827 50,926,827

Al- Futtooh Holding Co. – Kuwait Board Member Kuwait Projects Co. (Holding)- Kuwait 44.63 50,996 50,996

Kuwait Projects Co. (Holding)-Kuwait Board Member Burgan Bank-Kuwait 64.88 1,000 1,000

Kuwait Projects Co.(Holding)- Kuwait Board Member United Gulf Bank - Bahrain 83.98 335,869 369,897
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Shares owned by the relatives of Board Members and Bank Executives (2016 & 2015)

Name Relation Nationality Shares
31/12/2016

Shares
31/12/2015

1 Mrs. Hind M. Jaber Wife of  Mr. “Moh'd Yaser” M. Al-Asmar / General Manager Jordanian 15,000 15,000

4b/18a: Members of the Board of Directors’ Remuneration (JOD): 

Name Position
Board 

Membership 
Allowance

Travel,
Transportation and 

meetings Allowances
Total

1 H.E. Abdel Karim A. Kabariti Chairman 5,000 74,219 79,219

2 Mr. Faisal H. Al-Ayyar Vice Chairman 5,000 4,254 9,254

3 Representative of  Social 
Security Corporation Board Member 5,000 5,700 10,700

4 Mr. Masaud M. Jawhar Hayat Board Member 5,000 6,381 11,381

5 Mr. Tariq M. Abdul Salam Board Member 5,000 6,981 11,981

6 Mr. Farouk A. Al-Aref Board Member 5,000 9,100 14,100

7 Dr. Yousef M. Goussous Board Member 5,000 9,100 14,100

8 Mr. Mansour A. Louzi Board Member 5,000 10,600 15,600

9 Mr. Bijan Khosrowshahi Board Member 5,000 8,508 13,508

10 Dr. Marwan J. Muasher Board Member 3,750 2,870 6,620

11 Mr. Hani K. Hunaidi Board Member 3,750 4,670 8,420

12 Mr. Majed F. Burjak Board Member 3,750 4,970 8,720

13 Dr. Safwan S. Toqan Board Member 1,250 1,000 2,250
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4b/18b: Executive Management’s Remuneration (JOD): 

Name Position Annual 
Salary

Travel & Per 
diems Committees Total

1 Mr. “Moh'd Yaser” M. Al-Asmar General Manager 463,400 7,018 9,500 479,918

2 Mr. Tawfiq A. Mukahal Deputy G.M. / Head of Banking 
Group 364,704 6,215 4,200 375,119

3 Mr. Shaher E. Suleiman Head of Risk Management & 
Compliance Group 255,312 5,100 260,412

4 Mr. William J. Dababneh Head of Treasury & Investment 265,312 1,198 266,510

5 Mrs. Hiyam S. Habash Head of Finance 236,160 4,237 240,397

6 Mr. Haethum S. Buttikhi Head of Retail & Private Banking 261,984 15,107 277,091

7 Mr. Abdel Kareem M. Friehat Head of Operations & Information 
Technology 230,995 1,743 232,738

8 Mr. Zuhdi B. Al-Jayousi Head of Corporate Credit 155,132 1,190 800 157,122

9 Mr. Ibrahim E. Kashet Head of Legal Affairs 153,260 1,582 154,842

10 Mr. Ibraheem S. Al-Hanash Regional Head – Palestine Branches 153,104 153,104

11 Mr. Moh’d J. Azem Hammad Head of Risk Dept. 136,924 1,064 600 138,588

12 Mr. Sa’ed M. Tu’meh Head of Compliance Dept. 130,688 532 600 131,800

13 Mr. Abdallah I. Mismar Head of Administrative Affairs Dept. 77,980 77,980

14 Mr. Daoud A. Issa Head of Human Resources Dept. 130,316 2,091 132,407

15 Mr. Ibraheem F. Taani Head of Internal Audit Department 138,460 3,503 1,500 143,463

16 Mr. Ibrahim F. Bisha Co-Head, Treasury, Investment & 
Intl. Relations 143,964 143,964

17 Dr. Makram A. Qutob Co-Head, Corporate Credit 106,572 106,572
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Balances and Transactions with Subsidiary Companies: 

December 31, For the Year

2016 2015 2016 2015

(JOD) (JOD) (JOD) (JOD)

Statement of Financial Position Items: Statement of Income Items:

Direct Credit Facilities 1,127,179 1,902 Interest & Commissions Income 34,714 127,083

Deposits 1,710,970 4,621,182 Interest & Commissions Expense 12,323 30,044

Cash Margins 500 1,000

Investment in Subsidiaries 22,337,508 21,807,508

Off Financial Position Items:

Letters of Guarantee 1,012,000 1,117,000

Letters of Collaterals 773,932 1,887,438

The above balances and transactions are eliminated from the consolidated financial statements and presented for 
disclosure purposes only.

4b/19: Donations: Total donations made by the Bank and its subsidiaries during 2016 amounted to JOD 704,996. Details 
of which are listed below:

Recipient Amount / JOD

University Education 182,195

Sports Activities 59,133

Support to Jordanian Writers & Authors 13,752

Training Students from Institutes & Universities 11,954

National Workshops & Conferences 61,560

Charities & Social Activities 277,485

Support to Health Initiatives 50,650

Banking and Financial Culture 39,000

Support for Outstanding Students 3,500

Donations of Branches Abroad 5,767

               Total 704,996

4b/20: Contracts, projects and commitments held by the Bank with subsidiaries or sister or affiliate 
companies or the Chairman or members of the Board of Directors or General Manager or any staff 
member of the Bank or their relatives: 
The Bank entered into transactions with subsidiaries, sister and affiliate companies, major shareholders, members of 
the Board of Directors, and executive management within the normal Bank activities and applying commercial interest 
rates and commissions. All facilities granted to stakeholders are considered performing loans and no provisions were 
allocated for them. Details of such transactions are disclosed in Note 38 to the 2016 consolidated financial statements 
published in this report.  

4b/21: The Bank contributes towards the welfare of the local community and the environment; this was explained in the 
Activities and Achievements Chapter of this report.

4c/1-5: Financial Statements: Included in the report.

4d: Auditor’s Report: Included in the report.
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4e: Declarations by the Board of Directors:

4e/1: The Board of Directors hereby declares that there are no material issues that could hinder the business continuity of 
the Bank during the financial year 2017.

4e/2: The Board of Directors also declares its responsibility for the Financial Statements and that the Bank has an effective 
control system.

4e/3: Each of the undersigned Board of Directors declares that he did not gain any benefits, either cash or in-kind, as a 
result of his position at the Bank and was not declared whether be it for himself or any of his related parties during 
the year 2016.

Chairman and Members of the Board

4e/4: The Chairman of the Board, the General Manager and the Financial Manager hereby declare that all information and 
data provided in this report are accurate and comprehensive.

Mr. Abdel Karim Kabariti

Mr. Tareq M. Abdul Salam

Mr. Mansour A. Louzi Khosrowshahi

Mr. Majed F. Burjak

Dr. Safwan S. Toqan

Mr. Farouk A. Al Aref

Mr. Bijan

Mr. Mohamad A. Al Madi

Mr. Hani K. Hunaidi

Mr. Masoud J. Hayat

Mr. Faisal H. Al Ayyar

Dr. Yousef M. Goussous

Dr. Marwan J. Muasher

Financial Manager

Hiyam S. Habash
General Manager

“Moh’d Yaser” Al-Asmar
Chairman of the Board

Abdel Karim Kabariti
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Introduction

The Central Bank of Jordan defines Corporate Governance as a system through which the Bank is managed and run. This system 
aims at identifying and achieving the corporate objectives of the Bank, managing the Bank’s business safely, protecting the 
depositors’ interests, being committed by due diligence responsibility towards shareholders and other stakeholders and abiding 
by laws and the Bank’s internal policies. 

Jordan Kuwait Bank perceives corporate governance as the key to win the confidence of the customers and other parties 
interested in JKB. Corporate Governance is the methodology through which JKB manages its interrelations and relations with the 
other involved parties. 

JKB believes that the existence of good corporate governance will result in good management of the Bank and help to achieve the 
Bank strategic objectives. Moreover, JKB has an absolute belief that the presence of good governance at all Jordanian institutions 
will lead to have efficient institutions and provide the appropriate competitive environment, and so support the national economy 
in general. As banks play an important role in the financial system, and their businesses depend on their customers’ deposits, it is 
therefore of high importance that they should have good corporate governance.

In view of that, the Board of Directors (BoD) of JKB decided to adopt the Corporate Governance Guide (“Guide”) which is prepared 
in accordance with relevant international best practices, and as per the instructions and guidelines of the Central Bank of Jordan. 
By adopting this guide, JKB aims at implementing the principles of corporate governance represented in fair treatment of all 
relevant stakeholders, transparency and disclose JKB actual financial and administrative position, in addition to accountability 
in terms of the relations between the BoD and executive management, BoD and shareholders, and BoD and other entities. JKB 
provides the approved version of the Guide on its website www.jkb.com

This guide reflects JKB requirements and policies approved by BoD. The Guide provisions shall be applicable to BoD, senior 
executive management and staff. JKB adopts strategies, policies and administrative structures of its subsidiaries within the 
framework of sound governance.

JKB Corporate Governance Objectives
JKB aims at achieving the best standards of business ethics covering all the Bank’s business aspects through disclosing JKB 
results accurately and transparently, and complete abidance by the various laws and regulations that govern JKB work.

The Legal Framework and References 

JKB developed this Guide based on the following sources: 

• Banking Law In force. 
• Companies’ Law in force.
• Securities Law in force.
• Deposit Insurance Law in force.
• Regulations and instructions issued under the aforementioned laws and any amendments thereof. 
• Corporate Governance Code for Banks in Jordan issued by the Central Bank of Jordan. 
• Basel Committee relevant publications. 
• OECD countries and the World Bank publications on corporate governance.
• Accounting Standards and International Financial Reporting Standards employed by investors to hold the management 

accountable. 
• Laws in force in countries where JKB has branches and within the limits of JKB business.

In addition to the laws protecting the rights of shareholders, depositors and stakeholders

http://www.jkb.com
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Corporate Governance Related Parties

1. Shareholders
JKB framework of governance is dedicated to protect shareholders’ rights along with serving and fairly treating them, particularly 
in the light of the laws, regulations and instructions issued by the regulatory authorities. The same also applies to JKB policies 
and procedures.

2. BoD Members
BoD members, on behalf of the shareholders, manage JKB under the various laws which define their duties and responsibilities 
(such as, Companies Law, Banks Law … etc.

3. Employees
All JKB employees, respectively, are held responsible for the implementation of the internal control procedures as part of their 
responsibilities in achieving the objectives of the Bank.

JKB employees should have the necessary information, skills, knowledge and authority to carry out JKB businesses. Indeed, this 
requires full understanding of the Bank, the industry, the market and the risks associated therein. 

Through the employees’ pursuit to achieve these requirements, they will positively contribute to JKB performance and achievements, 
and this will lead to job security and satisfaction.

4. Creditors
The different parties that are related to JKB, through contractual relations such as customers, suppliers and creditors.

Organizational Structure
Part of BoD duties is to approve an organizational structure consistent with the nature of JKB activities, to ensure that there are 
sufficient regulations to implement the adopted strategy, to facilitate effective decision-making process and to implement good 
corporate governance through: 

• Clear and transparent organizational structure. 
• Specific targets for each administrative unit. 
• Job’s specific duties and responsibilities for each administrative unit.
• Authorities, reporting lines and direct supervision channels designated for different managerial positions, as well as proper 

tasking/ tasks segregation.
• Manuals, policies and work procedures appropriate to execute and supervise operations, particularly defining a job description 

for all levels of jobs within the organizational structure, including qualifications and experience of staff holding each position. 
• Ownership structure which does not hinder corporate governance.
• Independent departments to perform the functions of risk management, audit and compliance. 
• Units and employees that are not involved in the daily operations of JKB activities (such as the employees of Credit Review 

and Middle Office).

BoD Members
A. The Bank’s Board of Directors shall consist of, at least, thirteen members and four of them should be independent Directors as 

defined by the governance instructions issued by the Central Bank of Jordan on independent member.

B. None of the Members of BoD shall be an executive Director.

C. BoD develops a clear and appropriate policy for its members which is consistent with the laws and regulatory requirements.

D. In spite of what is stipulated in the Companies’ Law, it is not permissible to assume both the positions of the board chairman and 
the general manager.  The chairman of the board, board members, or main shareholders may not be connected to the general 
manager with a familial relationship below the fourth degree.
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BoD Responsibilities
BoD is responsible for the soundness of all JKB operations, including its financial conditions, implementation of the Central 
Bank requirements besides other supervisory and regulatory requirements relating to JKB businesses, care for stakeholders, 
management of the Bank within the framework of its internal rules and policies, ensure that effective control over JKB activities is 
always in place, including JKB activities delegated to third-parties. To achieve all of that, members of BoD and their committees 
are allowed to have a direct contact with the executive management and BoD Secretary. BoD members are also authorized to 
seek external assistance, when required, on JKB expense in coordination with the Chairman.

BoD Tasks and Duties
Given the terms of reference and powers of JKB General Assembly, the elected BoD by the General Assembly shall carry out the 
duties and responsibilities of managing JKB activities for a period of four years effective the date of election. BoD tasks and duties 
include (but are not limited to):

I.  In the area of   general supervision, control and draw JKB strategies: 
1. Overseeing senior executive management and follow-up their performance and ensure soundness of JKB financial position 

and solvency. BoD shall adopt appropriate policies and procedures for supervision and control over JKB performance.
2. Defining and approving the Bank’s strategy
3. Identifying JKB strategic objectives, directing the executive management to develop a strategy to achieve these objectives, 

and approving this strategy. BoD shall adopt action plans which are consistent with this strategy.
4. Approving JKB organizational structure which identifies reporting sequence, including BoD committees and executive 

management.
5. Approving a policy to monitor and review the executive management performance through developing performance indicators 

to identify measure, and monitor the performance and progress towards the achievement of corporate goals. 
6. Ensuring the existence of policies, plans and procedures covering all JKB activities which are consistent with the relevant 

laws, and that they are communicated to all administrative levels, and are regularly reviewed. 
7. Identifying JKB corporate values   , drawing clear lines of responsibility and accountability for all JKB activities and promoting 

a high-level culture of ethical standards, integrity and professional conduct of JKB managers.
8. Taking the appropriate actions to address weaknesses in the internal control systems or any other points identified by the 

external auditor, adopting internal control systems and reviewing them annually, in addition to approving appropriate controls 
which enable BoD to hold the senior executive management accountable for their actions.

II.  In the area of   policies, instructions, strategies and controls to be endorsed by BoD:
1. Approving appropriate policies and procedures to supervise and control JKB performance. 
2. Approving a set of clear boundaries of responsibility and accountability to be committed to, and abided by, all levels of JKB 

management.
3.  Approving an effective policy to ensure the relevancy of BoD members “fit and proper”. The policy should include minimum 

criteria, and conditions that the BoD candidate and appointed member should have. The policy should be reviewed from time 
to time and when necessary. BoD should develop adequate procedures and systems to ensure that all BoD members meet 
relevance standards and that they continue to enjoy them. 

4. Approving a policy to ensure the relevancy of the members of senior executive management so that this policy includes 
minimum criteria, and conditions of laws in force on senior executive management. BoD reviews this policy from time to time, 
establishes sufficient procedures and systems to ensure that all members of the senior executive management meet the 
relevance standards and that they continue to enjoy them.

5. Approving a system to measure the performance of the Board and its members, and a system to measure the performance 
of JKB administrators excluding BoD members and the General Manager.

6. Approving a policy and procedures to address any conflict of interests for JKB is part of a banking group, and disclosure of 
any conflict of interest may arise as a result of JKB partnerships with companies of the group.

7. Approving policies and procedures for dealings with stakeholders, so they include identifying these parties, taking into 
consideration the laws, transactions terms, approval procedures and a mechanism to monitor these transactions, so as not to 
go beyond these policies and procedures.

8. Approving the controls for information transfer among various departments to prevent exploiting them for personal advantages.
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III.  What BoD should verify: 
1. Ensure the existence of adequate and reliable management information systems which cover all JKB activities.
2. Verify that the credit policy includes assessing the quality of corporate governance of JKB clients, mainly public shareholding 

companies, so that clients’ risks are assessed by identifying their strengths and weaknesses according to their governance 
practices   .

3. Ensure that JKB adopts appropriate social initiatives in the field of environment protection, health and education, taking into 
account financing of SMEs at affordable prices and proper repayment schedules.

4. Ensure that the organizational structure clearly reflects borders of responsibility and authority.
5. Ensure that senior executive management performs its responsibilities related to the management of JKB daily operations, 

contributes to the implementation of corporate governance at the Bank, delegates powers to the staff, establishes an effective 
management structure that boosts accountability and that they carry out tasks in various areas and activities of JKB businesses 
in a manner that is consistent with the policies and procedures approved by BoD. 

6. Ensure that the executive management enjoys a high level of integrity in exercising its business and avoid conflicts of interest.

IV.  BoD duties in the area of   recruitment, appraisal and rewards:
1. Appointing a general manager enjoys qualities of integrity, technical competency and banking expertise, after obtaining the 

Central Bank of Jordan’s “No Objection” prior to his appointment.
2. Approve, based on the recommendations of the special committee, the appointment of any executive management member 

after obtaining the Central Bank of Jordan’s “No Objection”
3. Approve, based on the recommendations of the special committee, the resignation or service termination, of any executive 

management member. As for the resignation or service termination of the General Manager, the Audit manager, the Risk 
Management manager and the Compliance manager CBJ’s “No Objection” should be obtained,

4. Forming committees from BoD members, defining their objectives and delegating powers according to a charter identifying 
such powers. Committees should submit periodic reports to BoD.

5. Endorsing a succession plan for senior members of the executive management of the bank. BoD should review this plan once 
a year at least. 

6. Assessing the General Manager’s performance annually in accordance with an appraisal system developed by the Nominations 
and Remuneration Committee, including developing the KPIs. Factors of the General Manager’s performance appraisal 
should include JKB financial and administrative performance and his achievement of JKB medium and long term strategies 
and plans. The committee should report the appraisal results to the Central Bank of Jordan. 

7. Establishing procedures to determine BoD members’ remunerations in accordance with the approved appraisal system. 
8. Ensuring the relevance of BoD members and members of the senior executive management in accordance with the JKB 

adopted policies and laws and regulations in force. BoD should verify that all declarations included in the Central Bank of 
Jordan instructions are duly signed. 

9. Create a system to evaluate its work and that of its members, providing this system includes, as a minimum, the following:
• Establish specific objectives and specify the role of the board in fulfilling these objectives in a measurable manner.
• Establish key performance indicators that could be derived from the plans and strategic objectives, and used to measure 

the board’s performance.
• Communication between the board of directors and the shareholders, and maintaining this communication periodically.
• Periodical meetings between the board of directors and the senior executive management.
• The member’s role in the board of directors’ meeting, and comparing his performance with that of others.  Feedback must 

be obtained from the relevant member for the purpose of improving the evaluation process.

V.  BoD Duties in the Area of   Disclosure and Publication:
1. Ensuring the allocation of a part of JKB website to give details on the shareholders’ rights and encourage them to attend and 

vote at the General Assembly meetings, as well as publishing documents related to meetings, including the full text of the 
invitation and minutes of meetings.

2. Ensuring that the financial and non-financial information of interest to stakeholders is published. 
3. Ensuring that JKB abides by disclosures set by the International Financial Reporting Standards, instructions of the Central 

Bank of Jordan, other relevant laws and international accounting standards. BoD should also ensure that the executive 
management is aware of changes taking place to the international financial reporting standards.

4. Ensuring to include disclosures in JKB annual and quarterly reports which give the current or potential shareholders an 
access to JKB operations results and financial position. 
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5. Ensuring that the annual report includes data and declarations required by the laws and instructions of the Central Bank of 
Jordan. 

6. Notifying the Central Bank of Jordan by any material information that could adversely affect relevance of any member of the 
senior executive management. 

7. Providing a specific mechanism to ensure communication with stakeholders through disclosures and providing significant 
information on JKB activities to those stakeholders.

VI.   BoD duties in the Area of Internal and External Audit:
1. Adopting the necessary procedures to enhance internal audit effectiveness through: displaying the due importance of the 

audit process, consolidating it in the Bank and following-up the corrective measures as per the audit notes. 
2. Ensuring that the Internal Audit Department is able to carry out its tasks, it has the qualified staff and be certain to provide the 

Department constantly with appropriate and trained employees.
3. Ensuring and enhancing the principle of internal auditors’ independence, placing them at adequate level in JKB’s organization 

structure, ensuring they have access to all records and information and the ability to contact any JKB employee, so that they 
are able to fulfill the tasks entrusted to them and prepare their reports without any external interference.

4. Adopting an internal audit code which includes duties, authorities and responsibilities of the Audit Department and to be 
circulated within the Bank. 

5. Adopting systems of internal control and monitoring. BoD is to ensure that the internal and external auditors review the 
structure of these systems once a year at least. BoD should furnish JKB annual report with information confirming the 
adequacy of these systems. 

6. Verifying that the Internal Audit Department is subject to the direct supervision of the Board Audit Committee, and it reports 
directly to the Chairman of the Audit Committee. 

7. Ensuring the external auditor’s independence at all times. 
8. Ensuring a regular rotation of the external auditor among audit offices and its subsidiaries and allied companies each seven 

years at maximum. 

VII.  BoD Duties in the Area of   Compliance:
1. Approving a policy to ensure JKB compliance by all relevant laws, and reviewing this policy on a regular basis and verifying 

that it is implemented. 
2. Approving the duties and responsibilities of Compliance Control Department.
3. Ensuring Compliance Control Department independence and providing it constantly with qualified and trained staff.

VIII.  BoD Duties in the Area of   Risks:
1. Prior approving any expansion in JKB activities, BoD should take into account related risks and competences and qualifications 

of Risk Management Department staff.
2. Approving a strategy for risk management and monitoring its implementation. Such a strategy should include the acceptable 

level of risk, and ensure not exposing the Bank to high risks. BOD should be, acquainted with JKB operational environment 
and risks associated with it. BoD should ensure that JKB has the tools and infrastructure designated for risk management that 
are able to identify, measure, control and monitor all types of risk faced by the Bank. 

3. Approving an Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process. Such a process should be comprehensive, effective and able 
to identify all risks that JKB may encounter, and that it takes into consideration JKB strategic plan and capital plan. BoD should 
review this process regularly, verify its implementation, and validate that JKB maintains adequate capital to encounter all risks 
it may face.

4. Approving JKB acceptable risk document.
5. Verifying that violations on acceptable levels of risk are addressed, including holding the senior executive management 

accountable for such violations. 
6. Ensuring that the Risk Management Department conducts stress testing periodically to measure JKB ability to withstand the 

shocks and cope with high risks. BoD should play a key role in approving assumptions and scenarios used and discuss the 
tests results, as well as approving actions to be taken based on these results. 

7. Ensuring Risk Management Department independence through submitting its reports to the Risk Management Committee, 
and granting the Department the necessary powers to be able to obtain information from other JKB departments and to 
cooperate with other committees to carry out their duties.
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Duties of the Chairman of the Board:
1. To establish a constructive relationship between BoD and JKB executive management.
2. To promote the culture of constructive criticism on issues discussed in general and issues were members have various views 

regarding them, and to encourage debate and vote on those issues. 
3. To ensure that all BoD members receive and sign the minutes of previous meetings, and that they receive the agenda of any 

meeting in advance providing that the agenda includes sufficient written information about topics that will be discussed at the 
meeting. The Secretary of the Board shall deliver the meeting agenda.

4. To ensure the existence of the code that regulates and sets out BoD scope of work.
5. To discuss the strategic and significant issues in BoD meetings extensively.
6. To provide each BoD member upon being elected with the provisions of laws related to banks activities and the Central Bank 

instructions related to the work of BoD, including corporate governance instructions, the booklet which explains the member’s 
rights, responsibilities and duties, and duties of the BoD Secretary.

7. To provide each member with a sufficient summary of JKB businesses upon appointment or upon request. 
8. To discuss with any new member, with the assistance of JKB legal adviser, BoD duties and responsibilities, particularly the 

legal and regulatory requirements. This is to be done to clarify the duties, powers and other issues related to BoD membership, 
including the membership term, dates of meetings, committees’ duties, rewards, and the possibility to seek an independent 
specialized technical advice, if required. 

9. To meet the BoD members’ needs regarding the development of their experience and their continuous learning. Chairman 
may allow the new member to attend orientation program taking in consideration the member’s banking background.

10. To address an invitation to the Central Bank to nominate a representative to attend the General Assembly meetings prior 
enough time.

11. To provide the Central Bank with the minutes of meetings of the General Assembly no later than five days as of the date of 
the Companies’ Controller or his/her representative endorsement of the minutes of meeting.

12. To ensure informing the Central Bank of any material information that could adversely affect the relevance of any members 
of BoD or executive management.

Duties of BoD Member: 
1. To have knowledge of laws and principles of JKB banking and operational environment, cope with developments taking place, 

besides the external developments related to its business,  including appointment requirements of JKB senior executive 
management.

2. To attend BoD and its committees meetings, as needed, and the General Assembly meetings. 
3.  Not to disclose any JKB confidential information or using them for their or others interest. 
4. To give the priority for JKB interests in all transactions with any other company in which he has a personal interest, not to take 

JKB business opportunities to his own advantage, and to avoid conflict of interest.
5. Disclose to the board in detail of any conflict in interests in case they existed, committing not to attend or participate in the 

decision taken in the meeting in which this issue is deliberated, and to record this disclosure in the board’s minutes of meeting.
6. Allocate sufficient time to carry out his duties as a member of the Board of Directors

Duties of Board Secretary:
1. To attend all BoD meetings, record all the deliberations, suggestions, objections, reservations and vote processes on BoD 

draft decisions.
2. To determine dates of BoD meetings in coordination with the Chairman.
3. To ensure that BoD members sign the minutes of meetings and decisions.
4. To follow up the implementation of BoD decisions and to follow-up any pending issues from the previous meeting. 
5. To keep records and documents of BoD meetings.
6. To take the necessary measures to ensure that draft decisions planned to be issued by BoD comply with relevant laws.
7. To prepare for the General Assembly meetings and to cooperate with the BoD committees.
8. To provide the Central Bank with the relevance declarations signed by BoD members.
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BoD Meetings
A. BoD shall convene at a written notice of the Chairman, or Vice-Chairman if he/she is absent, or upon a written notice submitted 

by a quarter of its members to the Chairman justifying the grounds for such a meeting. If the Chairman or Vice- Chairman do 
not call for a meeting within seven days effective as of the date of receipt of notice, members who submitted the notice shall 
have the right to call BoD to convene. 

B. BoD shall convene with the presence of an absolute majority of members at JKB head office or in any other place within the 
territories of the Kingdom if it is impossible to hold it at JKB head office.  BoD decisions shall be issued with absolute majority 
of members who attend the meeting. If votes are equal, the chairman of the meeting shall be deemed a casting vote. 

C. Voting on BoD decisions shall be in person and carried out by the persons themselves and it could not be by proxy, by 
correspondence or in any other indirect means. 

D. BoD meetings shall be held six times at least per a fiscal year. There should be a meeting for the BoD every two months.

E. JKB should record BoD/ Committees minutes of meetings accurately, to record any reservations raised by any member, and to 
keep all these records appropriately.

F. Prior BoD meeting, the senior executive management should provide BoD members with complete and accurate information 
and the Chairman should ensure doing so. 

Responsibility and Accountability Limits
• BoD adopts clear boundaries of responsibility, accountability and commitment and to abide by them at all levels of management 

in JKB.
• Take the necessary steps to create a clear separation between the authorities of the shareholders who own an influential interest 

on one side, and the executive management on the other, for the purpose of reinforcing proper Corporate Governance, and 
hence, create adequate mechanisms to reduce the effect of shareholders who own influential interest, through the following, 
as an example:
 - That none of the shareholders who own influential interest occupies any position in the executive management.
 - That the top executive management derives its authority from the board only, and work within the mandate granted to it by 

the board.
• BoD should ensure that JKB organizational structure plainly reflects the lines of responsibility and authority, and that it includes 

the necessary regulatory levels under the laws and regulations in force.
• Ensure that senior executive management performs their responsibilities related to the management of JKB daily operations, 

they contribute to the implementation of corporate governance at the Bank, they delegate powers to the staff, they establish 
an effective management structure that will give a boost to accountability and they carry out tasks in various areas and the 
activities of JKB businesses in a manner that is consistent with the policies and procedures approved by BoD. 

• BoD approves the appropriate controls which enable them to hold the senior executive management accountable for their 
actions.

• In addition to what is stated in laws, the General Manager shall act as follows:
1. Develop JKB strategic direction
2. Implement JKB strategies and policies 
3. Execute BoD decisions
4. Provide guidance to implement short and long term action plans.
5. Deliver JKB vision, mission and strategy to the staff.
6. Inform BoD by all the significant aspects of JKB operations. 
7. Manage JKB day-to-day operations.

The Board Committees
To further organize the work of BoD and to boost up its efficiency and effectiveness, BoD forms various committees from its 
members, delegate certain powers and responsibilities to them and name their chairmen. The committees must submit periodical 
reports to the Board as stipulated in their charters. The existence of these committees does not absolve BoD to assume direct 
responsibility for all matters relating to JKB.

BoD member could be a member of more than one committee, except in cases where conflicts of interest may arise. 
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A. Board Audit Committee:

Committee’s Role:
The Board Audit Committee is tasked to carry out the following, in addition to other relevant functions stated in its Charter. The 
Charter stipulates the right of the committee to get any information from the executive management and its right to call any 
administrator to attend its meetings. The Audit committee’s tasks may not be merged with the tasks of any other committee.  

1. The Committee shall review: 
a) The scope, results and the adequacy of JKB internal and external audit 

b) Accounting issues that have a significant impact on JKB financial statements 

c) JKB internal control and monitoring systems.

2. Provide recommendations to BoD regarding the external auditor’s appointment, termination, fees and any other related 
contracting terms, as well as assessing their independence taking into account any other tasks entrusted to them which lie 
outside the scope of the audit.

3.  The Committee shall enjoy the power to obtain any information from the executive management, and has the right to call any 
administrative officer to attend any of its meetings, if so is stipulated in the committee’s charter.

4. Meet with the external and internal auditors and compliance officer once at least annually without the attendance of any of the 
senior executive management members.

5. Review and monitor procedures that enable the employee to report confidentially any mistake in financial reports or any other 
matters. The Board Audit Committee shall ensure implementing the necessary arrangements for carrying out an independent 
investigation and follow the results of the investigation and treat them objectively.

6. Verify that the internal audit staff is rotated to audit JKB various activities every three years at minimum.
7. Verify not to task internal audit staff with any executive duties. 
8. Verify that all JKB activities, including outsourced activities assigned to third parties, are subject to audit. 
9. The Board Audit Committee shall exercise the role entrusted to it under the Banks Law and other relevant laws. This should 

include particularly the following: 
 - Review and approval of the internal audit plan which includes audit scope and frequency.
 - Ensure that the executive management takes the corrective actions on a timely manner regarding weaknesses in the 

internal control, and cases of non-compliance with policies, laws and regulations, and other remarks identified by the 
internal audit.

 - Ensure that JKB is implementing the international accounting and audit standards accurately.
 - Review observations stated in the regulatory authorities and external auditor reports and follow-up the correction 

procedures.
 - Review JKB financial statements prior submitting them to BoD, particularly to verify regulatory authorities’ orders on capital 

adequacy, adequacy of provisions taken against the bad debts and all other provisions and to express their opinion in JKB 
non-performing debts or debts proposed to be deemed as bad debts. 

 - Ensure that the laws and regulations governing JKB work. 
 - The Head of Internal Audit Department may attend the Committee meetings, and the Committee may invite any person to 

seek their opinion on a particular issue.
10. Appraise the Head and staff of Internal Audit Department performance and determine their remunerations.

Committee Members: 
The Audit Committee shall comprise of three members. Two of them shall be independent including the chairman of the committee. 
All members of the Committee should hold academic qualifications and enjoy appropriate practical expertise in areas of accounting, 
finance or any other disciplines or areas related to JKB work. The Committee chairman shall not be the chairman of the board or 
the chairman of any other board committee.
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B. Board Risk and Compliance Committee:

Committee’s Role:
The Board Risk and Compliance Committee is tasked to carry out the following below stated duties at least, in addition to other 
relevant duties stated in its Charter: 
1. Review JKB risk management framework.
2. Review JKB risk management strategy prior to BOD approval.
3. Cope with the developments affecting JKB risk management, and submit periodic reports to BoD.
4. Verify that there is no discrepancy between the actual risks that JKB takes and the level of acceptable risk approved by BoD. 
5. Establish appropriate conditions that ensure the identification of fundamental impact of risks and any other activities carried 

out by JKB which may expose the Bank to higher risks than the acceptable level, report that to BoD and follow-up corrective 
measures. 

6. Review compliance management reports and submit its recommendations to BoD. 

Committee Members: 
The Board Risk and Compliance Committee shall comprise of, at least, of three members and one of them is to be independent. 
The Committee membership may include members of the executive management. The committee may invite management 
representatives or other experts and specialists to attend its meetings.

C. Board Nominations and Remuneration Committee: 

Committee’s Role:
Board Nominations and Remuneration Committee is tasked to carry out the following below stated duties at least, in addition to 
other relevant duties stated in its Charter: 
1. Identify qualified persons to join BoD within the members’ relevance policy approved by BoD taking into consideration the 

capabilities and qualifications of the persons nominated. In case of re-nominations, member’s attendance and extent of 
participation in Board meetings should be taken into account. 

2. Nominate to BoD qualified persons to join the senior executive management.
3. Ensure BoD members joining workshops or seminars on banking topics, particularly risk management and corporate 

governance, and the latest developments in the banking business. 
4. Determine whether the member meets the requirements of the independent member taking into account the minimum 

requirements stated in the laws and regulations in force. 
5. Supervise the implementation of policies adopted by BoD regarding BoD and senior executive management performance 

appraisal, including the General Manager. 
6. Provide information and summaries on some of the important topics of JKB to BoD members upon request, and ensure 

updating them constantly about the latest topics related to the banking business.
7. Ensure that the policy of granting remunerations to JKB administrative staff is in place, review it regularly and implement 

this policy. Also, provide recommendations regarding the General Manager and other members of the senior executive 
management salaries, remunerations and other privileges. The Internal Audit Department Manager and staff performance 
appraisal and remunerations are to be determined by the Board Audit Committee.

8. Evaluate the work of the board, its committees, and its members as a whole annually, and it shall inform the Central Bank with 
the result of this evaluation.

9. Set clear methodology to verify that board members allocate sufficient time to carry out their duties, including (for example) 
the multi commitment of the member to other boards/bodies memberships/forums…etc.

Committee Members: 
Boad Nominations and Remuneration Committee shall comprise of at least three BoD members; the majority of them, including 
its chairman should be independent. The Committee may invite members or representatives of the management or other experts 
and specialists to attend its meetings.

D. Board Corporate Governance Committee: 

Committee’s Role:
In addition to their duties delegated by BoD, Board Corporate Governance Committee is in charge of directing and supervising 
the processes of preparing the Corporate Governance Manual, its update and implementation monitoring. The committee is also 
tasked to verify/perform the following: 

 - That JKB organizational structure serves the requirements of corporate governance.
 - Commitment to the adopted JKB Code of Ethics at the level of BoD and all administrative levels in the Bank.
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Committee Members: 
Board Corporate Governance Committee shall comprise of, at least, three BOD members, the majority of them are independent 
and should include the Board Chairman. The Committee may invite members or representatives of the management or other 
experts and specialists to attend its meetings.

E. Board Credit Committee:

Committee’s Role:
1. Grant, modify, renew and restructure of credit facilities that exceed the authorities of the Management Credit Committee, 

headed by the General Manager, within the limits set by the Board of Directors. The Board of Directors shall take the decisions 
in matters exceeding the Committee’s authorities.

2. The Committee’s authority is limited to taking the right decision regarding the facilities that have been recommended for 
approval by the Management Credit Committee.

3. The Board of Directors may delegate to the Management Credit Committee some or all of this Committee’s authorities; in 
respect of modifying the terms or restructuring of facilities with the need to keep the Board Credit Committee informed of the 
decisions taken under these authorities.

4. The Committee’s authority shall not include the following:
5. Granting credit facilities to members of the Board of Directors.
6. Writing-off debts.
7. Submit to the Board periodically details of the credit facilities that have been approved by the committee.
8. The Committee’s decisions are considered valid by the presence and personal voting of its members, if a member is unable to 

attend, he may express his opinion through telephone or video, and has the right to vote and sign the minutes of the meeting 
that have to be duly documented.

9. The work of this committee shall be evaluated by the Board of Directors.

Committee Members:
 - The Committee shall comprise of at least five Board members and one of them may be independent but not a member of 

the Audit Committee. Senior executive management members may participate in the committee’s meetings to present their 
recommendations. The quorum for meetings of the Committee is the presence of at least four members, and decisions are 
taken by majority of its members regardless of the number of attendees. The Committee may invite members or representatives 
of the management or other experts and specialists to attend its meetings.

 - The General Manager is the Secretary of the Committee.

F. Board Management and Investment Committee:

Committee’s Role:

1. Management issues:
 - Approve requests for administrative expenses, procurement contracts, bids, supplies, donations, and generally all commitments 

and contracts in excess of the powers entrusted to the senior executive management as identified within the Authority matrix 
and powers endorsed by the Board of Directors. 

 - Approve requests/offers for the sale of Bank owned properties beyond the limits entrusted to the Senior Executive Management 
as stipulated in the approved Authority matrix. 

 - Approve Bank owned real estates’ pricing annually or when required.

2. Investment issues: 
Approve proposals and requests submitted by the Management Investment Committee on matters beyond its authority as 
stipulated in the approved authority matrix annexed to the approved investment policy. This includes the following: 

 - Bank investments in Jordanian dinar in money market and capital market instruments. 
 - The Bank’s investments in foreign currencies in money market, capital market tools and currency exchange operations.
The Board of Directors shall decide on any of the items listed above if they exceed the authority of the Committee, The Committee 
submits periodic reports to the Board on the details of the items and processes it has approved.
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Committee Members: 
 - This committee shall comprise of five Board non-independent members and it is permissible to include one independent 

member if he is not a member of the Audit Committee. The quorum for the Committee meetings is the presence of at least three 
members including the Committee Chairman. 

 - The Committee shall take its decisions by a majority of the members present and in case of equal numbers of voters, the vote 
of the Chairman will decide. The Committee may invite members or representatives of the management or other experts and 
specialists to attend its meetings.

 - The General Manager is the Secretary of the Committee.

G. Information Technology Governance Committee

Committee’s Role:
The Committee shall undertake the following tasks guided by the Governance and Management of Information Technology and 
its accompanying Instructions No. 65/2016 dated 25/10/2016 issued by CBJ:

1. Approve the Information Technology strategic objectives and appropriate organizational structures, including Steering 
Committees at Executive Management Level,  particularly (The Information Technology Steering Committee),  ensuring  the 
achievement of the Bank’s strategic objectives, and realizing the best value-added of projects and investments in Information 
Technology while  utilizing the tools and standards to monitor and ascertain the extent of achievement, such as using the IT 
Balanced Scorecard system, and calculating the rate of return on investment (ROI) and measuring the investment impact on 
financial and operational efficiency.

2. Approve the general framework for the control and monitoring of resources and projects, that corresponds to best accepted 
international practices in this regard, particularly (COBIT) (Control Objectives for Information and related Technology), 
complying with and facilitating the achievement of objectives and regulations, through the sustainable achievement of 
corporate objectives, and achieve the information objectives’ chart and its associated technology and cover IT governance 
operations

3. Approve the corporate objectives chart, and its associated Information Technology objectives, considering its legibility as 
minimum, and define the sub-objectives needed for its achievement.

4. Approve the responsibility chart (RACI Chart) towards the major operations of IT governance and its emanating sub-operations 
i.e.: The party or parties or the person primarily responsible (Responsible), and those finally responsible (Accountable), and 
those consulted (Consulted), and those to be informed (informed) towards all operations guided by the standard (COBIT 5 
Enabling processes) in this regard.

5. Ensure the existence of a general IT Risk Management Framework that complies and integrates with the Bank’s general 
comprehensive Risk Management Framework, and takes into account all IT governance operations.

6. Approve an information technology resources and projects budget in line with the Bank’s strategic objectives.
7. Oversee and be acquainted of the progress of information technology operations, resources and projects to ensure its 

adequacy and its effective contribution in achieving the Bank’s business and its requirements
8. Be acquainted of the audit reports on information technology and taking the necessary action to correct deviations.
9. Recommend to the Board of Directors to take the necessary measurements to correct any deviations. 

Committee Members: 
 - The Committee is formed by a resolution of the Board of Directors, and the Board determines its objectives and powers, to be 

demonstrated in its Charter.
 - The Committee shall comprise of, at least, three Board members and preferably comprising persons with expertise or strategic 

knowledge in information technology. The committee, in coordination with the Chairman of the Board, may seek the assistance 
of external experts when necessary, at the expense of the Bank to make up the shortfall in this area and enhance substantive 
opinion. The Committee may invite any of the Bank’s administrators to attend its meetings to express their opinion, including 
those involved in internal audit and senior executive management members (such as Information Technology Manager) or 
those  involved in External auditing.

 - The Committee shall elect one of its members to be an observer member in the Information Technology Steering Committee.
 - The Committee shall submit periodic reports to the Board, the Board’s mandate to the Committee does not relieve it from its 

responsibilities in this regard.
 - The Committee meets at least quarterly and maintains documented minutes of meetings.
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Senior Executive Management
BoD approves the appointment of JKB Executive Management. BoD makes sure that members of the Executive Management 
possess the necessary expertise, competencies and integrity to manage JKB businesses and affairs in a manner consistent with 
the standards of professional conduct, particularly supervising the JKB management, enjoying the appropriate competences to 
oversee key individuals associated with the Bank operations. JKB develops a policy to manage and fill top executive jobs to meet 
laws and regulations requirements in force and the aspirations of JKB.

The Executive Management implements the principles of corporate governance in JKB and provides adequate control over the 
activities they manage

In this context, the Executive Management identifies the staff tasks accurately. They also propose the administrative structure 
which is meant to promote the concept of accountability and transparency. The Executive Management is to supervise the 
fulfillment of the specific responsibilities/ powers and they will be responsible for JKB performance.

Administrators’ Performance Appraisal
JKB develops policies of performance appraisal which ensure the participation of all those involved in managing JKB businesses 
to achieve the Bank objectives through carrying out tasks, objectives and obligations assigned to each one of them within a 
framework of fair competition based on the culture of excellence in performance.

 - Performance Appraisal Policy for BoD and its members 
 - Performance Appraisal Policy for holders of senior positions  and accountability
 - Performance Appraisal Policy for other JKB staff members.
All the aforementioned policies are based on the latest international practices which are meant to objectively measure of 
performance, take into account risk aversion and the provisions of laws and regulations in force.

Internal Control and Audit Systems
The Board and the Executive Management of JKB are in charge of developing, implementing and maintaining internal control and 
audit systems that are able to ensure and achieve the following:

• Accurate and integral financial and operational data issued by JKB.
• Efficient and effective performance of JKB operational processes.
• Effective protection procedures of JKB assets and property.
• Compliance with work policies and internal procedures, laws and regulations in force.
This is based on BoD belief in the importance of effective internal control and audit system as it is one of the most important 
elements of good management and the basis for the soundness and quality of JKB operations. JKB adopted a number of internal 
control and audit systems which the senior executive management is responsible to set up, follow-up its development and update 
them. JKB management is constantly monitoring and assessing the efficiency and effectiveness of these systems, their ability to 
achieve the desired goals and strive to enhance them. Supervisory departments make sure that transactions with stakeholders 
are conducted in accordance with the adopted policies and procedures.

BoD adopts control and audit policy addressing all aspects of the internal control systems in terms of their definition, components 
and BoD and senior executive management responsibilities.

To ensure JKB supervisory departments independence and that they fulfil their supervisory roles they tasked to carry out, their 
reports are to be submitted to BoD committees. BoD committees appraise the performance of the holders of senior positions at 
supervisory departments under the Performance Appraisal Policy for holders of senior positions adopted by BoD. 

JKB Supervisory Departments
Internal Audit Department: This department is tasked to review commitment with the Corporate Governance Manual, verify of 
compliance with JKB policies, procedures, international standards and laws related to JKB activities, verify the existence and 
compliance with internal control and audit systems quite enough to encompass JKB activities and its subsidiaries, carry out 
financial and managerial auditing, review the soundness and comprehensiveness of the Stress Testing and ensure the accuracy 
of the internal capital adequacy assessment process (ICAAP(. 

Internal Audit Department submits its reports to the Board Audit Committee and to the General Manager simultaneously.
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Risk Management Department: This department is tasked to monitor risks in JKB at all levels and market and operational areas, 
information risks, credit risks and business continuity, and monitor JKB departments compliance with the identified levels of risk 
in accordance with the best international standards. Risk Management Department submits its reports to the Board Risks and 
Compliance Committee. The tasks of the risk management department shall be as follows as a minimum:

1. Review the Banks’ risk management framework before it is approved by the board.
2. Implement the risk management strategy in addition to developing work policies and measures to manage all types of risks.
3. Develop methodologies to identify, measure, monitor, and control all types of risks. 
4. Submit reports to the board through the risk management committee, with a copy to the senior executive management, 

which include information about the actual risk profile for all the bank’s activities, compared to risk appetite document, while 
continuing to address negative deviations.

5. Verify the integration of risk measurement mechanisms with the management information systems used. 
6. Study and evaluate all types of risks faced by the Bank. 
7. Submit recommendations to the risk management committee about the bank’s exposure to risks, recording cases of exemption 

from the risk management policy.
8. Provide the necessary information regarding the Bank risks, to be used for disclosure purposes.

Compliance Control Department: This department is tasked to verify compliance with local and international laws and regulations 
governing JKB businesses. Compliance Department submits its reports the Board Risks and Compliance Committee and copy 
of the same to the General Manager. It is also tasked to monitor and combat money laundry. Moreover, it is tasked to manage 
Customers Complaints Unit within a framework approved by BoD as per the supervisory instructions. 

 All the aforementioned departments should develop their own charters to be approved by BoD. 

Business Ethics Code
JKB adopted a code of business ethics which was approved by BoD and pledged to abide by all JKB staff in their respective 
administrative levels, in addition to the BoD members. 

This code identified JKB staff’s ethics, values   and principles through four main themes, namely: 

• Integrity.
• Compliance with the laws.
• Transparency. 
• Loyalty to the bank.
As for integrity, the code included that JKB employees are committed to the following:

 - Depositors’ funds are a trust and responsibility which should be kept safe.
 - Personal interest should not conflict with JKB interests.
 - Not to use inside information to serve personal interests.
 - Maintaining objective and non- bias personal relationships.
 - Avoiding business relations with customers and suppliers.
 - No-discrimination whatsoever among customers. 
 - Refrain from accepting gifts, benefits and invitations.
As for compliance with the laws and regulations, employees should abide by bank secrecy and JKB policies and work manuals. 
Also, they should pay more attention for combating money laundering, not to issue bad cheques and to abide by the management’s 
decisions.

Concerning transparency, JKB employees should be committed to provide authorized accurate figures, data and reports, and that 
the data is accurate, adequate, timely and in line with the standards. Additionally, employees should disclose their personal interest 
and soundness of their financial standing and their personal business activities, and to disclose any violations and damages.

Regarding loyalty to JKB, this could be realized through achieving JKB mission, vision, objectives and role, transferring JKB 
slogan into a tangible reality, besides achieving customer satisfaction and retain them, being positive, excellent, responsible, 
enjoying qualities and efficiency, then accuracy and continuous learning, keeping up with working hours, adapting to work stress 
with the spirit of teamwork, paying attention to appearance, conduct and good handling of situations, being keen to maintain JKB 
reputation and achievements, maintaining JKB assets and its appearance, not to disclose work secrets, taking permission of the 
administration to make any statement related to JKB via any means of media.

The relevant standards and policies are published through JKB website. The level of adherence to those standards and policies 
should be identified in the Corporate Governance Report included in JKB annual report.
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Conflict of Interest
JKB shall have written policies on conflict of interest covering its definition, independent execution, and disclosure; whether such 
conflict is between the Board members and JKB or between the Executive Management and JKB.

Conflict of interest policy shall cover various aspects related to this subject, such as:

• Board member shall avoid the activities which may lead to conflict of interest.
• BoD approval shall be obtained for any activity a Board member performs that may result in a conflict of interest and verify that 

the activity does not contain any conflict.
• Board member shall disclose any subject, which may lead to or has already led to a conflict of interest. 
•  Board member shall abstain from voting on any item of the agenda which might contain a conflict of interest for the member or 

has an effect on the objectivity of the vote.
• All transactions with related parties shall be based on equal basis and clear mechanism established for the Board to handle the 

case in the event of non-compliance with conflict of interest policy. 
• The conflict of interest policy shall contain examples of cases where a conflict of interest may arise for a Board member. 

Dealing with Stakeholders
• JKB shall have written policies on transactions with the related parties. These policies shall include rules and procedures 

for organizing transactions with such parties whether between JKB and its employees, JKB and its Board members or their 
companies, or parties related to them, including lending transactions and joint trading transactions with JKB.

• BoD shall ensure that the transactions with stakeholders are reviewed to assess their risks and are subjected to appropriate 
restrictions in place.

Whistle Blowing Policy
The Bank shall place policies and procedures to report on illicit acts/ Fraud- “Whistle Blowing Policy”, including procedures 
enabling employees to contact the Chairman of the Board to communicate any concerns they might have on the possibility 
of violations or fraud, and in a way that allows independent investigation into these concerns and to follow-up them. These 
procedures shall ensure that JKB provides the required protection for these employees to assure them they will not be threatened 
or penalized even when there is nothing to prove their concerns. 

JKB Governing Policies
Jordan Kuwait Bank regards providing written policies covering all the Bank’s activities with high importance as these policies are 
adopted by the Board of Directors and circulated to all management levels as well as reviewing and updating them regularly to 
reflect any changes and amendments that occur to the laws, regulations, economic circumstances and any other matters related 
to the Bank.

Protecting Shareholders Rights and their Relations with the Bank
• BoD ensures the protection of shareholders’ fundamental rights concerning the registration and transfer of ownership, 

participation in the General Assembly meetings, gaining profits and get information regularly on JKB. 
• BoD shall encourage shareholders’ active participation of in the General Assembly meetings; explaining voting procedures and 

rules, as well as inform them by the date and venue of the meeting along with the meeting agenda in sufficient time, in addition 
to inform shareholders by the General Assembly minutes of the meetings. 

• JKB develops positive relations based on transparency with all shareholders. In this regard, the Bank saves no effort to 
encourage all shareholders, especially minority shareholders, to attend the annual meeting of the General Assembly and they 
are encouraged to vote. In addition, consideration is given to voting on each issue that is raised during the annual meeting of 
the General Assembly separately.

• The Chairmen of the various Board committees attend the annual General Assembly meeting. 
•  Following the General Assembly meeting, detailed report is prepared to inform shareholders of the various remarks and 

questions brought forth by the shareholders and management responses to them as well as the conclusions reached. 
• Representatives of the External Auditors attend the annual General Assembly meeting to answer any questions that may be 

raised regarding audit and the auditors’ report. 
• Pursuant to the Companies Law, members of the Board of Directors are elected or re-elected during the annual General 

Assembly meeting. The external auditor is also elected during the same meeting.
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Transparency and Disclosures
• JKB provides full information regarding its activities constantly and periodically to all stakeholders such as regulators, 

shareholders, depositors and the public in general; focusing on issues with material impact on the Bank.
• JKB is fully committed to the requirements of full disclosure according to the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) 

and the disclosure instructions issued by the Central Bank and regulators. 
• JKB follows up the various developments regarding the requirements of disclosure according to international standards, such 

that they are immediately reflected in its financial reports.
• JKB commits to providing permanent and professional communication lines with all relevant stakeholders such as regulators, 

shareholders, investors, depositors and other banks. To achieve this, JKB shall create a position of Investors Relation officer 
whose main task is to provide full and objective information regarding the Bank’s financial and administrative standing as well 
as the Bank’s various activities.

• JKB annual report shall contain all information related to the Bank in a manner that is transparent and objective.
• Publish periodic reports that contain quarterly financial information, in addition to a report from the BoD regarding the trading of 

the Bank’s stocks and its financial standing during the year as well as periodic briefs by Executive Management for shareholders, 
financial market analysts and journalists specialized in the financial sector.

• Hold periodic meetings between the Bank’s Executive Management and investors and shareholders. 
• JKB provides the information available in its annual or periodic reports on the Bank’s website in both the Arabic and English 

languages, where information is updated constantly. 
• The reports that JKB presents must contain disclosure from the Executive Management about the results of current and future 

operations, the financial standing of the Bank and any future results of risk that might affect the general financial standing of 
the Bank.

• To deepen the principle of transparency and disclosure, JKB annual report must specifically contain the following: 
 - JKB Corporate Governance Guidelines and the extent it is committed to. 
 - A statement stating the BoD responsibility for the accuracy and adequacy of JKB financial statements and the information 

included in the report, and the adequacy of internal control systems.
 - A summary on JKB organizational structure. 
 - Full information about the members of the Board of Directors including qualifications, experiences, share of the capital, 

their status as Executives, Non-Executives or Independent, memberships in any other Boards of Directors, the bonuses 
and salaries they have received, any loans granted to them by the Bank and any operations between the Bank and the 
member, his companies, or any parties related to him. 

 - A brief of the responsibilities and tasks of Board committees. 
 - Number of Board and Board Committees meetings held. 
 - A brief of the Bank’s Remuneration Policy as well as the salaries and allowances of Senior Executive Management. 
 -  The statement of the BoD regarding the sufficiency of internal control systems. 
 - A description of the structure and activities of the Risk Management Department. 
 - The main shareholders of the Bank and of companies that hold substantial share of the Bank’s capital.
 - Names of BoD and Senior Executive Management members who resigned during the year. 
 - Shareholders’ names who own (1%) or more of JKB capital along with identifying the data to be disclosed in accordance 

with the supervisory instructions and laws in force.
 - Declarations made by all BoD members stating that they did not receive any benefits through their work at JKB and they 

did not disclose it, whether such benefits were material or in-kind, and whether it is presented to him personally or to any 
person in relation with them, during the past year.
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Ejara Leasing Company

FULLY OWNED COMPANY

Specialized Management Co. 

FULLY OWNED COMPANY

Visa International Service Association
PRINCIPAL MEMBER,
ISSUER & ACQUIRER

ISSUER PRINCIPAL MEMBER,

ISSUER & ACQUIRER

MAIN AGENT

Middle East Payment Services
MEMBER & SHAREHOLDER

SUBSIDIARY COMPANY

United Financial Investments Company
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Amman Branches

Main Branch
Tel. 5629400 – Fax 5694105
Abdali Branch
Tel. 5653491 – Fax 5662374
Jabal Amman Branch
Tel. 4641317– Fax 4611391
Wehdat Branch
Tel. 4777174 – Fax 4750220
Commercial Center Branch
Tel. 4624312 – Fax 4611381
Tla’ El’Ali Branch
Tel. 5532168 – Fax 5518451
Jabal Al-Hussein Branch
Tel. 5658664 – Fax 5658663
Abu-Alanda Branch
Tel. 4162756 – Fax 4161841
Yarmouk Branch
Tel. 4779102 – Fax 4750230
Wadi El-Seir Branch
Tel. 5858864 – Fax 5810102
Jubaiha Branch
Tel. 5346763 – Fax 5346761
Amra Branch
Tel. 5535292 – Fax 5516561
Abdoun Branch
Tel. 5924195 – Fax 5924194
Abu-Nsair Branch
Tel. 5235223 – Fax 5235226
Marka Branch
Tel. 4889531 – Fax 4889530
Ibn Khaldoun Branch
Tel. 4613902 – Fax 4613901
Shmeissani Branch
Tel. 5685403 – Fax 5685358
Vegetable Market Branch
Tel. 4127588 – Fax 4127593
Madinah Munawarah St. Branch
Tel. 5533561 – Fax 5533560
Sweifiyyah Branch
Tel. 5851028 – Fax 5851931
Nazzal Branch
Tel. 4383906 – Fax 4383905
Mecca Mall Branch
Tel. 5517967 – Fax 5517836
Al-Rabiyah Branch
Tel. 5510839 – Fax 5511479

Al-Mougablain Branch
Tel. 4203723 – Fax 4203715
Marj El-Hamam Branch
Tel. 5731053 – Fax 5716832
City Mall Branch
Tel. 5824318 – Fax 5825426
Wadi Saqra Branch
Tel. 5679241 – Fax 5679146
Dabouq Branch
Tel. 5412312 – Fax 5521337
Al-Madina Al-Riyadiyah Branch
Tel. 5162165 - Fax 5162358
Khalda Branch
Tel. 5370835 - Fax 5370925
Mecca St. Branch
Tel. 5532156 - Fax 5532152
Al-Rawnaq Branch
Tel. 5850392 - Fax 5850327
Southern Sweileh Branch
Tel. 5356259 – Fax 5356830
Galleria Mall Branch
Tel. 064017870 – Fax 064017872
Zain Branch
Tel. 5810734 - Fax 5810927
King Abdullah Bureau Branch
Tel. 4626990 – Fax 4626995
Petra University Branch
Tel. 5711283 – Fax 5713079
Dair Ghbar Branch
Tel. 5853854 – Fax 5853705
Taj Lifestyle Branch
Tel. 5936901 – Fax 5936903
Zahran Branch
Tel. 4611838  – Fax 4612110
Northern Hashmi Branch
Tel. 5051845  – Fax 5052460
Tabarbour Branch
Tel. 5065162  – Fax 5065685
Abdali Mall Branch
Tel. 5629415  – Fax 5629416
Jawal Branch
Tel. 0791995682 – Fax 0790524103

Middle Region Branches

Baq’ah Branch
Tel. 4725090 – Fax 4726101
Madaba Branch
Tel. 3253568/05 – Fax 3253569/05
Samarah Mall Branch – Dead Sea
Tel. 3561242/05 – Fax 3561244/05
Al- Ahliyyah Amman University Branch
Tel. 3500029/05 – Fax 3500048/05
Al-Salt Branch
Tel. 3558995/05 – Fax 3558994/05

North Region Branches

Irbid Branch
Tel. 7243665/02 – Fax 7247880/02
King Abdallah II St. Branch 
Tel. 7248496/02  – Fax 7248498/02
Yarmouk University Branch
Tel. 7256065/02 – Fax 7255315/02
Al Huson Branch
Tel. 7020208/02 – Fax 7022198/02
Al-Mafraq Branch
Tel. 6235901/02 – Fax 6235902/02

South Region Branches

Aqaba Branch
Tel. 2015190/03 – Fax 2016188/03
Al-Karak Branch
Tel. 2396102/03 – Fax 2396002/03

Zarqa Area Branches

Zarqa Branch
Tel. 3997088/05 – Fax 3998677/05
Russaifeh Branch
Tel. 3744151/05 – Fax 3744152/05
Zarqa Free Zone Branch
Tel. 3826196/05 – Fax 3826195/05
New Zarqa Branch
Tel. 3864556/05 – Fax 3864557/05
King Hussein Bin Talal St. Branch
Tel. 3938470/05 – Fax 3938503/05

Branches outside Jordan

Regional Management & Ramallah Branch
Tel. 406447 22 970+ – Fax 406443 22 970+
Nablus Branch
Tel. 376413 92 970+  – Fax 377181 92 970+
Jenin Branch
Tel. 42437533 970+  – Fax 42437535 970+
Bethlehem Branch
Tel. 22747272 970+  – Fax 22747472 970+
Cyprus Branch
Tel. 875555 25 357+ – Fax 582339 25 357+

ATM Locations
Head Office (Drive Thru ATM)
Head Office / Main Street
Safeway-Shmeissani
Arab Orient Insurance Co. 
Cozmo Center
Al-Baraka Mall
Avenue Mall
Centro Supermarket
Carrefour – Madinah Munawarah St. 
Carrefour – Abu Nsair
Carrefour – Mukhtar Mall
Carrefour – Al- Nuzha
City Center – Irbid
Rawhi Pharmacy – Abdoun
Rawhi Pharmacy - Khalda
Crowne Plaza Hotel
Crowne Plaza – Dead Sea
Abdali Boulevard
Millennium Hotel
Regency Hotel
Kempinski Hotel-Aqaba
Jabal Al-Weibdeh
Rainbow St.
Mobile ATM
Al-Manaseer Gas Station / Zarqa
ATM for persons with visual disabilities/ Jabal Amman
ATM for persons with visual disabilities / Jubeiha Branch
Interactive Teller Machine (ITM) / Abdali Boulevard

Branches
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